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This has been an exciting year for
Sydney Olympic Park headlined by
the adoption of Sydney Olympic
Park Master Plan 2030, the
blueprint for all major future
development.

Add to this the gazetting of
Sydney Olympic Park as an official
suburb and you get a strong
message it’s really coming of age
as a dynamic business, residential
and leisure precinct.

Master Plan 2030 will build on Sydney Olympic Park’s
world-class sports, entertainment and recreation facilities,
expand its rapidly growing business, education and hospitality
activities, and support the establishment of a new on-site
residential population.

The growth of Sydney Olympic Park will no doubt build on its
capacity to attract more than 10 million visitors a year, while
continuing its commitment to major events where crowd
capacity at any one time can exceed 250,000 people.

Amazingly, all this business and recreational activity has blended
seamlessly with Sydney Olympic Park’s biodiversity program
where native flora and fauna continues to breathe new life into
former quarries and swamp lands.

There are now more than 100 organisations and around 8,500
workers based at Sydney Olympic Park and confidence in the
future is demonstrated by continued strong investment  and the
start of construction of the first residential tower.

The NSW Government is committed to building on the legacy of
the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games to create a
new, modern town centre at Sydney Olympic Park. I am keen to
ensure Sydney Olympic Park is an attractive place to live, work,
learn and play for many years to come.

I would like to congratulate Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Chairman, Michael Knight and the Board, and Chief Executive
Officer, Alan Marsh and his team for their achievements at the
Park over the last twelve months and I look forward to working
with them to deliver a dynamic Sydney Olympic Park for the
people of New South Wales.

The Honourable David Borger MP
Minister for Housing
Minister for Western Sydney
Minister Assisting the Minister for Transport
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Shareholding Minister’s
Foreword



Letter to Shareholding
Minister

30 October 2009

The Hon. David Borger MP
Minister for Housing
Minister for Western Sydney
Minister Assisting the Minister for Transport
Level 37, Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Minister

We have pleasure in submitting, for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual
Report for the year ended 30 June 2009.

The report has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1989 (NSW), the Annual Report
(Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2005 (NSW). The report details the work, achievements and relevant statutory and financial
information of Sydney Olympic Park Authority.

Yours sincerely

M Knight AO A Marsh
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority – 
creating a new, 

vibrant suburb for Sydney



2008–09 at a Glance
• Nine million people visited Sydney

Olympic Park in 2008 including 2.1
million to the parklands

• Master Plan 2030, which provides a
blueprint for the continued
sustainable development of Sydney
Olympic Park over the next 21 years,
was released on public exhibition and
later approved by the NSW
Government

• The Geographical Names Board of
NSW recognised Sydney Olympic Park
as an official suburb

• More than 5,000 sports,
entertainment, community, arts and
business events took place at the Park

• The number of business events held
at Sydney Olympic Park increased 14
per cent to 2,266

• Sydney Olympic Park consolidated its
position as an economic hub, with
more than 100 organisations and
8,500 workers now based at the Park

• Membership of Sydney Olympic Park’s
worker benefits program Lifestyle
increased from 1,987 to 4,484

• Two new Accor properties officially
opened – the five-star Pullman Hotel
and the two-star Formule1 hotel,
bringing the total number of hotel
rooms at Sydney Olympic Park to 800

• Construction commenced on a new
7,000m2 commercial office
development in the town centre

• A $51 million, 94-bed specialist sports
hospital progressed to development
consent stage

8 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2008–09



• The new Armory Wharf Cafe and
Jacaranda Square town centre won
awards at the Australian Institute of
Architects NSW Chapter Architecture
Awards, recognising the Authority’s
commitment to creating high-quality
urban design

• The NSW Government continued to
invest in public sporting
infrastructure such as new Hockey
Centre pitches and new scoreboards
at the Aquatic and Athletic centres to
ensure the Park maintains its position
as Australia’s leading sports precinct 

• The Sydney Olympic Park
Sustainability Advantage cluster was
created incorporating other major
Park businesses and venues to
improve business sustainability
across a number of areas including
resource efficiency, environmental
responsibility, and supply change

• More than 26,000 school students
participated in curriculum-based
school education programs

• The NSW Government delivered a
range of community events including
the new annual Sydney Olympic Park
Women’s Sports Festival, the Kids in
the Park holiday program, Movies in
the Overflow, Music by Moonlight
and Australia Day celebrations
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It took a long time and a lot of
work from many people, but the
Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan
2030 (Master Plan 2030) is now
finalised and approved by the
NSW Government.

Master Plan 2030 provides the
framework for a major expansion
of commercial and residential
activities at Sydney Olympic Park.

When fully implemented, Master
Plan 2030 will mean 31,500

workers, 14,000 residents and 5,000 students are based in the
precinct each day.

At the same time, Master Plan 2030 preserves Sydney Olympic
Park’s role as Australia’s premier major event destination. It also
protects the 430 hectares of parklands for all time.

Together with the Government’s approval of Master Plan 2030,
Sydney Olympic Park was formally granted the status of a
suburb. No longer are we ‘Sydney Olympic Park at Homebush
Bay’.  From now on Sydney Olympic Park is the official suburb
name for the precinct.

These are two very important milestones in the ongoing
evolution of the precinct. They come at a time when commercial
development continues to grow strongly and the first residential
tower is on the verge of starting construction.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority (the Authority) has also taken on
additional responsibilities. The Authority’s role is evolving in
terms of providing services to our first residents as well as the
rapidly increasing number of workers in the precinct.

The Authority has also taken on the responsibilities of the State
Sport Centre Trust (SSCT), which managed several venues over
the last 25 years.

At the Board level, we have farewelled two of the original
Members: Gabrielle Kibble and Chris Christodoulou. Both
Gabrielle and Chris made very substantial, and much
appreciated, contributions to the development of Sydney
Olympic Park.

We have also recently welcomed David Baffsky, Denis Fitzgerald
and Alan Whelpton (the former Chairman of SSCT) to the Board
and look forward to working with them.

I want to thank all Board members, our CEO Alan Marsh and our
terrific management and staff for all of their hard work. The
future holds many exciting possibilities and I look forward to
working with them to make the most of those opportunities.

Michael Knight AO
Chairman

Chairman’s Report



Sydney Olympic Park continued
its evolution into an important
mixed-use centre in 2008-09.

On the employment front
Sydney Olympic Park
consolidated its position as an
important centre for jobs, with
more than 100 organisations
and 8,500 workers now located
within the Park.

The business community’s
confidence in the Park’s future is

demonstrated by continuing strong investment, with two
Accor hotels completed, a 7,000m2 commercial office
development commencing in the town centre and
development consent issued on a $51 million, 94-bed private
sports hospital.

Importantly, Sydney Olympic Park’s first residential
development – the 685-unit Australia Towers complex on
Australia Avenue, is scheduled to commence in late 2009,
marking an important stage in the Park’s evolution into a
truly integrated community.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s commitment to creating a
high-quality sustainable urban domain was recognised during the
reporting period with the new Armory Wharf Cafe and Jacaranda
Square town centre being recognised at the Australian Institute of
Architects NSW Chapter Architecture Awards. 

The Authority continues to demonstrate its commitment to
sustainability through the creation of the Sydney Olympic Park
Sustainability Advantage cluster, which incorporates major park
businesses and venues and is working to improve business
sustainability across a number of areas including resource
efficiency, environmental responsibility, and supply change.

In 2008-09, Sydney Olympic Park extended its position as a
leading home of events of all kinds, hosting more than 5,000
sports, entertainment, community, arts and business events.

Visitation to Sydney Olympic Park continued to increase, with
almost nine million people visiting including more than two
million to the precinct’s 430 hectares of parklands.This
includes more than 26,000 school students who undertook
curriculum-based environmental education programs
offered by the Authority in partnership with sponsors such
as EnergyAustralia and Transurban. 

Future directions
In the year ahead, the Authority will continue to focus on
driving efficiencies and improving our performance to
ensure that we are well placed to meet future operational
and economic challenges.

We will be working to fulfil the vision set out in the Master
Plan 2030 for Sydney Olympic Park to continue its
development as a vibrant suburb that successfully balances
the needs of an increasing number visitors, workers,
residents and students.

I would like to acknowledge the hard work and dedication of the
staff of Sydney Olympic Park Authority throughout the year.

Together, we look forward to working with all levels of
Government, commercial partners and the wider community
on the next exciting phase of the Park’s continuing evolution.

Alan Marsh
Chief Executive Officer
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About Us

Sydney Olympic Park Authority – 
creating a new, vibrant township for Sydney

Sydney Olympic Park Authority is responsible for managing and
developing the 640 hectares that comprise Sydney Olympic Park
and maintaining it as a lasting legacy for the people of New
South Wales. Under the management of the Authority, the Park
has rapidly developed into an important urban centre and built
on its legacy as a prime destination for sporting, entertainment
and cultural activities.

Over the past nine years, the Authority has overseen more than
$1.1 billion worth of new developments and welcomed more
than 100 businesses and their 8,500 staff to the precinct. The
Authority has ensured the sustainable management of 430
hectares of parklands and seen the Park host major sporting,
entertainment and business events and engage in a wide range
of local community initiatives.

The future promises to be equally exciting. Under Master Plan
2030, the Authority will manage the expansion of the Park to
support a daily population of 50,500, including up to 20,000
daily visitors. In all its future activities, the Authority will retain a
commitment to building on the uniqueness of the precinct as a
business and educational hub and the number one destination
for sporting and leisure activities for metropolitan Sydney.

Who we are
The Authority was established on 1 July 2001 as a statutory body
of the NSW Government under the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority Act 2001 (NSW). Our charter is to manage and
promote the 640-hectare site, including protection of the 430
hectares of parklands.

Our vision
Our vision is for Sydney Olympic Park to become an
internationally admired example of sustainable urban renewal
and development that successfully integrates world-class venue
infrastructure and parklands with a new community of workers,
residents, students and visitors. This would create an innovative
example of place making: a township offering a healthy, creative
and vibrant urban environment. 

Our mission
Our mission is to:
1. build the Park’s position as Australia’s premier major events

precinct
2. create an economically viable township that expresses high

standards of design in the private and public domains
3. create world-class parklands and encourage use thereof by

the public
4. apply a best-practice environmental management approach

to all aspects of the Park’s development.

Serving the public
In achieving its mission, the Authority seeks to support two key
Government priorities:
• To grow prosperity across NSW … through increased business

investment and acting as the major event precinct for NSW.
• To enhance our environment for living … by providing jobs

closer to home and facilitating more people using parks,
sporting and recreational facilities and participating in the
arts and cultural activity.

What we do
The Authority is responsible for promoting, coordinating and
managing the orderly use and economic development of Sydney
Olympic Park, including the provision and management of $1.8
billion of infrastructure.

This includes promoting, coordinating, organising, managing,
undertaking, securing and conducting cultural, sporting,
educational, commercial, tourist, recreational, entertainment
and transport activities and facilities. The Authority is also
charged with providing, operating and maintaining public
transport facilities within the Park. The protection and
enhancement of the natural and cultural heritage of the Park,
particularly the Millennium Parklands, is another key
responsibility of the Authority.

In addition, the Authority continues to liaise with and maintain
arrangements with Olympic organisations such as the
International Olympic Committee and the Australian Olympic
Committee Incorporated.
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Organisational Overview

• promote, coordinate, organise, manage, undertake, secure,
provide and conduct cultural, sporting, educational,
commercial, tourist, recreational, entertainment and
transport activities and facilities 

• protect and enhance the natural and cultural heritage of
Sydney Olympic Park, including the parklands

• provide, operate and maintain public transport facilities
within Sydney Olympic Park

• liaise with and maintain arrangements with Olympic
organisations, such as the International Olympic Committee
and the Australian Olympic Committee.

Corporate planning framework
The Authority’s primary objectives relate to Place Making, Place
Management, Promoting the Park and Optimising Returns on
Government Investment.

The Authority’s Corporate Plan outlines an economic
development strategy that drives development of the Park in the
areas of sport, education, events, environment and
entertainment.

Corporate governance
The Sydney Olympic Park Act 2001 (NSW), incorporating the
Sydney Olympic Park Amendment Regulation 2004 (NSW), requires
the Authority to make all reasonable efforts to ensure that:

• Sydney Olympic Park becomes an active and vibrant town
centre within metropolitan Sydney

• Sydney Olympic Park becomes a premium destination for
cultural, entertainment, recreation and sporting events

• any new development carried out in accordance with the Act
complies with best-practice environmental and town
planning standards

• the natural heritage of the parklands is protected and
enhanced.

Under the Act, a governing Board of Authority (the Board) was
created to provide direction and guidance to the Authority to
ensure it meets its core functions. They are to:

• promote, coordinate and manage the orderly and economic
development and use of Sydney Olympic Park, including the
provision and management of infrastructure

Organisational structure

• Precinct Co-ordination
• Parklands and Environment
• Technical Services
• Arts & Events
• Urban Planning
• Design
• Building Approvals

• Property Development
• Lease Management
• Venue Management
• Car Parking Operations
• Financial Services
• Human Resources
• Information Management Services
• Administrative Services

GENERAL MANAGER
Operations & Sustainability

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

GENERAL MANAGER
Commercial & Corporate

EXECUTIVE MANAGERS
Marketing & Communications
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Board Member Profiles

The Honourable Michael Knight AO

Michael joined the Board of the Authority in July 2007.

Mr Michael Knight was the Minister for the Olympics from April 1995 until January 2001. He was
also the Minister responsible for the Paralympics and President of the Organising Committee for
the Sydney Olympics (SOCOG). Michael therefore played a significant role in the first phase of
development of Sydney Olympic Park.

Since leaving Parliament Michael has provided advice to a range of organisations, especially in the
infrastructure, property and energy sectors.

He also advised both the Greek Government and the Organising Committee on preparations for
the Athens 2004 Olympic Games.

Penelope Figgis AO 

Ms Penelope Figgis is a conservation policy and sustainable tourism specialist.   She is currently Vice
Chair for Oceania of the IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas, Chair of the Olympic
Parklands Advisory Committee and Visiting Fellow at the Graduate School of the Environment,
Macquarie University.  

She has been a senior member of the environment movement for over 30 years serving on many
governing bodies including 17 years as Vice President of the Australian Conservation Foundation.  

She has written and lectured on protected areas and World Heritage, innovative nature
conservation and sustainable tourism. She has served on the boards of the Australian Tourist
Commission, Great Barrier Reef Marine Park, Uluru National Park, Northern Territory Parks and
Wildlife, Landcare Australia, Jenolan Caves and the Environment Protection Authority.

John D Coates AC LLB  

Mr John Coates was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2005.

Mr Coates is President of the Australian Olympic Committee Inc, Vice President of the International
Council of Arbitration for Sport and a Member of the Council of the International Rowing
Federation (FISA). He is a Member of the International Olympic Committee and its Juridical, TV
Rights & New Media and 2012 London Games Co-ordination Commissions. 

Mr Coates is a Lawyer, Deputy Chairman of David Jones Limited, Chairman of William Inglis & Son
Ltd, a Member of the Grant Samuel Advisory Board, a Director of Grosvenor Group Limited’s
Australian subsidiaries and a Director of Events NSW Pty Limited.   

Jack Cowin LLD  

Mr Jack Cowin was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2005. 

Mr Cowin is Executive Chairman of Competitive Foods Australia Pty Ltd, which owns Hungry Jack’s
nationally and Kentucky Fried Chicken in Western Australia and the Northern Territory. He is a
Director of Network Ten and BridgeClimb. 
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Liz Ellis AM BA LLB

Ms Liz Ellis was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2008. 

Ms Ellis is a Member of the Australian Sports Commission and the New South Wales Institute of
Sport. Ms Ellis is a former captain of the Australian netball team and a prominent media
personality and sports commentator.

Chris Christodoulou BA  

Mr Chris Christodoulou was initially appointed to the Board on 1 July 2001. 

Mr Christodoulou is Deputy Assistant Secretary of Unions NSW and has responsibility on behalf of
Unions NSW for the construction industry. He is Chairperson of the Wollongong Sports Ground
Trust and a Member of the Building and Construction Industry Long Service Leave Corporation.

Gabrielle Kibble AO BA Dip TCP FRAPI DSc hc UNSW  

Mrs Gabrielle Kibble was appointed to the Board on 1 July 2001.

She is the Administrator of Liverpool Council, Chair of the Heritage Council of NSW and an
Honorary Associate of the Graduate School of Government, University of Sydney.

Mrs Kibble retired from the Board in September 2008.

Alan Marsh BBus MBA CPA (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr Alan Marsh commenced as Chief Executive Officer of the Authority on 1 February 2008.

He has more than 30 years experience in the public and private sectors across precinct and
facilities management, event management, and construction and development.

Mr Marsh’s previous roles have included Deputy Director-General (Office of Public Works and
Services) of the NSW Department of Commerce, CEO of the Darling Harbour Authority and
Commissioner for NSW, World Expo 1988.

He has also held senior roles in the NSW Premier’s Department, Sydney Organising Committee for
the Olympic Games and the Olympic Coordination Authority.

Board attendance 2008-09

Board members Meetings held Meetings attended
Hon. Michael Knight 7 7
John Coates 7 7
Chris Christodoulou 7 6
Jack Cowin 7 6
Liz Ellis 7 7
Penelope Figgis 7 6
Alan Marsh 7 7
Gabrielle Kibble 2 2
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The NSW State Plan

The NSW State Plan, entitled A New Direction for NSW, is a
commitment from the NSW Government to the people of NSW
setting out clear targets for improved outcomes and service delivery.

The purpose of the State Plan is clear: to deliver better results for
the NSW community from Government services.

The State Plan sets out the goals the community wants the
NSW Government to work towards. It identifies priorities for
Government action that will help achieve each of these goals
over the next nine years. Targets have been set where possible.
Sydney Olympic Park Authority continues to provide effective
and valuable support to the NSW State Plan, in particular to the
key State Plan Objective of creating an ‘Environment for Living’.

The Goal most relevant to the Authority under this Objective is
Improved Urban Environments, in particular the State Plan Priority
of having ‘more people using parks, sporting and recreational
facilities and participating in the arts and cultural activity ’.

The Authority contributes to this Priority through its continued
encouragement of professional and community access to the
Park’s array of sporting and cultural venues and parklands. This
directly contributes to the State Plan Targets of:

• increasing visits to State Government parks and reserves by
20 percent by 2016

• increasing participation in sporting activities by 10 percent
by 2016

• increasing visits to and participation in the arts and cultural
activity by 10 percent by 2016.

In addition, the Authority contributes to improving Sydney’s
urban environment through the Park’s world-class water
recycling system, innovative examples of energy management
and high-quality urban and architectural design.

The Authority also makes significant contributions to the State
Plan Objective of ‘Growing Prosperity across NSW ’.

The Authority contributes to business prosperity across NSW
through a range of areas, including: 

• the generation of economic returns through private sector
investment and business growth

• the creation of economic value through hosting iconic major
sporting, entertainment and show events

• the evolution of Sydney Olympic Park into a specialised
economic centre.
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Building the Future

In 2008, Sydney Olympic Park welcomed nine million visitors and
hosted more than 5,000 events as it consolidated its position as
NSW’s premier events destination. The Park also reached a new
milestone in its development as an urban centre, growing to
accommodate more than 100 organisations and 8,500 workers.
Construction continued apace, despite the broader economic
downturn, with a number of developments approved during the
reporting period and a number of buildings completed.

The strong growth of Sydney Olympic Park will accelerate under a
long-term blueprint for its continued sustainable development
approved by the NSW Government in late 2009. By 2030, the Park
and surrounding regions will have expanded in size and scope. To
support the expected influx of more than 70,000 workers, residents,
students and visitors over the next 21 years, management and staff
will focus on guiding and supporting property and business
development activities; commissioning and overseeing major
capital works projects, expanding and refining the range of
programs and services on offer; and responding to ongoing change
around the site. This will ensure the Park remains the leading
destination for major events and becomes a world-class location for
people to work, live, learn and play.

Master Plan 2030
In July 2008, the Authority released the Sydney Olympic Park
Master Plan 2030 (Master Plan 2030), a comprehensive
blueprint for the sustainable development of the Park over the
next 21 years.

The NSW Department of Planning coordinated an extensive
consultation process throughout the reporting period and in
September 2009 the Honourable David Borger MP, Minister for
Housing and Minister for Western Sydney, announced the NSW
Government’s approval of the Master Plan.

Master Plan 2030 builds on Sydney Olympic Park’s world-class
sports, entertainment and recreation facilities, expands its
rapidly growing business, education and hospitality activities
and supports the establishment of a new residential population
at Sydney Olympic Park.

The growth of Sydney Olympic Park will accelerate under Master
Plan 2030, with in excess of 1 million square metres of
developable floor space and the suburb eventually catering for a
population of over 50,500 people, in addition to visitors and
event patrons.

Under Master Plan 2030, more than 31,500 jobs will be situated
at Sydney Olympic Park, with about 6,000 new dwellings
constructed to house around 14,000 residents.

Sydney Olympic Park will also support up to 5,000 students in a
new sports and education precinct and attract around 10
million visitors a year, retain its major event capability for up to
250,000 patrons and protect its 430 hectares of parklands for
future generations.

Under Master Plan 2030, Sydney Olympic Park will continue to
build on the environmental legacy of the ‘green Games’ and
consolidate its position as an example of best practice
sustainable development.

Master Plan 2030 builds on Sydney Olympic Park’s
internationally recognised initiatives in water and energy
management, green building design, and sound economic and
ecological management, and all development will need to meet
strict environmental standards.

Importantly, Master Plan 2030 protects Sydney Olympic Park’s
430 hectares of recreational spaces, wetlands and natural areas
as a resource for future generations, with development limited
to the current town centre.

Master Plan 2030 was developed in accordance with the targets
set by the NSW Government under the State Plan. These include
improving the urban environment; bringing more jobs closer to
home; improving housing affordability; encouraging more
people to use parks, sporting and recreational facilities; and
increasing participation in the arts and cultural activities.

Master Plan 2030 will ensure Sydney Olympic Park is a vibrant and
attractive place to live, work, learn and play for many years to come.
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Official Suburb Status
In 2008, Sydney Olympic Park Authority requested that the
Geographical Names Board of NSW (GNBNSW) consider
adopting Sydney Olympic Park as an official suburb name in
recognition of the significant growth of the precinct since the
Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games and the planned
growth of the Park under Master Plan 2030.

In April and May 2009, the GNBNSW undertook an extensive
public consultation process and in September 2009 the Minister
for Housing and Minister for Western Sydney, the Honourable
David Borger MP, announced the adoption of Sydney Olympic
Park as an official suburb.

The official suburb name Sydney Olympic Park maintains the
Park’s connection to the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic
Games while recognising that Sydney Olympic Park has come of
age and is now one of the fastest growing areas of Sydney.

It will support the continued development of a shared identity
for the communities of Sydney Olympic Park and will also
support greater awareness of the Park as a discrete township
with its own unique character, history and future as set out in
Master Plan 2030.

Property Development
Property development performed strongly in 2008-09 despite
the broader economic downturn. 

Several projects reached completion and others commenced
construction, while planning work was progressed on a number
of sites including two that received development approval after
the reporting period.

Almost $270 million of developments have been approved at
Sydney Olympic Park over the past three years demonstrating
the business community’s confidence in the suburb.

Commonwealth Bank of Australia campus
In 2008-09, the Commonwealth Bank of Australia completed its
61,000m2 office campus in the heart of Sydney Olympic Park.

The three buildings on Dawn Fraser Avenue now accommodate
more than 3,500 staff and include more than 3,500m2 of retail
space including restaurants and cafes, a florist, convenience
store, newsagency and a bank branch.

Pullman Hotel
The Pullman at Sydney Olympic Park was opened in September
2008 and is the first 5-star hotel in Sydney since the 2000
Games and the first ever in western Sydney.

The 16-storey hotel comprises 212 rooms and suites, three
floors of executive accommodation, a 24-hour gym, and a fine
dining restaurant and wine bar. It also offers 340 square
metres of conference space, pre-function areas for 220
delegates and a boardroom.

Formule1 Hotel
The $19 million, 2-star Formule1 hotel was opened in August
2008 and provides an affordable accommodation option for
business people and families of young sportsmen and women
training or playing at the nearby Athletic or Aquatic Centres.

Watpac
Construction started on the $20 million office and retail
development in September 2008.

The six-storey, 7,200m2 building will serve as the NSW
headquarters for Queensland developer Watpac and is due for
completion in 2010.

Private Hospital
This $51 million, 12,000m2 sports and specialist hospital was
approved by the NSW Government in September 2009. The
development will incorporate 94 beds and 20 consultation
rooms. It will cater to an estimated 155,000 patient visits a year
and specialise in orthopaedic, plastic and reconstructive surgery,
microsurgery, and general and advanced sports rehabilitation.
Construction is expected to commence mid-2010.

Yulang licensed hotel and restaurant
In April 2009, the NSW Department of Planning put on
public exhibition a proposal for a new two-storey licensed
hotel and restaurant located on the corner of Olympic
Boulevard and the Yulang.

The development was approved in September 2009 and the
Authority will offer the proposal to the market in 2010.

Quest Serviced Apartments
Quest Apartments has entered into a 99-year lease agreement
with Sydney Olympic Park Authority for a 6,300m2 development
on Edwin Flack Avenue.

The 7-storey, 77-apartment complex will also include three
retail shops, conference facilities, a gymnasium and
underground parking.
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Case studies: 
Australia Towers
Construction on Sydney Olympic Park’s first
residential development is scheduled to
commence in late 2009.

Australia Towers is a $190 million,
685-apartment complex situated on
Australia Avenue near the town centre.

The first stage of this complex – a 216-unit
two-tower building will include a mix of
studios, one, two and three bedroom
apartments, four commercial/retail units
and a 40-place childcare centre.

Quad Business Park
The GPT Group’s Quad Business Park was
recognised as one of Australia’s leading
business parks at the 2009 Property Council
of Australia Awards.

Quad Business Park was the Overall Winner
in the 2009 Property Council of Australia
Innovation and Excellence Awards in the
category of Business or Industrial Parks.

Quad 4 was the first speculative office in
NSW to achieve a 5 Star Green Star Design
for the base building and its strong
environmental and design credentials were
also recognised last year when the
development won the 2008 Urban Taskforce
Development Excellence Award for
Commercial Development.

Australia Towers
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Public Domain Development
In 2008-09, the Authority commenced or completed a wide range
of programs designed to provide new amenities and services;
enhance the visitor experience; improve access and connectivity
to and within the parklands; and protect the Park’s environmental
and heritage assets. Projects in planning, in progress or completed
during the year are listed below. 

Armory Wharf Cafe
Sydney Olympic Park’s Armory Wharf Cafe, situated in Blaxland
Riverside Park, was re-opened in December 2008 after being
destroyed by fire.

The cafe is playing an important role in further opening up Blaxland
Riverside Park and Newington Armory to locals and visitors.

The Armory Wharf Cafe is proving to be a popular meeting point
for locals and is giving visitors a new option for dine-in or takeaway
food at this increasingly popular part of Sydney Olympic Park.

New Visitor Centre
The Authority adapted the Abattoir Gatehouse of the Heritage
Precinct for reuse as the new Sydney Olympic Park Visitor Centre.

The conversion restored the building to its original condition. The
works included the removal of more recent additions to reveal the
original western verandah and concrete flooring and the
reinstatement of landscaping to its original style. The original
design is complemented by a modern fit-out to provide for its use
as an information centre.

The Abattoir Heritage Precinct, located on the corner of Herb
Elliott Avenue and Showground Road, comprises a group of
historic Federation period buildings, gardens and landscaping that
formed the administrative core of the NSW State Abattoirs from
1913 to 1988. The administration buildings were designed by
government architect Walter Liberty Vernon (1846-1914) and are
of historical significance as they are the last remaining physical
evidence of the NSW State Abattoirs. Today, the buildings are
primarily used as office space for organisations including the
Australian Paraylmpic Committee, Swimming Australia, Tennis
Australia, Rugby League Players Association and Bicycle NSW.

Wilson Park
The playing surface of the Wilson Park Northern Sports Field is
being improved through the installation of a sub-surface recycled
water irrigation system and an automated liquid fertiliser
injection system. A new playing surface will also be installed.

Stockroute Park improvements
A pocket park on Herb Elliot Avenue has been revitalised to meet
the growing needs of Sydney Olympic Park workers and visitors.
The Stockroute Park works include the creation of new relaxation
areas and the installation of new seating and improved fencing.
Interpretive signage will also showcase the ‘Discobolus’ artwork
at the centre of the park. The works are scheduled for
completion late 2009.

Blaxland Riverside Park
Stage 1 of the Blaxland Riverside Park redevelopment was
completed in 2008 and saw the creation of a new 20 hectare
regional park on the shores of the Parramatta River including a
children’s playground, cycling paths, open spaces and barbeque
facilities. The area also includes a foreshore esplanade, a new
alfresco style bistro and cafe, water features and parking.

Design work has commenced on Stage 2 of the development,
which will include additional playground and picnic facilities.

Australia Avenue / Herb Elliot Avenue 
intersection upgrade
In December 2008, Sydney Olympic Park Authority
completed an upgrade of the intersection of Australia
Avenue and Herb Elliott Avenue.

The upgrade included the installation of lights to provide a safer
environment for increasing traffic at this inner-city intersection.

The two-stage project included the construction of four
right-hand turn lanes, reconstruction of median strips and kerbs,
installation of eight multi-function poles, cabling and other
electrical works, line marking and landscaping. The
multi-function poles were custom built and provide traffic
signals, street lighting and signage, and link into the Park’s
operations and security systems.

P8 Car Park
In December 2008, the Authority completed work on a new car
park for the town centre.

P8 car park is situated off Herb Elliot Avenue near the
intersection with Park Street. Its 212 public car spaces provide
convenient access to the town centre and the restaurants and
cafes on Dawn Fraser Avenue. The car park is open 24 hours a
day, seven days a week.

P6 Car Park
In 2009, the Authority commenced improvements to the P6 car
park on Australia Avenue. The works include resurfacing of the car
park, the installation of new ticketing machines and a manned
cashier office. The works were completed in September 2009.
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Case study: 
Australian Institute of Architects NSW Chapter Awards
Several projects at Sydney Olympic Park were recognised at
the prestigious Australian Institute of Architects NSW
Chapter Architecture Awards.

The Armory Wharf Precinct on the Parramatta River won the
Architecture Award in the Urban Design category and the
Armory Wharf Cafe building took out the top award in the
Commercial Architecture category.

Sydney Olympic Park’s new town centre, Jacaranda Square,
received a Commendation in the Urban Design category.

Sydney Olympic Park Authority commissioned these projects
to support the continued growth of Sydney Olympic Park
into a new, modern township and enhance the experience of
people working in and visiting the precinct.

These awards demonstrate the commitment of Sydney
Olympic Park Authority to creating a high quality sustainable
urban domain at Sydney Olympic Park for visitors, workers
and residents of the future.
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Sports Development
In 2008-09, the Authority undertook a number of projects to
ensure Sydney Olympic Park maintains its position as an
important home for all levels of sport into the future.

Monster BMX facility
The Monster BMX facility was opened by the Minister for
Planning, the Hon. Kristina Keneally MP, in October 2008. The
track is a free, open-air facility that makes the increasingly
popular sport of BMX available to all – from occasional to elite
riders. The track was jointly funded by the Federal Government,
the NSW State Government and Auburn Council.

New Hockey Centre pitches
In 2008, the Authority installed two new pitches at the Sydney
Olympic Park Hockey Centre. The Olympic 2008 (FIH approved)
surface is the same used at the Beijing 2008 Olympic Green
Hockey Centre. The new pitches were showcased at the
Women’s Champions Trophy in July 2009 that saw Australia take
on Argentina, England, China, Gemany and the Netherlands in
the first major international since the Beijing Olympic Games.

Athletic Centre track
In 2009, the Authority installed a new international standard
track at the Athletic Centre, ensuring the facility maintains its
position as Australia’s premier track and field venue.

The Mondo track is identical to the surface laid at the Warm-Up
Arena two years ago. Mondo tracks are highly popular with
athletes around the world due to the improved impact
absorption provided.

Aquatic and Athletic Centres scoreboard upgrade
In 2009, the Authority installed new scoreboards at the Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres.

The LED full-colour video screens are able to display a wide range
of multimedia content and will be available for school and
community events as well as elite sporting competitions.

Aquatic Centre new diving blocks
In 2009, state-of-the-art diving blocks were installed at Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic Centre’s competition pool.

The Omega starting blocks, approved by swimming’s international
body FINA, feature the latest in swimming technology including
acoustic start devices on each block to ensure all competitors hear
the start signal at the exact same moment.

The Aquatic Centre schedule of swimming carnivals for schools,
swim clubs, national and international events will allow swimmers
of all ages and abilities to experience this new technology.

Case study: 
New indoor water playground
In December 2008, the Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic Centre
opened a new indoor water
playground area.

Splasher’s Water Playground is
fun and safe for children of all
ages, and features dumping
buckets, interactive water
cannons, larger than life aquatic
animals and connecting water
slides in the shallow pool.
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Education Development
Sydney Olympic Park aims to become a world-class precinct for
education in sport, health, arts and environmental sustainability.
This vision will be realised through the creation of a Sports and
Education precinct under Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan 2030.

The Sports and Education precinct will integrate Sydney Olympic
Park’s Aquatic and Athletic Centres with a series of new streets
and buildings to create a vibrant sports and education campus –
an active precinct incorporating educational uses, retail facilities
and student accommodation.

The precinct’s existing sporting venues will continue to operate
on a daily and special-event basis, helping to define this unique
place well into the future.

New buildings within the Sports and Education precinct will vary
from two-to-four storeys within the campus itself, with larger
six-to-seven storey edge-defining structures located along Dawn
Fraser and Edwin Flack avenues.

Education programs
A key objective of the Strategic Plan for Education 2007–10 is to
ensure the continuation of the Authority’s highly regarded
school education programs on a sustainable basis. 

In 2008–09, the Authority offered over 36 curriculum-based
programs to the school sector covering a range of key learning
areas from kindergarten to senior high school. During the year,
28,168 students participated in these programs, with the majority
(18,806) undertaking hands-on environmental education in the
parklands. This represents a 10 per cent increase in environmental
education participation from 2007–08 and a total increase of more
than 18 percent from 2005–06.

The Strategic Plan has also guided the development of a range of
corporate and community-orientated education activities for
adults. The Authority continued to work closely with the NSW
Department of Education and Training and private education
bodies to develop and deliver education programs.
Memorandums of understanding continue to underpin
provision partnerships with the Australian College of Physical
Education (ACPE), Sydney Community College and South West
Sydney Institute TAFE.

Artist’s impression of Sports and Education precinct under Master Plan 2030
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Education program highlights for 2008–09 are detailed below.

Roads to Sustainability Program
Roads to Sustainability is a partnership between Transurban, the
NSW Department of Education & Training and Sydney Olympic
Park Authority that provided around 3,000 students from Priority
Schools with the opportunity to take part in hands-on
environmental education programs at Sydney Olympic Park
between 2007 and 2009.

Go For Green Gala Day
In March 2009, more than 120 local primary and high school
students visited Sydney Olympic Park to learn about renewable
energy and sustainable living practices as part of the second
annual Go For Green Gala Day.

The Go For Green Gala Day is an initiative of Strathfield Council
and is hosted by Sydney Olympic Park Authority and supported
by EnergyAustralia. It compliments the NSW Department of
Education and Training and NSW Department of Environment
and Climate Change’s program Sustainable Schools NSW, which
aims to assist schools across the State teach sustainability.

Sydney Symphony Partnership
In June 2009, the Sydney Symphony brought classical music to
3,000 students from western Sydney in June under a partnership
with Sydney Olympic Park Authority. The Sydney Symphony’s
mentoring orchestra, the Sinfonia, performed six concerts at
Sydney Olympic Park for students from 32 Western Sydney schools.

Future Challenges and Direction
The Park is entering an exciting and challenging period of
extensive development and expansion.

Rigorous and disciplined management will ensure the objectives
set in Master Plan 2030 are fulfilled in a sustainable manner and
any issues are resolved quickly and efficiently.

The challenges will include:
• balancing the existing sports and entertainment venues and

public events with the expectations of commercial and
residential owners and tenants under Master Plan 2030

• ensuring the community is consulted and involved in any
major decisions that will impact their lifestyles

• coordinating the necessary services for the Park’s first
residents during the first stage of the Australia Towers
residential project.

Case study: 

Science in the Suburbs
Science in the Suburbs is an annual series of science-based educational programs for primary and high school students held at
several locations throughout NSW. It is an initiative of the Australian Museum and is supported by the Commonwealth
Department of Innovation, Industry Science and Research; the NSW Department of Primary Industries; the NSW Department
of Education; the University of Sydney; and host organisations such as Sydney Olympic Park Authority, Jenolan Caves and the
Botanic Gardens Trust.

Science in the Suburbs 2009 at Sydney Olympic Park was held in late May and comprised 134 science-based educational
activities over two days for around 1,350 students from eight primary schools and seven high schools.
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Artist impression of the Master Plan 2030



30 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2008–09

The Authority strives to develop a diverse range of quality
experiences, provide suitable amenities for visitors, workers and
residents and ensure travel to and from the Park is efficient,
accessible and secure.

Place Management
Place management involves balancing the competing demands of
a diverse range of visitors and users to best meet the capacity and
resilience of the different places and facilities in the Park. A major
focus of place management in recent times has been improving
the range and quality of experiences on offer at the Park.

Improvements for leisure visitors, event patrons and local
workers in 2008–09 included helping them to better find their
way around the Park; enabling them to efficiently move to, from
and within the site; allowing them to do more and different
activities; and increasing the range of quality spaces and
amenities available.

Safety and Security
During 2008–09, the Authority actively supported 195
significant event days associated with 12 sports or
entertainment venues within the Park by managing crowds, car
parking, traffic and transport services. Fifty-three of the days
involved event crowds of more than 25,000 at one time.

The Authority’s Operations Centre Security Office operated on a
24/7 basis throughout the year, including major event days, to
provide a security patrol and monitoring regime. The Security
Office also coordinated the management of all site activity,
including security issues, traffic and transport incidents and
asset maintenance services.

All security activities are coordinated externally with the NSW
Police and relevant emergency services agencies. Internally, a
Security Management Committee handles security matters.

Events
During 2008-09, a diverse range of sporting, entertainment,
community and arts events were held that attracted more than
4.6 million people to the Park including:
• Hillsong (July 2008)
• Disney on Ice (July 2008)
• Gardening Australia Expo (August 2008)
• NRL Telstra Premiership Grand Final (October 2008)
• Festival of Cycling (October 2008)

Managing a Unique Precinct

Sydney Olympic Park hosted more than 5,000 sports,
entertainment and business events in 2008-09.

• Andre Rieu concerts (November 2008)
• Medibank International 2009 Tennis Tournament 

(January 2009)
• Big Day Out concert (January 2009)
• Top Gear (February 2009)
• NRL Charity Shield (February 2009)
• Australian Swimming Championships (March 2009)
• Coldplay concerts (March 2009)
• Sydney Royal Easter Show (April 2009)
• FIFA World Cup Qualifier – Socceroos v Uzbekistan 

(April 2009)
• Rugby International – Wallabies v France (June 2009) 
• NRL State of Origin (June 2009)
• FIFA World Cup Qualifier – Socceroos v Bahrain (June 2009)

Public Domain Events
During the year, the Authority produced or facilitated a number
of free public events, which were held in various areas of the
Park. These included:

• Australia Day – More than 6,000 people attended Australia
Day celebrations at Bicentennial Park organised by Auburn
Council and the Authority. The day included a range of free
entertainment including children’s shows and workshops,
musical performances and amusement rides. At the heart of
the celebrations was a citizenship ceremony for more than
120 people.

• Kids in the Park – This school holiday program remains highly
popular, offering more than 30 activities including traditional
sports clinics such as basketball, soccer and netball, and a
range of creative activities such as writing, acting, cooking
and circus skills.

• Music by Moonlight –Music by Moonlight celebrated its
seventh year at Sydney Olympic Park, offering a series of free
outdoor music concerts in the Overflow.

• Movies in the Overflow – Movies in the Overflow included a
mix of popular and innovative movies and children’s
activities free to the public in January 2009.

• Spice it Up! –  Provided a series of free concerts featuring
music from around the world at the Armory Wharf on
weekends in July and August 2008.
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NRL State of Origin (June 2009)
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Australian Youth Olympics
The fifth Australian Youth Olympic Festival (AYOF) was held between
14 and 18 January 2009, with the majority of events being held at
Sydney Olympic Park.

The five-day AYOF embraced a high level of competition and featured
elements of the Olympic Games model including an Opening
Ceremony, Medal Ceremonies and Village type accommodation for
athletes and team officials.

Athletics, gymnastics, swimming, diving, hockey, archery and fencing
were held at Sydney Olympic Park.

The AYOF has proved its importance as a key steeping stone for young
athletes towards competing at the Olympic Games.

Seventy-three AYOF athletes achieved a place in the Australian
Olympic Team at the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games. Between them,
they won 22 medals across 10 sports, winning five gold, six silver and
11 bronze.

Australia fielded a team of 660 athletes and officials. Many of these
athletes are expected to go on to wear the Green and Gold in London,
some at the inaugural Youth Olympic Games in Singapore in 2010.

In total, 1,550 athletes from 27 countries competed across 17 sports.

Women’s Sports Festival
The inaugural Sydney Olympic Park Women’s Sports Festival was held
between 6 and 8 March 2009 to celebrate and encourage women’s
participation in all levels of sport.

The three-day festival included school programs, free events and
competitions to show off the talent of Australia’s elite and
up-and-coming sportswomen.

The festival encouraged girls and women to participate in sport as
part of a healthy and active lifestyle, gave girls the opportunity to try
out a range of different sports and showcases the talent of some of
Australia’s top sportswomen.

The festival was opened by Australian swimming legend Libby
Trickett, Federal Minister for Youth and Minister for Sport Kate Ellis
and NSW Planning Minister Kristina Keneally.

Minister Ellis was at the launch to open the Australian Sports
Commission’s Girls Get Active Gala Day as part of the Festival.

The Girls Get Active Gala Day gives primary school children the
opportunity to try a number of different sports including cricket,
soccer, netball, OzTag and martial arts.

Case study: 

Case study: 
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Community Cultural Celebrations
The Authority is proud to support the local community by
continuing to host a range of cultural events and festivals. In
2008-09, these included:

• World Youth Day – This international Catholic youth festival
was held in Sydney between 15 and 20 July 2008, attracting
223,000 registered pilgrims including 110,000 from 170
nations. Sydney Olympic Park supported World Youth Day
pilgrims, with the Sydney Showground acting as one of the
festival’s largest dormitories.

• India Australia Friendship Fair 2008 – Sydney Olympic Park
hosted this celebration of India’s cultural heritage for the
sixth year in August 2008. Around 8,500 members of the
Indo-Australian community enjoyed activities at the Sydney
Olympic Park Athletic Centre including Bollywood singing
and dancing, Mehandi (henna body art) and live musical
performances, as well as children’s activities such as face
painting, balloon making and arts and crafts. 

• Weetbix TRY-athlon – Organised by Sanitarium, this national
event includes a swim leg at the Sydney Olympic Park
Aquatic Centre, a cycle leg and a run leg on Olympic
Boulevard. The event attracted 2,720 entrants aged seven to
15 years.

• Splash for Cash Swim-a-thon – This event held at the Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic Centre raised more than $40,000 for
the Royal Institute for Deaf and Blind Children. 

India Australia Friendship Fair 2008

Arts and Culture
In 2008-09, the Authority demonstrated its commitment to arts
and culture through a variety of arts performances, exhibitions
and programs including: 

• From Mao to Now – Between 28 June 2008 and 28
September 2008, more than 8,000 people attended this
exhibition in which original artworks by Australian and
Chinese artists featured alongside Chinese propaganda
posters from the Mao era previously unseen in Australia.

• Sublime Elevations – The outcome of a community cultural
partnership with the Blue Mountains Artists Company, this
exhibition showcased the work of more than 30 Blue
Mountains artists to 3,000 Sydneysiders between 15
November 2008 and 25 January 2009.

• ARTEXPRESS at the Armory 2009 – The sixth annual
ARTEXPRESS at the Armory exhibition featured the work of
66 Higher School Certificate students from western Sydney
and had a strong focus on new media and digital technology.
The exhibition ran from 3 March to 29 April 2009 and
attracted more than 10,000 visitors.

• Coming Home (travelling exhibition) – The Authority
developed and staged this exhibition in Beijing, China, as
part of a program of cultural exchange between former host
cities of the Olympic Games. Coming Home took place from
7May to 24 May 2009 and featured works by 37 Australian
Chinese artists, including a number from the From Mao to
Now exhibition. It was the largest exhibition of Chinese
Australian art ever held in the People’s Republic of China.
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• The Armory Exhibition 2009 – This exhibition included more
than 20 works by local, national and internationally
renowned artists who have participated in the Authority’s
residential and studio hire program Artists at the Armory.
More than 6,000 people attended the exhibition between 27
June and 27 September 2009.

Aquatic Centre
The Aquatic Centre continues to be the busiest aquatic facility in
Australia and is expected to welcome its 17 millionth visitor in
late 2009.

More than 1 million visitors visit the centre each year, including
elite athletes, amateur and leisure swimmers, and school and
community groups from throughout Sydney and regional NSW.

Among the highlights for the year was the Australian Youth
Olympic Festival (January 2009), the Australian Telstra
Swimming Championships and Selection Trials for the World
Championships in Rome (March 2009), and the induction of 27
of Australia’s most successful aquatic sportsmen and women
into the Centre’s Path of Champions (November 2008).

Other highlights included:
• hosting swimming carnivals for more than 30 primary and

secondary school groups from throughout Sydney
• hosting 31 district and state swimming carnivals for primary

and secondary school carnivals
• providing regular swim school sessions for 17 primary and

secondary schools from Sydney and regional NSW
• catering for special needs groups including  Northcott

Disability Services, Australian Foundation for Disability, Giant
Steps Sydney, St Vincent De Paul Society and the House
with No Steps

• making the Centre available for Careflight Safety Services
and the Royal Lifesaving Society

• accommodating over 20,000 patrons from school,
community and charity groups for leisure swims, including
groups from Stewart House, Girl Guides, Salvation Army, Bay
City Church Youth and Milan Academy Australia.

Athletic Centre
The Sydney Olympic Park Athletic Centre celebrated 15 years of
operation in 2009. Since opening in March 1994, the Centre has
welcomed over three million visitors and today continues to
provide people of all ages and levels of fitness with access to
world-class athletic facilities.

In 2008-09, more than 200,000 people from over 100 primary
and secondary schools, disability groups and sporting
associations attended the Athletic Centre for school and
community events.

The Centre hosted a number of significant national athletics
events, including the Sydney Track Classic and the Australian
Youth Olympic Festival and community events, such as the India
Australia Friendship Fair and Deepvali.

It also continued to be a training facility for elite athletics
including track and field students from the NSW Institute of
Sport and the NRL Bulldogs team.

Australian Telstra Swimming Championships
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Lifestyle Program
To enhance the lives of employees and residents of the Park, the
Authority joined forces with the Sydney Olympic Park Business
Association and the Commonwealth Bank of Australia to launch
the Lifestyle program in October 2007.

Lifestyle provides members with access to a diverse range of
facilities, services and events located in and around the Park. 

The program builds community engagement by introducing a
range of activities for members and giving them full use of the
social and recreational infrastructure at the Park. It also helps
drive staff retention and motivation by enabling employers to
easily access the many recreational and leisure opportunities at
Sydney Olympic Park.

Members have discounted or priority access to ticketed events,
recreation and sporting facilities, entertainment venues, social
activities, education programs and retail outlets. The program
includes a dedicated staff and concierge service, a shopfront for
personal assistance, membership materials and a website.

In 2008-09, membership increased 216 per cent, with the
Lifestyle Program now representing more than 4,500 members
from 42 organisations based at Sydney Olympic Park.

Future Challenges and Direction
The Authority remains committed to establishing a sustainable
community that demonstrates best-practice in social, economic
and environmental management. In the coming years, the focus
will be on optimising the presentation, maintenance and
operation of the Park’s township and parklands, and enlivening
the precinct for residents and visitors.

The Authority will incrementally refine and strengthen the
measures already in place to ensure the Park retains its high
standards of public domain presentation, major event
management capability and operational capacity. This will ensure
it can support the increasing influx of workers, students, residents
and visitors to the Park expected under Master Plan 2030.

Athletic Centre
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State of Environment Report

Sydney Olympic Park Authority works to ensure that Sydney Olympic
Park is recognised locally, nationally and internationally as a place
that champions sustainable development and achieves excellence in
environmental management.

This State of Environment Report provides an overview of the
Authority’s management practices and performance in relation
to its immediate environmental responsibilities. It meets the
environmental reporting requirements set out in the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority Act 2001 and reports against targets
contained in the NSW Government Sustainability Policy. The
report also incorporates the annual Parklands Plan of
Management Report for the period 2008-09.

The report has been guided by the Sustainability Reporting
Guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Information
has been cross-referenced with the relevant GRI performance
indicators and a disclosure index at the end of this report

indicates where the GRI framework is applied. The Authority will
use feedback on these first steps to consider further
implementation of a GRI-based sustainability reporting process. 

Reporting indicators are based around the eight key
environmental issues for Sydney Olympic Park as identified in the
Authority’s Environmental Guidelines. The Environmental
Guidelines were revised in June 2008 and this report covers the
first full year of their implementation. Performance targets for
these indicators will be progressively developed as environmental
performance data is more widely obtained. An overview of the
Authority’s performance using selected indicators from each
reporting area is provided in the table below.

Key environmental Indicator Result Improvement 
issue 2008-09 on previous year

Water conservation Total water consumption 286 894 kilolitres of total (potable and recycled) 
water was used Yes

Potable water consumption 5 579 kilolitres of potable water was used, 
or 2% of total water consumption Yes

Energy Conservation Total energy consumption 109 816 gigajoules of electricity and gas were used No
Greenpower purchase 14 538 006 megajoules of electricity, 

or 23% of total electricity consumption. Yes
Materials Selection Office paper consumption 35 A4 sheets of paper used per employee per day Yes
Waste Management Public domain waste generation 586 tonnes of mixed waste was generated 

in the public domain No
Public domain recycling 516 tonnes or 88% of total mixed waste 

generated in the public domain was recycled Stable
Transport Public transport 65% of major event patrons travelled to 

Sydney Olympic Park by public transport Yes
Pollution Control Pollution control Nil incidents of material harm to the 

environment caused by Authority operations Stable
Biodiversity Conservation status of Seven of the Park’s ten priority species/

priority species/communities communities assessed as ‘good’, 
one as ‘fair’ and two as ‘poor’ Stable
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Water Conservation
Sydney Olympic Park has a locally integrated approach to water
conservation based on wastewater reprocessing, stormwater
harvesting, and reducing water demand. The Water Reclamation
and Management Scheme (WRAMS) recycles water from
sewage and stormwater. This recycled water is used for
irrigation, ornamental fountains and toilet flushing applications
across the Park.

Stormwater from buildings and roads is harvested into water
storage ponds and used to irrigate parks, gardens and playing
fields, and also feeds into the WRAMS water recycling system.

Water demand is reduced through water-wise landscaping
practices and night time irrigation, when evaporation is low. Any
new purchases of office kitchen appliances meet a minimum

4-Star rating standard under the Water Efficiency Labelling and
Standards Scheme (WELS).

Potable water comprised two per cent of total measured water
consumption (excluding harvested stormwater use) and is
primarily used for kitchens, bubblers, showers and
handwashing. The connection of recycled water to the Aquatic
Centre in 2007-08 has greatly reduced potable water
consumption at this venue. Water use in the public domain
includes irrigation, water features and amenities blocks. Recycled
water and harvested stormwater are used for irrigation with
annual consumption depending on factors such as rainfall and
evaporation, and the scale and types of new plantings. Most
landscape plantings are native species that do not require
irrigation once established.

Environmental performance against water conservation performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref 2007-08 2008-09

(kilolitres) (kilolitres)

Authority office Total Potable EN8 EN10 889
Recycled 948 700 761

Per Authority FTE Potable EN8 EN10 7.9
Recycled 8.4 6.2 6.7

Public domain 1 Potable EN8 2,420 1,676
Recycled EN10 171,503 187,622

Buildings and car parks Potable EN8 2,537 1,889
Recycled EN10 22,801 20,085

Sports venues Aquatic Potable EN8 EN10 30,703
Recycled 27,422 549 30,041

Athletic Potable EN8 EN10 473
Recycled 36,980 678 42,806

Archery Potable EN8 EN10 121
Recycled 0 87 0

Total Potable EN8 EN10 37,143
Recycled 259,654 5,579 281,315

Total water consumption 2007-08 1 296,797
Total water consumption 2008-09 1 286,894
Overall performance trend (potable & recycled) Positive

Actions taken A subsurface irrigation system was installed as part of upgrade works to the Wilson Park playing fields
during 2008-09 to and will use 70-80 per cent less water than the previous surface irrigation system. Sydney Olympic 
improve water Park’s irrigation network was also extended to connect Wilson Park to the harvested stormwater 
conservation irrigation system, removing the need for potable water.

Water meters were installed across the harvested stormwater network in order to accurately measure 
harvested stormwater use in future years. Harvested stormwater use has been estimated in 
previous years.

The Bicentennial Marker was landscaped with 30,990 native grasses, which will not require irrigation 
once established.

Over 800 square metres of new ‘Ecotrihex’ permeable pavers were installed in the Town Centre, 
adding to those previously installed. These pavers enable stormwater infiltration for watering of 
street trees, and reduce stormwater run-off.

A water-free system for washing of fleet vehicles was introduced. A specialised 
polish is used to remove dirt from vehicles instead of water.
1 Excludes harvested stormwater for irrigation
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Energy Conservation
Sydney Olympic Park’s buildings and facilities are designed to
maximise the use of renewable energy, reduce energy
consumption and minimise greenhouse gas emissions.
Contributors to energy demand include office and depot
buildings, streetlights, car park lighting, irrigation and leachate
pumps, ornamental water features, advertising signs, and public
barbeques. Water filtration, pool heating and lighting at the
Aquatic Centre contribute significantly to total energy demand. 

Solar power is generated and fed into the grid at the ‘towers of
power’ along Olympic Boulevard and at the Energy Australia
Education Centre (Building 46). Solar power is also used in
remote areas of the Park to operate leachate pumps, lighting
units and car park ticket dispensers. A proportion of the Park’s
electricity is sourced from ‘Greenpower’. Any new office and
kitchen appliances purchased meet a minimum 4-Star rating
standard under the Minimum Energy Performance Standards
Scheme (MEPS). 

Environmental performance against energy conservation performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref 2007-08 2008-09

Electricity Office EN4 2,157,206 2,077,194
consumption in Per FTE EN4 19,090 18,382
megajoules Per square metre of floorspace EN4 624 601
Street lighting EN4 11,491,250 15,140,558

Car parks EN4 10,077,037 10,457,483
SOPAC (Athletic, Aquatic & Archery Centres) EN4 28,901,831 29,197,023
Total electricity consumption EN4 58,643,896 64,066,548
Performance trend Negative
Greenpower purchased EN6 11,149,297 14,538,006
Greenpower percentage of total 
energy consumption EN6 19 23

Natural gas
consumption in Total gas consumption EN3 46,587,932 48,384,284
megajoules
Energy production 
in megajoules Solar power generation to grid EN6 586,156 714,272
Greenhouse gas Total greenhouse gas emissions EN16 12,983 13,514
emissions in tonnes Performance trend Negative
CO2 equivalent Office greenhouse gas emissions EN16 443 426

Per FTE per working day 16 15
Greenhouse gas emissions avoided 
by greenpower purchase EN18 3,052 3,621

Total Total energy consumption (megajoules) 105,231,828 109,815,948
Megajoules per visitor 12.8 12.2

Actions taken An energy audit identified car park lighting as a major component of total energy consumption. 
during 2008-09 to A trial of energy-efficient light tubes has commenced; if performance standards are met, 
reduce energy energy-efficient light tubes will be progressively rolled out, resulting in significant energy savings.
consumption
GRI Ref A lighting audit of Parklands and adjacent areas was undertaken to assess efficiency of parklands
EN7, EN18 lighting and extent of light spill onto habitat areas. Recommendations have been provided for 

increased efficiency of lighting across the Parklands.

Natural ventilation is a design feature of the new Sydney Olympic Park Visitor’s Centre and 
the Armory Wharf Cafe, removing the need for air conditioning.
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Sustainable Materials Selection
Sustainable, recycled and recyclable materials are used wherever
practicable in new developments, asset refurbishment and
maintenance programs. Use of materials that deplete natural
resources or that create toxic pollution in their manufacture, use
or disposal is minimised or avoided. These principles are
embedded in the Authority’s Waste Reduction and Purchasing
Plan (WRAPP) and also in the Urban Elements Design Manual
and Park Elements Design Manual, which identify approved

performance standards, styles and materials for park
infrastructure and furniture. 

A significant amount of temporary overlay is required for the
staging of events, including marquees, stages, fencing, tables
and chairs, audio and lighting equipment. Rather than
purchasing these items, they are hired by the Authority when
required. This significantly reduces the storage area required and
avoids idle resources during non-event periods.

Environmental performance against materials selection performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref Total purchased Percentage with 

recycled content
2007-08 2008-09 2007-08 2008-09

Office paper and Total A4 white paper  (reams) EN1,EN2 2,570 2,001 74% 75%
office supplies Per FTE (reams per year) EN1 23 18 - -

Per FTE (sheets per day) EN1 46 35 - -
Other office paper 
(reams A4 equivalent) 107 148 0% 11%
Printing and publications EN1 Data not 3141 Data not 4%
paper (reams A4 equivalent) available available
Toner cartridges (number) EN1,EN2 208 264 2 5% 17%

Construction and Heritage Building E EN1,EN2 0.2 tonnes asphalt of which 0.08 tonnes  
demolition materials refurbishment were recycled material

0.6 tonnes timber of which 0.45 tonnes 
were recycled material
1.0 tonne recycled terracotta roof shingles
0.3 tonnes recycled sandstone

Saltmarsh restoration at EN1,EN2 70 tonnes of mangrove mulch generated
Haslams Creek from another restoration project

Woo-la-ra erosion control EN1,EN2 35 tonnes of forest fines mulch (100% recycled
wood waste) used as part of erosion control works

Armory Wharf Cafe EN1,EN2 50 tonnes of concrete, 4 tonnes of steel and 1.5 pallets
reconstruction of bricks were salvaged from the old cafe site and 

reused in construction of the new cafe

Parramatta River seawall repair EN1,EN2 1,000 tonnes of sandstone were reused 
in the repair works

Actions taken The Urban Elements Design Manual was updated to address future precinct needs.
during 2008-09 to 
improve use of Field testing of a recycled alternative to hardwood timber seat battens is underway. The anticipated 
sustainable benefits are a longer product life and lower maintenance requirements.
materials

Mulch generated in the Park is reused on site wherever possible. Mangrove mulch has a high salt content
that makes it unsuitable for use in most landscaping situations; however it is suitable for use in 
estuarine areas.

2 2008/09 figure includes mapping department; this figure was not included in 2007/08.
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Waste Management
The Authority’s Waste Reduction and Purchasing Plan (WRAPP)
sets out how the Authority will reduce waste in four key areas –
paper products, office equipment and components, vegetation
material, and construction and demolition material - as
identified in the NSW Government Sustainability Policy.

Mixed public domain and office waste is sorted at a waste
retrieval facility rather than separated at source, with recovery
rates typically between 85 and 90 per cent. Office paper
collected in secure-disposal bins is recycled. Tree clippings and

other woody vegetation is reused as mulch wherever possible.
Other greenwaste is disposed of at a licensed disposal facility
where it is composted or mulched. Greenwaste that contains
notifiable noxious weeds is sent to licensed landfill for deep
burial in accordance with regulatory requirements. Where
practical, construction waste is source-separated for recyclables
including concrete, soil, asphalt, timber, bricks, glass, and metals.

Leachate from the Wilson Park landfill is treated on-site in a
bioremediation system, which avoids the need for transfer to an
off-site treatment facility.

Environmental performance against waste management performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref Total purchased Percentage with 

recycled content
2007-08 2008-09 2007-08 2008-09

Office paper products Office paper (tonnes) EN22 3 2 82 100
* from secure disposal bins only

Cardboard (tonnes) EN22 Data not Data not Data not Data not 
available available available available

Office equipment Used toner cartridges EN22 Data not 222 Data not 100 4

and components available available
(no units) Computer CPUs and laptops EN22 156 19 100 3 100 4

Computer monitors EN22 145 52 100 3 100 4

Mobile phones EN22 39 30 100 3 100 4

Public domain waste Mixed waste (tonnes) EN22 524 586 88 88
* includes office waste

Greenwaste (tonnes) EN22 396 345 44 63
* excludes material retained/

reused on site

Stormwater litter EN22 45 78 0 0
booms (tonnes)
Gross pollutant traps & EN22 141 127 0 0 
CDS units (tonnes)

Construction and Heritage Building E EN22 0.08 tonnes brick & roof tiles 100
demolition waste refurbishment 0.065 tonnes plasterboard 15

0.2 tonnes steel 100
Towers of Power repainting 7.0 tonnes waste paint and abrasive 0

Leachate Kilolitres transferred EN22 43 170 33 398 100 100
to treatment plant 
Kilolitres treated in EN22 4950 4260 100 100
Wilson Park bioremediation 
system

SOPAC Total waste (tonnes) EN22 204 214 60 74

Actions taken during A field trial to expand the onsite bioremediation of landfill leachate is currently underway. An additional 
2008-09 to improve set of treatment ponds have been constructed at Wilson Park which are treating leachate from the
waste reduction, Blaxland Common landfill. If successful, it is anticipated this trial will expand on-site bioremediation 
re-use and recycling of leachate and will further reduce leachate volumes treated off-site.

A new contract for management of the Wilson Park bioremediation system was commenced. 

Four new stormwater litter booms were added to the existing eight in creeks around the Park to capture 
stormwater litter and prevent it from travelling further downstream.

3 In 2007/08 these items were either sent to auction or traded in
4 In 2008/09 these items were sent to recycling centres
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Transportation
The Authority uses E10 fuel blends in petrol-fuelled fleet
vehicles, consistent with the NSW Government Sustainability
Policy. Diesel fuel is used in utilities, gators and trucks. The
Authority’s fleet of nine passenger vehicles has a high
proportion of small vehicles with high fuel efficiency, and
includes one petrol/electric hybrid vehicle.

The Authority has a short-term planning target of 25 per cent of
people across the Park travelling to work by public transport.

Developers of new office buildings at the Park must prepare a
workplace travel plan for each building as a condition of
development consent.  

The frequency of commuter train and bus services to Sydney
Olympic Park has increased over the past few years in response
to new businesses opening at the Park. An integrated ticketing
system is implemented for events attracting over 30,000 people;
this enables event patrons to catch public transport to the event
as part of their event ticket.

Environmental performance against transportation performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref 2007-08 2008-09

Authority fleet Total fuel consumption from passenger vehicles (litres) EN3 22,584 20,930
vehicles Per FTE EN3 364 185

Passenger vehicle trip kilometres associated EN29 191,744 177,326
with Authority operations
Per FTE EN29 1 697 1 569
Fleet ‘environment performance score’ 5 Target 12/20 11.1 10.8
Total greenhouse gas emissions EN16 44 39
(tonnes of CO2 equivalent)

Per FTE EN16 0.4 0.3

Authority staff travel Percentage of Authority employees using EN29 Data not 21%
public transport, cycling, walking, car pooling, available
working from home (>60% work attendance days)

Major event Percentage of major event patrons EN29 63 65
transport travelling by public transport

Commuter transport Number of train services to Sydney Olympic Park EN29 Data not 59
per weekday available
Number of bus services to Sydney Olympic Park EN29 Data not 141
per weekday available
Number of ferry services to Sydney Olympic Park EN29 Data not 26 
per weekday available

Actions taken during Development consents for new office buildings required workplace travel plans to be prepared.
2008-09 to reduce 
impacts of Major events utilising integrated ticketing during 2008-09 included the NRL Grand Final, two rugby 
transportation test matches, four Sydney Swans home games and the Royal Easter Show.
GRI ref EN29

Public bicycle racks were installed outside a new office and retail development at Dawn Fraser Avenue.

5 NSW Clean Car Benchmarks
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Pollution Control
The Authority maintains a strong focus on environmental
awareness and due diligence to minimise environmental
impacts and achieve compliance of its operations with
applicable water, noise, light and air quality standards.

Stormwater run-off generated within Sydney Olympic Park is
filtered through constructed wetlands designed to remove
suspended solids and nutrients before discharge to creek systems.
Forty gross pollutant traps collect locally-generated litter and the
Authority has installed stormwater litter booms at the upstream
boundaries of the Park to capture litter originating upstream. 

Environmental performance against pollution control performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref 2007-08 2008-09

Pollution incidents Incident due to Authority operations EN23 0 0
causing material Incident due to others EN23 6 1 
harm to the 2008-09 incidents: A fishkill occurred in Haslams Creek on 2 April 2009. A DECC investigation concluded
environment the cause of death was low dissolved oxygen levels, most probably due to high organic loads in 

stormwater entering the creek from upstream; the source was not identified. Incidents in 2007-08 also 
related to a series of fishkills.

Regulatory Prosecutions and fines EN28 0 0
compliance Non-compliance with licence EN28 0 1

2008-09 non-compliances: Water samples from discharge of WRAMS reverse osmosis backwash were
not analysed for boron on 11 occasions in 2008-09; the sample analysis schedule has since been rectified.

Discharge to waters Licence 10243 Wilson Park bioremediation area total EN21 313 211
kilolitres discharged to Parramatta River
Licence 10020 WRAMS exceedences of discharge limits: EN21 0 0

Noise Noise complaints received by SOPA - 0 0

Water quality Percentage of samples at Haslams Creek exceeding - 89 64
monitoring – 1000 CFU  – the ANZECC guideline for secondary contact 
faecal coliforms Maximum recorded CFU level 600,000 730,000

Percentage of samples at Powells Creek exceeding 
1000 CFU  – the ANZECC guideline for secondary contact 50 11
Maximum recorded CFU level 30,000 5,300
Percentage of samples at Lake Belvedere exceeding 33 11
1000 CFU  – the ANZECC guideline for secondary contact
Maximum recorded CFU level 8,100 3,200
Sydney Olympic Park is located at the lower end of a highly urbanised catchment. High levels of faecal 
coliforms and nutrients are recorded on a regular basis within the Haslams Creek, Powells Creek and 
Boundary Creek systems. Improved water quality is dependent upon pollutant reduction from 
upstream sources.

Blue-green algae Percentage of water samples from Lake Belvedere - 0 0
exceeding 10mm3/litre – the impeller trigger level 

Actions taken during A new Remediated Lands Management Plan sets out how Sydney Olympic Park’s 10 remediated landfills 
2008-09 to improve will be managed to ensure protection of the environment and public safety. A notice issued under the 
pollution control Contaminated Lands Management Act 1997 requires the landfills to be managed in accordance 

with this Plan.  Erosion at Woo-la-ra landfill was repaired.  

The Authority is developing a site-wide Noise Management Plan in consultation with the Department of
Environment & Climate Change, Sydney Olympic Park venues and the local residential community. The
plan will provide the framework for how event noise is managed in the precinct and aims to minimise the
impact on any sensitive receivers.   The Plan also links to new environmental planning legislation relevant
to Sydney Olympic Park.
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Actions taken during Pesticide use in landscape management activities was reduced across the Park. New works specifications
2008-09 to improve require Authority approval for spray application of pesticides in all public domain areas. A new 
pollution control sub-surface irrigation system installed at the Wilson Park playing fields enables pesticides needed for 

turf maintenance to be applied through the irrigation system, thereby reducing application rates 
and risk of spray drift. 

Worn and vandalised stormwater litter booms were replaced at Haslams Creek and Powells Creek. A new
boom was installed at a small tidal inlet along the Parramatta River. Two community cleanup days were
held to remove accumulated stormwater litter from mangrove and saltmarsh habitats.
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Biodiversity
Around 300 hectares (almost half of the Park) provides habitat
for threatened species, protected marine vegetation and
endangered ecological communities, which are all protected
under State or Commonwealth legislation. A Biodiversity

Management Plan guides the Authority in stewardship of the
biodiversity assets under its care and in compliance with
environmental legislation. Ten ‘priority’ species and communities
are identified in the Biodiversity Management Plan and are the
focus of specific management.

Environmental performance against biodiversity performance indicators
All biodiversity
Indicator GRI Ref 2007-08 2008-09

Number of bird species recorded in annual census - 126 122
Percentage of all bird species recorded since 2000 - 72 69
Number of bird species recorded breeding - 68 75
Number of reptile species recorded in annual census and incidental sightings - 8 9
Percentage of all reptile species recorded since 2000 - 62 69
Number of frog species recorded in annual census and incidental sightings - 7 7
Percentage of all frog species recorded since 2000 - 100 100

Priority species and communities 
Indicator GRI ref Assessment Strategic actions 2008-09*

Sydney Turpentine EN14 Status: good. Good condition overall, high Continued propagation of local provenance
Ironbark Forest native species diversity and few weeds seed followed by planting in the buffer zone,

present in core forest. Expanding in the with a focus on species of regional and local 
buffer zone through natural recruitment conservation significance.
and local provenance plantings which 
are establishing well.  

Green and Golden EN14 Status: good. Evidence of stable population Commencement of a five-year Australian 
Bell Frog in all primary habitat areas, though no Research Council and industry-funded 

definitive evidence of recruitment recorded research program with University of 
in Narawang Wetland, which was not able Newcastle, University of Sydney, Museum 
to be drained for Gambusia management of South Australia, and other industry
this year.  Habitat extent and condition partners.
maintained/improved. Reconstruction of two breeding ponds to 

improve water-holding capacity.

Coastal Saltmarsh EN14 Status: good. Overall increase in area and Rehabilitation of saltmarsh habitat at 
improvement in condition as a result of Haslams Creek Flats by natural recruitment 
previous habitat rehabilitation works. following addition of mangrove mulch.

Staged Juncus acutus removal program
completed at Badu Mangroves. 

Mangrove Forest EN14 Status: good. Overall area stable; no pest 19 River Mangrove seedlings were 
invasion, die-back or disease apparent, propagated and planted.
and no apparent reduction in propagule
production.  

Swamp Oak EN14 Status: good. Overall area stable, but forest -
Floodplain Forest still immature, regenerating from die-back 

experienced several years ago. Relatively 
extensive and in better condition than 
other stands around Sydney.

* additional to the routine management program
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Priority species and communities 
Indicator GRI ref Assessment Strategic actions 2008-09*

Latham’s Snipe EN14 Status: poor. Current population appears -
stable but is very low compared to 1990s. 
Both local and international factors 
likely to be contributing.

White-fronted Chat EN14 Status: poor. Population of this species is Increased monitoring of nest success and 
declining; currently comprises eight birds adult survival. Population nominated for 
(two females and six males), down from listing under the Threatened Species 
nine birds in 2007-8.  Two nests, each Conservation Act 1995 as endangered. 
containing two chicks, lost to 
predation 2008-09.

Migratory EN14 Status: fair. Increased numbers overall Management of water levels and frequency
Shorebirds have been recorded over the past two of tidal exchange at the Waterbird Refuge.

years, and species diversity has remained Weir management at Newington Nature 
consistent. However, Curlew Sandpiper Reserve wetland.
numbers have declined (both local and 
international factors likely to be 
contributing), and Main Lagoon at 
Newington Nature Reserve is not 
attracting migratory shorebirds. 

Bush Birds EN14 Status: fair; declines in diversity and Planting of replacement habitat 
abundance as a result of habitat following staged Lantana removal.
deterioration; significant opportunities 
to enhance habitat not realised 2008-09. Planting to enhance connectivity between

Newington Nature Reserve woodland 
and wetland. 

Microchiropteran EN14 Status: good; known roost sites Continuation of White-striped Freetail Bat 
Bats maintained. One new species recorded.  monitoring program. 

White-striped Freetail Bat monitoring 
project indicate stable breeding colony.

* additional to the routine management program
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Actions taken during 2008-09 to improve biodiversity conservation
GRI EN12, EN14

Habitat restoration and All areas of high biodiversity value are under an active vegetation management program. 
enhancement During the past year contracts for these areas have been retendered, and works

specifications revised. Two hundred hectares are now managed by contractors with bush
regeneration qualifications and expertise. 

Restoration and enhancement works undertaken specifically for priority species and
communities are described above.

Long-term staged weed removal and habitat replacement programs were implemented in
locations where weeds comprise a significant proportion of available habitat. Programs
commenced in Triangle Pond, and continued in the Brickpit, Newington Nature Reserve
wetland, and Badu Mangroves.  Weed-infested areas where programs are yet to be
developed are Wilson Park Wetland and the northern bank of the Waterbird Refuge.

Noxious and environmental Weeds that have required extensive management input 2008-09 are:
weed management • Coolatai Grass at Woo-la-ra and Blaxland Riverside Park.  Approximately 0.42 hectares 

of seed-laden soil was removed at Woo-la-ra and the area replanted with native grasses.
• Alligator Weed at Narawang Wetland, with small outbreaks at several other locations. 

Management has reduced the scale of outbreaks, but this weed requires ongoing 
control.  Propagules are regularly carried into the Park from stormwater in 
Haslams Creek.

• Salvinia in Lake Belvedere, Bicentennial Park.  An intensive control program has 
nearly eradicated this weed. 

Vertebrate pest management Control programs were undertaken for foxes, feral cats, Australian Ravens, and rats.
Australian White Ibis nesting was deterred by pruning of nest trees. 
The annual cyclic pond draining program for Gambusia control at Narawang Wetland was
not implemented 2008-09 because of recurrent wet weather and pump breakdowns. 

Disease No chytrid-related frog mortality was recorded. 
Strict access procedures, including disinfecting boots and tools, are applied to Newington
Nature Reserve to prevent the introduction of Phytopthora. There are no known 
outbreaks within the Park.

Mosquito management The mosquito management program continued under the direction of the University of
Sydney Department of Medical Entomology.  Aerial treatment using a bacterial larvicide was
applied to Newington Nature Reserve wetlands on five occasions, and ground-based
treatments were applied to Badu Mangroves and Haslams Reach wetlands on three
occasions.  The larvicide was successful in reducing larval densities and thus development of
adult mosquitoes in these areas.   

Management of visitor Visitor access to ecologically sensitive habitats continues to be managed to minimise 
access and disturbance human disturbance to wildlife and harm to habitats.  Boardwalks, pathways, and the aerial

Brickpit Ringwalk provide visitor access to sensitive areas whilst ensuring their protection.
Contractor access and maintenance works are restricted in certain areas during peak
breeding seasons.  Licensed activities such as site hires, filming and public events are
restricted within these areas, and education and interpretive programs are designed and
managed to minimise human impacts.

During 2008-09, Birds Australia and the Authority installed a camera within Newington
Nature Reserve, to enable visitors to the Bird Discovery Centre to observe a pair of
White-bellied Sea-eagles nesting within the forest.  
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Case study: 
Saltmarsh restoration at Haslams Creek
More than two hectares of coastal saltmarsh have been
re-established on the banks of Haslams Creek, increasing the
extent and viability of this endangered ecological community.

Coastal saltmarsh grows in the intertidal zone of estuaries
and lagoons. Plant types include succulents, sedges, and
grasses, and wildlife including fish, birds, insects, crabs,
molluscs and spiders are supported within this community.

When Haslams Creek was restored in the late 1990s, a
concrete-lined stormwater channel was removed and a new
creek bed constructed in its place, edged with terraces built at
elevations designed to suit saltmarsh. Saltmarsh established
well on the western side of the new creek, but large parts of
the eastern embankment remained bare.

Experimental field trials were conducted over several years to
determine the most effective way to establish saltmarsh
across this large area. Trials concluded that poor soil quality
was inhibiting saltmarsh establishment and that soil would
need to be ameliorated for saltmarsh to grow. The application

of mangrove mulch was found to improve soil quality and
permit germination.

Mangrove mulch was available from another restoration
project in the Park. An area of protected mangrove trees had
been removed in accordance with a regulatory permit. The
high salt content of mangrove mulch makes it unsuitable for
use in most landscaping situations; however, it is suited to
estuarine areas. Utilising the mulched trees in this project
provided the additional benefit of on-site reuse of the
material.

The bare areas of the embankment were ploughed and
mangrove mulch was mixed into the soil.  Local seed was
collected and spread over certain areas; however, natural
colonisation by tidal-borne seeds provided the greatest source
of regeneration. Saltmarsh germinated across the
rehabilitated area in spring 2008 and it is anticipated that a
dense saltmarsh cover will progressively establish over the
next two years, making it an important contribution to the
conservation of this community.
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Public Open Space
Public open space is one of the major features of Sydney Olympic
Park, and includes the 430 hectares of Parklands (Millennium
Parklands) identified in the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act
2001 and subject to the statutory provisions of the Parklands
Plan of Management, as well as green space, pocket parks and
plazas within the emerging town centre. The scale and diversity
of these open spaces contributes to the identity and distinct
character of the precinct.

Public open space contributes to the conservation and
protection of many flora and fauna species, and provides
opportunities for participation in sport, leisure, arts, cultural and
educational programs and activities. It also contains two areas of
heritage significance – the Vernon Buildings and gardens, and
the Millennium Parklands Heritage Precinct, which includes the
Newington Armory and Newington Nature Reserve.

Environmental performance against public open space performance indicators
Category Indicator GRI Ref 2007-08 2008-09

Land area Protected public open space:
hectares of ‘Parklands’ subject to the statutory 429 429
provisions under the Parklands Plan 
of Management
hectares of ‘nature reserve’ gazetted under EN13 48 48
the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974
Categorisation of public open space 
by land use: 
hectares of recreational public open space - 119 117
hectares of public open space providing EN13 287 287
bushland, wetland, grassland habitat 
(generally accessible for passive recreation 
by boardwalks or pathways)
hectares of ‘Parklands’ public open space - 17.4 19.1
alienated by long-term exclusive lease 
(utilities and lessees) 

Heritage Conservation Heritage precincts with a - 2 2
Conservation Master Plan

Actions taken during Actions to improve public open space within the parklands are described in the Parklands Plan of 
2008-09 to improve Management Report (page 53).
public open space

The former gatehouse in the Vernon Buildings has been refurbished for adaptive 
re-use as the Sydney Olympic Park Visitor’s Centre.

Jacaranda Square was upgraded to provide 0.27 hectares of public open space.

The Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan 2030 was finalised, placed on public exhibition, 
and later approved.

The northern playing field at Wilson Park will be available for professional sporting use and will 
no longer be accessible for general community use.
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Environmental management across the precinct

Contractor initiatives
Contractors play a key role in the operation and maintenance of
Sydney Olympic Park. Works specifications define contractor
environmental management responsibilities and previous
environmental performance is considered in tender assessment.
Contractors are encouraged to implement environmental
initiatives that reduce the environmental footprint of their
operations at Sydney Olympic Park.  

During 2008-9, security contractor Australian Concert and
Entertainment Services (ACES) introduced a solar-powered
motorbike to their vehicle fleet for conducting security patrols in
the Park. Solar panels on the roof of the Park Management
Centre are used to charge the bike. Since January 2009, it is
estimated that 344 kilograms of greenhouse gas emissions have
been avoided through the use of this bike.

Planning and development
The State Environmental Planning Policy (Major Development)
Amendment Sydney Olympic Park 2009 (SEPP Major
Development Sydney Olympic Park) and the Sydney Olympic
Park Master Plan 2030 (Master Plan 2030) were approved by the
NSW Government in September 2009.

The SEPP Major Development Sydney Olympic Park establishes
land zonings that account for the environmental values of the
various parts of the Park, and sets objectives and uses to
maintain these values.

Master Plan 2030 establishes a long-term vision for the
sustainable development of the Park, and requires all
developments to embody a best-practice approach to
environmental sustainability principles. Together these
instruments will continue to promote the ongoing
environmentally sustainable development of Sydney Olympic Park.  

Master Plan 2030 requires new developments to: 
• achieve a minimum 4.5-Star Australian Building Greenhouse

Rating for commercial development
• for non-residential developments, prepare and implement a

Work Place Travel Plan containing both physical and
behavioural measures to increase sustainable transport
choices including information on transport options; public
transport service and infrastructure improvement; walk and
cycle networks; provision of onsite facilities to encourage
walking and cycling (such as showers, lockers, secure bicycle
parking); and the development of ride sharing schemes

• provide bicycle parking
• install water saving devices to reduce water consumption

and promote energy efficiency
• recycle materials not used as part of the development
• connect to the Park’s recycled water supply.

Major developments completed in 2008-9 were:
• Commonwealth Bank of Australia – a commercial development

providing office space for 3500 personnel.  This building has a
base NABERS energy rating of 5 stars and a certified 5 Star
rating under the Green Star Office Design (version 2).  It includes
passive chilled beams throughout the office

• Pullman Hotel - a 213-room, 5-star hotel within the Accor
Group. A solar hot water array on the roof of this building
delivers hot water to the Pullman and to other Accor Group
hotels within the Park.  The Accor Group hotels aim to reduce
annual energy consumption by at least 40% and to supply
60% of hot water requirements from solar hot water within
Sydney Olympic Park

Venues and businesses
Venues and facilities built for the Sydney 2000 Olympic and
Paralympic Games were designed with a strong focus on
ecologically sustainable development principles, with particular
emphasis on energy and water conservation features, and
sustainable material selection. Post-Olympics, many older sports
and commercial buildings within the precinct have been
connected to the recycled water system, thereby reducing
potable water consumption across the precinct.

During 2008-9, six businesses within the Sydney Olympic Park
precinct signed up to the Sustainability Advantage Program run
by the NSW Department of Environment and Climate Change.
Sustainability Advantage is a business program that aims to
assist medium to large organisations to improve their
environmental performance and enhance sustainability
outcomes. Participating organisations at Sydney Olympic Park
including Sydney Olympic Park Authority, the Royal Agricultural
Society of NSW, Accor Group (representing the Pullman at
Sydney Olympic Park and the Novotel and Ibis hotels), the State
Sports Centre Trust, Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletics
Centre, and the Commonwealth Bank of Australia.

Environmental education, training and extension programs
Education continues to play a key role in the development of
Sydney Olympic Park. Over 28,000 primary and secondary school
students participated in education-related programs and
activities in 2008-09, in curriculum and non-curriculum-based
programs, and various adult education and interpretive
programs were conducted.
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Environmental education (curriculum-based programs) statistics 2008-9

Indicator Number
Number of curriculum-based programs offered 32  (in key learning areas of Environment, Technology, Science, 

Biology, Geography, and Human Society)
Number of schools 400
Number of classes 849
Total number of school participants 18,806
Primary 4,940
Junior secondary 10,375
Senior secondary 3,491

The Energy Australia Education Centre, a partnership between
Energy Australia and the Authority, continued to support many
environmental education programs throughout the reporting
period. The Centre is a former munitions storehouse in
Newington Armory that has been transformed into a state of
the art education facility with three classrooms and 30
computers. It is powered by three large solar arrays. The primary
objectives of the Centre are to increase energy efficiency, reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and provide effective planning to
meet future energy demands. 

Programs conducted by the Authority in 2008-9 included:
• contractor environmental induction training, provided for

248 personnel working in ecologically-sensitive areas
• development of the ‘Greenguide’, a pocket guide to

environmental awareness and due diligence at Sydney
Olympic Park for staff and contractors 

• ‘Go for Green’ (student ambassador program with Strathfield
Council), Science in the Suburbs (Australian Museum),
ArtExpress (NSW Department of Environment and Training)
and aspects of the Women’s Sports Festival (NSW Department
of Sport and Recreation). The Authority’s Education Unit
partnered with the NSW Department of Environment &
Training to deliver components of the ‘Kid’s Design Challenge’
to schools under a partnered outreach model

• Technical Insight Tours – customised programs developed for
fee-paying parties seeking technical insight and knowledge
about Sydney Olympic Park and access to the Authority’s
intellectual property and or expertise. In 2008-09, 618 people
participated in 33 tour programs. Sixty-seven per cent of all
programs focussed on the environment and approximately
60 per cent of the programs involved international
delegations from six countries

• four technical ecological tours, held as part of the
Threatened Species Demonstration Sites Program,
coordinated by Department of Environment and Climate
Change, attracting approximately 150 people

• the Roads to Sustainability program, funded by Transurban,
was  launched in 2007 and finished in June 2009. The aim of
the program was to fully subsidise students from NSW
Department of Environment and Training Priority Schools to
participate in ‘hands on’ environmental education programs at
Sydney Olympic Park. Around 3,000 students from 30 primary
schools and 22 high schools participated in the Program

• four Technical Wetlands Education and Training Workshops
were held, attracting 162 environmental professionals,
including 42 speakers and trainers, who have an interest in
or are responsible for the management of wetlands
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• volunteers from the Cumberland Bird Observers Club, the
Frog and Tadpole Study Group and the Australian
Herpetological Society continued to assist with ecological
monitoring programs, giving approximately 1,000 hours of
their time

• parklands tours and interpretive programs were conducted
throughout the year, providing visitors with information
about the Park’s unique environment. These included
heritage rail tours that explored the cultural and natural
heritage of Newington Armory

• the Boundary Creek Fishway was officially opened in early
February as part of World Wetlands Day celebrations

• several papers written by Authority staff were published in
scientific journals. Authority staff gave professional talks at
various environmental conferences and seminars, and served
as members on regional weed, pest animal, and catchment
management committees

• Birds Australia and the Authority installed a video camera
within Newington Nature Reserve to enable observation of
nesting White-bellied Sea-eagles from the Bird Education
Centre at Newington Armory.

Environmental awards and recognition
Sydney Olympic Park was announced as one of the top 25
ecological restoration sites in Australia and New Zealand.
Ecological Management & Restoration, the journal of the
Ecological Society of Australia, and the Society for Ecological
Restoration International conducted an 18-month search for the
top examples of ecological restoration. The search recognised
the significant remediation of Sydney Olympic Park in the lead
up to the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games and the
continuing work of Sydney Olympic Park Authority to restore and
manage the Park’s rich and diverse habitats. The Park is
recognised on the Global Restoration Network website.

Sydney Olympic Park was identified as one of the 10 most
significant wildlife habitats within the greater Sydney area in a
study conducted by the NSW Department of Environment and
Climate Change (DECC 2008: Rapid Fauna Habitat Assessment
of the Sydney Metropolitan Catchment Management Authority
Area). The study evaluated all remnant habitats greater than 50
hectares in size and considered a broad range of attributes
including habitat condition and connectivity, presence of
threatened and regionally significant species and habitat
features such as canopy structure and tree hollows. Key remnant
areas were ranked in terms of their overall habitat value.  Other
sites making the top ten included Royal National Park and
Holsworthy Army Base.

The NSW Department of Environment and Climate Change
selected Sydney Olympic Park as one of 11 threatened species
demonstration sites across Sydney for work in conserving the
Green and Golden Bell Frog and Coastal Saltmarsh. In a project
co-funded with the Sydney Metropolitan Catchment

Management Authority, NSW Department of Environment and
Climate Change and the Federal Government, the Authority
installed interpretive signs at five locations, and contributed to
the development of ‘best-practice guidelines’ designed to assist
other land managers. Technical workshops and site tours
showcased the work of the Authority in threatened species
management to professional and community participants. 

Parklands Plan of Management Report
The Parklands Plan of Management adopted by the NSW Minister
for the Environment is the predominant statutory instrument
controlling the use, development and management of the
Parklands at Sydney Olympic Park. The Plan of Management
requires the Authority to report on its progress and performance in
relation to the achievement of the general objectives associated
with the categories of land assigned in the Parklands.

There are six categories of land assigned to the Parklands: 
• Nature Reserve 
• Natural Area 
• Parkland
• Cultural Land 
• Sports Land
• General Community Land.

The assessment of the Authority’s performance is based on a
qualitative and/or quantitative assessment  of the extent to
which implementation of any strategic actions have assisted the
Authority in meeting the general objectives outlined in the Plan
of Management. There are eight general objectives for the
Parklands. These objectives include and expand upon legislative
obligations assigned to the Authority in the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority Act 2001 in its capacity as owner and manager of the
Parklands (Millennium Parklands).

The general objectives for the Parklands are to:
• recognise and enhance the Parklands unique character, and

setting and values
• generate programs which provide recreational, historical,

scientific, educational, and cultural activities
• encourage public use and experience of program activities
• provide places for unprogrammed public use and enjoyment
• conserve the natural and cultural heritage
• ensure the protection of the Parklands environment
• support the achievement of the purposes of the Newington

Nature Reserve
• properly manage, maintain and improve the Parklands.

Strategic actions that assisted the Authority in meeting the
general objectives during 2008-09 are provided in Table 10.
These actions are additional to those specified in the previous
sections of this report.
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Parklands Plan of Management Indicators

Category Indicator 2007-08 2008-09
Plan of management Number of short-term ‘Parklands’ licences issued 515 520
Implementation (filming, site hire, public events) 

Number of Approvals of Restricted Activities issued 32 28

Strategic actions taken
during 2008-09 that
have assisted with
meeting general
objectives of the
Parklands Plan of
Management

Parklands enhancements 
The Authority constructed and entered into a license for the operation of the new Armory Wharf Café.
The Café was opened to the public in January 2009 and has enjoyed strong business patronage.

Visitor enhancement works were completed in the Wentworth Common precinct. Works included
improvements to carpark facilities, playground and picnic facilities and conservation works to a
heritage sub station building. 

Planning was conducted for the Wilson Park precinct to provide for the staged development of
sports fields to cater for increasing recreational demand. The stage 1 sports field upgrade has
been completed (see case study below).
Works were completed on the installation of a partial-width rock-ramp fishway at the lower end
of Boundary Creek, Bicentennial Park. The project was joint-funded by Sydney Metropolitan
Catchment Authority, NSW Department of Primary Industries and the Authority.

Works were completed on the first stage of services provision for establishing a camping ground
in the Newington Armory precinct.  

Works continued on the staged upgrade of the Bicentennial Park irrigation system. Approximately
20 hectares of parklands have been completed. 

Major works were completed on the Woo-la-ra remediated landfill to control erosion and reinstate
vegetation cover. A staged long term weed removal and habitat restoration program commenced
at Triangle Pond, Wentworth Common.

Parklands planning 
To continue improvement of contract maintenance service delivery and ensure best value, a
review of the Authority’s contract maintenance service strategy was undertaken. This has led to
the development of a number of more specialised contracts. New contracts have been developed
and awarded for cleaning, natural areas and amenity landscape maintenance and turf
management services. 

A concept precinct master plan was developed for the southern Parklands precinct adjoining the
Brickpit and Site 60 development.

A Remediated Lands Management Plan was completed and submitted to DECC. The Plan
describes the Authority’s proposed ongoing management of the Park’s 10 remediated landfills
and forms the basis for new Maintenance of Remediation Notices issued under the
Contaminated Lands Management Act 1997.

A new SOPA Biodiversity Management Plan has been prepared by the Authority, and licensed
under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974. 

Parklands programs
A total of eight community events attracting over 29,000 people were conducted in the Parklands
and included Million Paws Walk, Eid Islamic Prayers, City of Sydney Spring Cycle, Australia Day,
Juvenile Diabetes and Alzhiemers Memory Walk.  

The Parklands provides various spaces for site hire. A total of 46,138 people were catered for with
569 site hire bookings including community, family and corporate groups.
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Parklands Plan of Management Indicators

Parklands partnerships 
A new bike hire business license was tendered and awarded. Bike hire is now available in
Bicentennial Park and Blaxland Riverside Park.  

A license was entered into for the establishment of a BMX club at the Monster BMX facility at
Parklands Junction. The license agreement with the YMCA of Sydney for the operation and
management of the Sydney Olympic Park Lodge at Newington Armory was extended to
December 2010. 

Adaptive reuse and building conservation works were completed for the Birds Australia Discovery
Centre. The Centre comprises administration, library and interpretative facilities and was officially
opened in May. The Centre will strengthen partnership opportunities with Birds Australia. The
Centre is open to the public on weekends.

The Parklands Advisory Committee met four times to consider the various Parklands
enhancements and planning initiatives and provide ongoing advice on current trends in Parklands
management and policy issues. 

Strategic actions taken
during 2008-09 that
have assisted with
meeting general
objectives of the
Parklands Plan of
Management

Future directions
The Authority is committed to continually improving the
sustainability of Sydney Olympic Park and reducing the
environmental footprint of its operations. Future directions will
include:
• revision of the Parklands Plan of Management
• implementation of the Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan 2030
• development of performance targets for key environmental

reporting indicators and working towards those targets
• continued revision of the Authority’s environmental

management system
• revision of the Authority’s Waste Reduction and Purchasing Plan
• development of an environmental strategy for

office-based activities 

• sustainability upgrade of the Bicentennial Park Field
Studies Centre

• establishment of a new waste management service agreement
• further investigations into bioremediation of leachate from

the Park’s landfills
• further investigations into energy efficiencies at the 

Aquatic Centre
• ongoing review and upgrade of existing urban elements

such as seats and lights to improve environmental
performance and reduce maintenance.
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Global Reporting Initiative disclosure index
GRI Performance indicators SOE section

Core EN1 Materials used by weight or volume Sustainable materials 
selection

Core EN2 Percentage of materials used that are recycled input materials Sustainable materials 
selection

Core EN3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source Energy, Transport
Core EN4 Indirect energy consumption by primary energy source Energy
Additional EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency improvements nr
Additional EN6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable energy-based 

products and services, and reductions in energy requirements 
as a result of these initiatives nr

Additional EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and reductions achieved Energy
Core EN8 Total water withdrawal by source Water
Additional EN9 Water sources significantly affected by withdrawal of water nr
Additional EN10 Percentage and total volume of water recycled and reused Water
Core EN11 Location and size of land owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to 

protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas nr
Core EN12 Description of significant impacts of activities, products, and services on 

biodiversity in protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value 
outside protected areas Biodiversity

Additional EN13 Habitat protected or restored Biodiversity
Additional EN14 Strategies, current actions, and future plans for managing 

impacts on biodiversity Biodiversity
Additional EN15 Number of IUCN Red List species and national conservation list 

species with habitats in areas affected by operations, 
by level of extinction risk nr

Core EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight Energy
Core EN17 Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight nr
Additional EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and reductions received Energy
Core EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight nr
Core EN20 NOx, SOx and other significant air emissions by type and weight nr
Core EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination Pollution control
Core EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method Waste management
Core EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills Pollution control
Additional EN24 Weight of transported, imported, or treated waste deemed hazardous 

under the terms of the Basel Convention Annex I, II, III, and VIII, and 
percentage of waste shipped internationally nr

Additional EN25 Identify size, protected status and biodiversity value of waterbodies 
and related habitats significantly affected by the reporting organisation’s 
discharges of water and runoff nr

Core EN26 Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products and services, 
and extent of impact mitigation nr

Core EN27 Percentage of products sold and their packaging materials that are 
reclaimed by category nr

Core EN28 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary 
sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations Pollution control

Additional EN29 Significant environmental impacts of transporting products and other 
goods and materials used for the organisation’s operations, and 
transporting members of the workforce Transport

Additional EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and investments by type nr
nr=not reported
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Return on Investment

More than $1.1 billion of developments have been
approved at Sydney Olympic Park since the Sydney
2000 Olympic and Paralympic Games including
more than $276 million in the past three years
alone, demonstrating the business community’s
confidence in the future of Sydney Olympic Park.
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Sydney Olympic Park continues to generate economic activity
and returns for the NSW Government and the people of NSW.
For example, the Royal Easter Show generates economic benefits
in the order of $4.6 million per annum.

In addition to contributing 50 per cent of its annual operating
cash expenses (excluding depreciation) during 2008-09 through
revenue from operations, the Authority has paid $6.6 million to
NSW Treasury from proceeds of land sales during the year.

The Authority generates returns on Government investment
through:
• economic development – contributing to approximately $6.6

million in proceeds from land development
• increasing visitation to the Park to 10 million people by 2010,

which will improve economic and social returns to NSW and
revenue to the Authority

• playing a vital role in hosting iconic sporting and
entertainment events, and attracting major national and
international events to the Park

• generating increased revenue to reduce the cost to the
Government of maintaining the precinct.

Financial returns to reduce costs to Government
Although the majority of its funding still comes from the NSW
Government, the Authority is contributing an increasing
proportion of its annual expenses from self-generated revenue.

Total expenses
The Authority’s expenditure has remained steady despite
greater demands on maintenance and increasing visitation and
activation of the precinct.

Current expenditure covers:
• Sydney Olympic Park operations, including maintenance of

the parklands and parklands education programs
• the operation of government-owned sports venues,

including the Aquatic, Athletic and Archery Centres, the
Hockey Centre and the indoor Sports Centre and Halls

• property and asset management, including maintenance of
pavements, heritage buildings, community facility buildings,
public spaces, roads, landscape maintenance, lighting and
public art

• event management and support, including event security
and safety

• environmental services, including recycled water, leachate
treatment of remediated land, and environmental monitoring

• promoting business events, leisure tourism and the Sydney
Olympic Park brand

• urban design and town planning, including the development
of the Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan 2030, building
approvals, transport and traffic planning.

It should be noted that depreciation accounts for over 40 per
cent of total expenses. The Authority continues to review
assumptions of the estimated useful life of assets to ensure that
the depreciation expense is indicative of asset servicing profiles.
The Authority has a detailed management plan to assist future
asset replacement and renewal.

Commercial leases and contracts
The Authority generated $10.6 million in rental and recurrent
lease-related income. This included revenue from the following
tenants and venues:
• ANZ Stadium
• Acer Arena
• Accor Hotels
• Commonwealth Bank of Australia
• Royal Agricultural Society of NSW
• Sydney Olympic Park Tennis Centre
• Australian Paralympic Committee
• NSW Police
• Armory Wharf Cafe
• Jacaranda Square Cafe
• various arts, community associations and sporting groups.
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Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic, 
Athletic and Archery Centres
In 2008–09, the Authority continued to operate the Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic, Athletic and Archery Centres at better
than budget levels, further reducing the operating subsidy
provided by the NSW Government. Pleasingly, both casual
recreational and competition use of the facilities increased.

The Authority completed a number of improvements to the
centres during the reporting period. These included:
• the addition of an exciting water playground to the Aquatic

Centre in December 2008. Splasher’s Water Playground is the
only indoor aquatic playground of its size in Australia and
has contributed to the Aquatic Centre maintaining a point of
difference over competitors

• the establishment of a competition standard playing field at
Wilson Park was commenced and is scheduled to become
fully operational in late 2009

• a new track was installed at the Athletics Centre
• state-of-the-art FINA competition starting blocks were

installed at the Aquatic Centre
• management assumed responsibility for the Centres’

catering operations.

The Centres look forward to continuing success in 2009-10.

Car Parking
Car parking continues to provide a major source of revenue,
reflecting the growing number of people using Sydney Olympic
Park. This is also reflected in the increasing numbers of people
using public transport to travel to and from the Park. Around
1.48 million paid vehicles parked onsite in 2008-09 and parking
revenue was $13.2 million.

Business Events
In 2008-09, the Authority continued to work closely with Sydney
Olympic Park venues and industry bodies to attract domestic
meetings, conferences, special events and exhibitions.

Business events highlights in 2008-09 included:
• launch of new venue and site hire section for the Sydney

Olympic Park website including online venue search function
• securing commitment from all Sydney Olympic Park venues

to support the Business Events model and fully fund the
Business Events Sales Executive position

• supporting the Accor team on the official launch of the
Pullman Sydney Olympic Park by hosting a series of
familiarisation programs for media and Professional
Conference Organisers to showcase Sydney Olympic Park’s
event facilities and leisure options

• hosting four major venue showcases attracting a total of
100 new potential corporate clients to the Park.  

Overall, the business events unit reported strong results in
2008-09. The total number of leads received was 606 of which
150 were converted into new business for the Park. More
importantly, despite a reduction in departmental resources and
tightening of global economic conditions, new domestic
business secured for the Park was valued at $2.35 million.

Future challenges and direction
During 2009-10, the Authority will continue to focus on
increasing revenue from property rents and commercial hiring,
estate levies, sponsorship arrangements and car parking, thus
contributing further to the self-funding of operations.

Over the next nine years, it is anticipated that an estimated
additional revenue of $200 million will be generated from land
sales, with further distributions paid to Treasury and investment
in income-producing assets.

In driving income sources harder and targeting incremental
reductions in Treasury funding, the Authority aims to
demonstrate long-term improvement in business performance
and sustainability.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Directors’ Declaration

SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK AUTHORITY
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) and (1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, we declare that in our opinion:

1. The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 
30 June 2009 and transactions for the year then ended.

2. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005, the Treasurer’s Direction and the directives of the Financial 
Reporting Code.

Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

M Knight AO A Marsh
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

15 October 2009 15 October 2009

Financial Statements
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Operating Statement for Year Ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Authority

Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2009 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating expenses

Employee related 2(a) 19,824 18,898 19,798 0 0

Personnel services 2(b) 565 287 1,134 19,755 20,212

Other operating expenses 2(c) 53,014 47,218 46,230 52,367 45,837

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) 50,706 40,939 40,547 50,706 40,547

Grants and subsidies 2(e) 800 862 3,800 1,520 4,760

Total Expenses excluding losses 124,909 108,204 111,509 124,348 111,356

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 3(a) 28,972 26,128 24,469 28,962 24,450

Investment revenue 3(b) 13,173 10,940 11,502 13,080 11,342

Retained taxes, fees and fines 3(c) 467 350 453 467 453

Grants and contributions 3(d) 332 1,940 570 332 570

Other revenue 3(e) 1,818 183 2,239 2,623 2,829

Total Revenue 44,762 39,541 39,233 45,464 39,644

Gain/(loss) on disposal 4 (129) 0 993 (129) 993

Other gains/(losses) 5 21,946 22,085 19,859 21,946 19,859

Net Cost of Services 23 58,330 46,578 51,424 57,067 50,860

Government Contributions

Recurrent appropriation 6(a) 33,891 36,594 37,374 33,891 37,374

Capital appropriation 6(b) 6,811 6,811 5,811 6,811 5,811

(Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity) (6,596) (7,991) (23,115) (6,596) (23,115)

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits 
and other liabilities 7 808 670 590 0 0

Total Government Contributions 34,914 36,084 20,660 34,106 20,070

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR (23,416) (10,494) (30,764) (22,961) (30,790)

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Authority

Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2009 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Net increase/(decrease) in property, plant and equipment 
asset revaluation reserve 20 79,346 0 212,692 79,346 212,692

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY 79,346 0 212,692 79,346 212,692

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 20 (23,416) (10,494) (30,764) (22,961) (30,790)

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR 55,930 (10,494) 181,928 56,385 181,902

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009

Consolidated Authority

Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2009 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 36,781 45,298 39,931 34,721 37,143

Receivables 10 8,483 6,628 7,197 8,953 7,895

Inventories 11(a) 67 99 99 67 99

Prepayments 15(a) 6,781 6,781 6,781 6,781 6,781

Total Current Assets 52,112 58,806 54,008 50,522 51,918

Non-Current Assets

Inventories 11(b) 2,256 2,233 2,256 2,256 2,256

Prepayments 15(a) 139,599 139,599 146,380 139,599 146,380

Other financial assets 12 0 0 0 0 0

Property, plant and equipment

-Land and buildings 975,342 975,364 975,108 975,342 975,108

-Plant and equipment 55,808 56,392 59,376 55,808 59,376

-Infrastructure systems 402,309 336,031 349,599 402,309 349,599

Total property, plant and equipment 13 1,433,459 1,367,787 1,384,083 1,433,459 1,384,083

Investment in associates 14 0 0 0 0 0

Right to receive 15(b) 193,322 193,463 168,994 193,322 168,994

Total Non-Current Assets 1,768,636 1,703,082 1,701,713 1,768,636 1,701,713

Total Assets 1,820,748 1,761,888 1,755,721 1,819,158 1,753,631

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 17 6,151 8,061 8,184 6,134 8,155

Provisions 18 7,612 2,381 5,594 7,577 5,527

Other 19(a) 1,858 2,102 1,737 1,858 1,737

Total Current Liabilities 15,621 12,544 15,515 15,569 15,419

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 18 15 12 11 15 11

Other 19(b) 55,330 65,973 46,342 55,330 46,342

Total Non-Current Liabilities 55,345 65,985 46,353 55,345 46,353

Total Liabilities 70,966 78,529 61,868 70,914 61,772

Net Assets 1,749,782 1,683,359 1,693,853 1,748,244 1,691,859

EQUITY
Reserves 20 575,168 495,822 495,822 575,168 495,822

Accumulated funds 20 1,174,614 1,187,537 1,198,031 1,173,076 1,196,037

Total Equity 1,749,782 1,683,359 1,693,853 1,748,244 1,691,859

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Authority

Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual
2009 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee related (19,220) (18,514) (20,843) (18,560) 0

Grants and subsidies (800) (862) (3,800) (1,280) (4,760) 

Other (62,291) (60,272) (56,721) (61,568) (76,140)

Total Payments (82,311) (79,648) (81,364) (81,408) (80,900)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services 32,533 31,663 31,528 32,524 31,515

Retained taxes, fees and fines 467 350 453 467 453

Interest received 4,460 4,874 3,977 4,367 3,817

Other 23,620 30,375 25,139 23,547 25,139

Total Receipts 61,080 67,262 61,097 60,905 60,924

Cash Flows From Government

Recurrent appropriation 6(a) 33,891 36,594 37,374 33,891 37,374

Capital appropriation 6(b) 6,811 6,811 5,811 6,811 5,811

Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity (6,596) (7,991) (23,115) (6,596) (23,115)

Net Cash Flows From Government 34,106 35,414 20,070 34,106 20,070

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23 12,875 23,028 (197) 13,603 94

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 4 0 0 35 0 35

Purchases of land and buildings, plant
and equipment and infrastructure systems (16,025) (17,661) (17,608) (16,025) (17,608)

Other 4 0 0 19,008 0 19,008

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (16,025) (17,661) 1,435 (16,025) 1,435

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH (3,150) 5,367 1,238 (2,422) 1,529

Opening cash and cash equivalents 39,931 39,931 38,693 37,143 35,614

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 9 36,781 45,298 39,931 34,721 37,143

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Summary of Compliance with Financial Directives
for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2009 2008

Recurrent Expenditure Capital Expenditure Recurrent Expenditure Capital Expenditure
Appropriation Net Claim on Appropriation Net Claim on Appropriation Net Claim on Appropriation Net Claim on

Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
Fund Fund Fund Fund

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ORIGINAL BUDGET 
APPROPRIATION/ EXPENDITURE
Appropriation Act 36,594 33,891 6,811 6,811 37,375 37,374 5,811 5,811

Additional Appropriations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfers 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 36,628 33,891 6,811 6,811 37,375 37,374 5,811 5,811

OTHER APPROPRIATIONS/ 
EXPENDITURE
Treasurer's Advance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other (115) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total (115) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Appropriations/Expenditure
(includes transfer payments) 36,513 33,891 6,811 6,811 37,375 37,374 5,811 5,811

Amount drawn down 
against Appropriation 33,891 6,811 37,374 5,811

Liability to Consolidated Fund 0 0 0 0

The Summary of Compliance is based on the assumption that Consolidated Fund moneys are spent first (except where otherwise identified or prescribed).
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Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity

Sydney Olympic Park Authority (the
Authority) was established in 2001 and
took over the previous responsibilities of
the Olympic Co-ordination Authority
(OCA).

The Authority, as a reporting entity,
comprises all the entities under its
control, including the Parklands
Foundation Limited, the Office of the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority and the
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic
Centres Division.  In the process of
preparing the consolidated financial
report for the economic entity consisting
of the controlling and controlled entities,
all inter-entity transactions and balances
have been eliminated.

The Authority is consolidated as part of
the NSW Total State Sector Accounts.

The Authority is a not-for-profit entity
with no cash generating units.

This consolidated financial report has
been authorised for issue on 15 October
2009. 

(b) Basis of Preparation

The Authority’s financial report is a
general purpose financial report which
has been prepared in accordance with:

• applicable Australian Accounting
Standards (which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations);

• the requirements of the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1983 and
Regulation and

• the Financial Reporting Directions
published in the Financial Reporting
Code for Budget Dependent General
Government Sector Agencies or
issued by the Treasurer.

As mandated by the Treasurer, the
Authority has not early-adopted the
following new/revised Accounting
Standards/Interpretations:

• AASB 3 (Mar 2008), AASB 127 and
AASB 2008-3 regarding business
combinations

• AASB 8 & AASB 2007-3 regarding
operating segments

• AASB 101 (Sep 2007), AASB 2007-08
and AASB 2007-10 regarding
presentation of financial statements

• AASB 123 (June 2007) and AASB
2007-06 regarding borrowing costs

• AASB 1039 regarding concise
financial reports

• AASB 2008-1 regarding share based
payments

• AASB 2008-2 regarding puttable
financial instruments

• AASB 2008-5 and AASB 2008-6
regarding amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from
Annual Improvements Project

• AASB 2008-7 regarding costs of an
investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity, or an associate

• AASB 2008-8 regarding eligible
hedged items

• AASB 2008-9 regarding AASB 1049
amendments consistent with AASB
101

• AASB 2008-11 regarding business
combinations with not-for-profit
entities

• AASB 2009-1 regarding borrowing
costs of not for profit public sector
entities

• AASB 2009-2 regarding financial
instrument disclosures

• Interpretation 1 on changes in
existing decommisioning, restoration,
and similar liabilities

• Interpretation 12 on service
concession arrangements

• Interpretation 15 on construction of
real estate

• Interpretation 16 on hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation

• Interpretation 17 and AASB 2008-13
on distribution of non cash assets to
owners

• Interpretation 18 on transfers of
assets from customers

It is expected that the impact of the
application of the new Standards on the
Authority's financial report in the period
of initial application will not be
significant.

Property, plant and equipment are
measured at fair value. Other financial
statements items are prepared in
accordance with the historical cost
convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and
estimations made by management are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial report.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest
one thousand dollars and expressed in
Australian currency. 

(c) Statement of Compliance

The consolidated and Authority financial
statements and notes comply with
Australian Accounting Standards, which
include Australian Accounting
Interpretations.

(d) Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of
the consideration or contribution
received or receivable in accordance with
AASB 118.  Additional comments
regarding the accounting policies for the
recognition of income are discussed
below.

(i) Parliamentary Appropriations and
Contributions

Parliamentary appropriations and
contributions from other bodies
(including grants and donations) are
generally recognised as income when the
Authority obtains control over the assets
comprising the appropriations/
contributions. Control over
appropriations and contributions is
normally obtained upon the receipt of
cash.
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An exception to the above is when
appropriations are unspent at year end.
In this case, the authority to spend the
money lapses and generally the unspent
amount must be repaid to the
Consolidated Fund in the following
financial year. As a result, unspent
appropriations are accounted for as
liabilities rather than revenue.

(ii) Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised as revenue when the
Authority transfers the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets.

(iii) Rendering of Services

Revenue is recognised when the service is
provided or by reference to the stage of
completion (based on labour hours
incurred to date).

(iv) Investment Income

Interest revenue is recognised using the
effective interest method as set out in
AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. 

Rental revenue is recognised in
accordance with AASB 117 Leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.  

(e) Employee Benefits and Other
Provisions

(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave,
Sick Leave and On-Costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary benefits),
annual leave and paid sick leave that fall
due wholly within twelve months of the
reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on the
amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.

Long-term annual leave that is not
expected to be taken within twelve
months is measured at present value in
accordance with AASB 119 Employee
Benefits. Market yields on government

bonds rate are used to discount
long-term annual leave.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not
give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave taken
in the future will be greater than the
benefits accrued in the future.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax,
workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised.

(ii) Long Service Leave and
Superannuation

The Authority’s liabilities for long service
leave and defined benefit
superannuation are assumed by the
Crown Entity. The Authority accounts for
the liability as having been extinguished
resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary
revenue item described as 'Acceptance by
the Crown Entity of Employee Benefits
and Other Liabilities'.

Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in
NSWTC 09/04) to employees with five or
more years of service, using current rates
of pay. These factors were determined
based on an actuarial review to
approximate present value. New factors
are applied prospectively from 2008/09.
The change in factors is noted as change
in estimate in accordance with AASB 108
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The superannuation expense for the
financial year is determined by using the
formula specified in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain
superannuation schemes (Basic Benefit
and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. 
For other superannuation schemes (State
Superannuation Scheme and State

Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the
expense is calculated as a multiple of the
employees’ superannuation
contributions.

(iii) Other Provisions

Other provisions exist when: the
Authority has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a
past event; it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

Any provisions for restructuring are
recognised only when the Authority has a
detailed formal plan and the Authority
has raised a valid expectation in those
affected by the restructuring that it will
carry out the restructuring by starting to
implement the plan or announcing its
main features to those affected.

If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are discounted at the
government bonds rate, which is a
pre-tax rate that reflects the current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the
liability.

(f) Insurance

The Authority’s insurance activities are
primarily conducted through the NSW
Treasury Managed Fund Scheme (TMF) of
self-insurance for Government agencies.
The expense (premium) is determined by
the Fund Manager based on past claims
experience.

There are also minor commercial
insurance arrangements in place for risks
that, for commercial reasons, the
Authority has had to accept but for which
the TMF is unable to provide protection.

(g) Accounting for the Goods and
Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST
except where:
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• the amount of GST incurred by the 
Authority as a purchaser that is not 
recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office is recognised as part 
of the cost of acquisition of an asset
or as part of an item of expense.

• receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow
statement on a gross basis.  However, the
GST components of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities
which is recoverable from, or payable to,
the Australian Taxation Office are
classified as operating cash flows.

(h) Acquisitions of Assets

The cost method of accounting is used
for the initial recording of all acquisitions
of assets controlled by the Authority. Cost
is the amount of cash or cash equivalents
paid or the fair value of the other
consideration given to acquire the asset
at the time of its acqusition or
construction or, where applicable, the
amount attributed to that asset when
initially recognised in accordance with
the specific requirements of other
Australian Accounting Standards.

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal
consideration, are initially recognised as
assets and revenues at their fair value at
the date of acquisition. 

Fair value is the amount for which an
asset could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an
arm’s length transaction.

(i) Capitalisation Thresholds

Property, plant and equipment assets
costing $5,000 and above individually are
capitalised.

( j) Revaluation of Property, Plant and
Equipment

Physical non-current assets are valued in
accordance with the Treasury Policy and
Guidelines Paper TPP 07-1 Valuation of
Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value.
This policy adopts fair value in

accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant
and Equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is
measured on an existing use basis where
there are no feasible alternative uses in
the existing natural, legal, financial and
socio-political environment. However, in
the limited circumstances where there
are feasible alternative uses, assets are
valued at their highest and best use.

Fair value of property, plant and
equipment is determined based on the
best available market evidence, including
current market selling prices for the same
or similar assets. Where there is no
available market evidence, the asset's fair
value is measured at its market buying
price, the best indicator of which is
depreciated replacement cost. 

The Authority revalues each class of
property, plant and equipment at least
every five years and with sufficient
regularity to ensure that the carrying
amount of each asset in the class does
not differ materially from its fair value at
reporting date.  The last revaluation for
land and buildings and plant and
equipment was completed on 30 June
2008 by the Department of Lands. The
last valuation for infrastructure systems
was completed on 1 July 2008 by the
Department of Commerce, based on an
independent assessment.

Non-specialised assets with short useful
lives are measured at depreciated
historical cost as a surrogate for fair
value.

When revaluing non-current assets by
reference to current prices for assets
newer than those being revalued
(adjusted to reflect the present condition
of the assets), the gross amount and the
related accumulated depreciation is
separately restated. 

For other assets, any balances of
accumulated depreciation existing at the

revaluation date in respect of those
assets are credited to the asset accounts
to which they relate. The net asset
accounts are then increased or decreased
by the revaluation increments or
decrements.

Revaluation increments are credited
directly to the asset revaluation reserve,
except that, to the extent that an
increment reverses a revaluation
decrement in respect of that class of
asset previously recognised as an
expense in the operating statement, the
increment is recognised immediately as
revenue in the operating statement. 

Revaluation decrements are recognised
immediately as expenses in the operating
statement, except that, to the extent that
a credit balance exists in the asset
revaluation reserve in respect of the same
class of assets, they are debited directly
to the asset revaluation reserve.

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation
increments and decrements are offset
against one another within a class of
non-current assets, but not otherwise.

Where an asset that has previously been
revalued is disposed of, any balance
remaining in the asset revaluation
reserve in respect of that asset is
transferred to accumulated funds. 

(k) Impairment of Property, Plant and
Equipment

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash
generating units, the Authority is
effectively exempted from AASB 136
Impairment of Assets and impairment
testing. This is because AASB 136
modifies the recoverable amount test to
the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and depreciated replacement cost.
Therefore, for an asset already measured
at fair value, impairment can only arise if
selling costs are material. Selling costs are
regarded as immaterial.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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(l) Land Under Roads

Land under roads are recognised at fair
value in accordance with AASB 1051 Land
Under Roads.

(m) Depreciation of Property, Plant and 
Equipment

Depreciation is provided for on a
straight-line basis for all depreciable
assets so as to write off the depreciable
amount of each asset as it is consumed
over its useful life to the Authority. 

All material, separately-identifiable,
component assets are recognised and
depreciated over their shorter useful
lives.

Land is not a depreciable asset.

Depreciation rates for these asset
categories are:

buildings including facilities 1.3% - 20% 
and sporting venues per annum

computer equipment   25%      
per annum

office equipment   20%      
per annum

leasehold improvements period of 
lease

infrastructure  2% - 33% 
per annum

other plant and 2% - 20%
equipment    per annum

(n) Maintenance

Day-to-day servicing costs or
maintenance costs are charged as
expenses as incurred except where they
relate to the replacement of a component
of an asset, in which case the costs are
capitalised and depreciated.

(o) Leased Assets

A distinction is made between finance

leases which effectively transfer from the
lessor to the lessee all the substantial
risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased assets, and
operating leases under which the lessor
effectively retains all such risks and
benefits.

Operating lease payments are charged to
the operating statement in the periods in
which they are incurred.

(p) Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These
financial assets are recognised initially at
fair value, usually based on the
transaction cost or face value.
Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less an allowance for
any impairment of receivables. Any
changes are accounted for in the
operating statement when impaired,
derecognised or through the
amortisation process.

Short-term receivables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. 

(q) Inventories 

Inventories held for distribution are
stated at cost, adjusted when applicable,
for any loss of service potential. A loss of
service potential is identified and
measured based on the existence of a
current replacement cost that is lower
than the carrying amount.  Inventories
(other than those held for distribution)
are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average cost.

The cost of inventories acquired at no
cost or for nominal consideration is the
current replacement cost as at the date
of acquisition. Current replacement cost
is the cost the Authority would incur to

acquire the asset. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Non current inventories include land
inventory.

(r) Investments

Investment in controlled entities are
measured at cost.  Equity accounting
principles are applied in accounting for
the Authority's investment in associates
in the consolidated accounts.

Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. The Authority
determines the classification of its
financial assets after initial recognition
and, when allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates this at each financial year
end.

The Authority subsequently measures
investments classified as 'held for
trading' or designated upon initial
recognition 'at fair value through profit or
loss' at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as 'held for trading' if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the
near term. Derivatives are also classified
as held for trading. Gains or losses on
these assets are recognised in the
operating statement. 

The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are
designated at fair value through profit or
loss using the second leg of the fair value
option i.e. these financial assets are
managed and their performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk
management strategy, and information
about these assets is provided internally
on that basis to the Authority’s key
management personnel.

The movement in the fair value of the
Hour-Glass Investment Facilities
incorporates distributions received as

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009
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well as unrealised movements in fair
value and is reported in the line item
‘investment revenue’.

Purchases or sales of investments under
contract that require delivery of the asset
within the timeframe established by
convention or regulation are recognised
on the trade date: the date the entity
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The fair value of investments that are
traded at fair value in an active market is
determined by reference to quoted
current bid prices at the close of business
on the balance sheet date.

(s) Other Financial Assets

Other financial assets are generally
recognised at cost.

(t) Impairment of Financial Assets

All financial assets, except those
measured at fair value through profit and
loss, are subject to an annual review for
impairment. An allowance for
impairment is established when there is
objective evidence that the entity will not
be able to collect all amounts due. 

For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the allowance is the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The amount
of the impairment loss is recognised in
the operating statement. 

Any reversals of impairment losses are
reversed through the operating
statement, where there is objective
evidence, except reversals of impairment
losses on an investment in an equity
instrument classified as 'available for
sale' must be made through the reserve.
Reversals of impairment losses of
financial assets carried at amortised cost
cannot result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the carrying amount would
have been had there not been an
impairment loss.

(u) Major Repairs Funds

Under the terms of the lease between
the Authority and the Royal Agricultural
Society of New South Wales (RAS), the
Authority is required to maintain a Major
Repairs Fund (MRF). The MRF is to be
used for major repairs undertaken to
preserve and prolong the useful,
economic life span of the Sydney
Showground during the lease term.

NSW Treasury provides the Authority
with funding for major repairs of the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic
Centres (SOPAAC). This MRF is to be used
for major repairs undertaken to  preserve
and prolong the useful, economic life
span of the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic
and Athletic Centres.

The MRFs at reporting date are treated as
restricted assets.  Refer Note 16.

(v) Privately Financed Projects

In respect of the ANZ Stadium and Acer
Arena facilities which were funded,
developed and initially managed by the
private sector, the Authority has adopted
Treasury Policy and Guidelines Paper TPP
06-8 Accounting for Privately Financed
Projects. Practical completion dates of
the ANZ Stadium and Acer Arena
occurred on 1 March 1999 and 30 August
1999 respectively. Both venues will revert
to the Authority on expiry of the lease in
2031.

The Authority's share of the reversionary
interest in the ANZ Stadium and Acer
Arena is recognised as revenue and a
non-current asset whose value emerges
during the lease period. The value is
allocated during the lease period as if it
were the compound value of an annuity
discounted at the NSW Government
bond rate applicable to the Authority at
the commencement of the lease period.  

During the lease period, the fair value of
the right to receive increases or
decreases, the movement is recognised in
accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant

and Equipment as if the right is an item
of property to which that standard
applies. Refer Note 15(a), 15(b).

(w) Equity Transfers 

The transfer of net assets between
agencies as a result of an administrative
restructure, transfers of programs /
functions and parts thereof between
NSW public sector agencies and ‘equity
appropriations’ are designated or
required by Accounting Standards to be
treated as contributions by owners and
recognised as an adjustment to
“Accumulated Funds”. This treatment is
consistent with AASB 1004 Contributions
and Australian Interpretation 1038
Contributions by Owners Made to
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities.

Transfers arising from an administrative
restructure involving not-for-profit
entities and for-profit government
departments are recognised at the
amount at which the asset was
recognised by the transferor immediately
prior to the restructure. Subject to below,
in most instances this will approximate
fair value.

All other equity transfers are recognised
at fair value, except for intangibles.
Where an intangible has been recognised
at (amortised) cost by the transferor
because there is no active market, the
agency recognises the asset at the
transferor’s carrying amount. Where the
transferor is prohibited from recognising
internally generated intangibles, the
agency does not recognise that asset.

(x) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for
goods and services provided to the
Authority and other amounts. Payables
are recognised initially at fair value,
usually based on the transaction cost or
face value. Subsequent measurement is
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Short-term payables
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with no stated interest rate are measured
at the original invoice amount where the
effect of discounting is immaterial.

(y) Budgeted Amounts

The budgeted amounts are drawn from
the budgets as formulated at the
beginning of the financial year and with
any adjustments for the effects of
additional appropriations under s 21A, s
24, and/or s 26 of the Public Finance and
Audit Act 1983.

The budgeted amounts in the operating
statement and the cash flow statement
are generally based on the amounts

disclosed in the NSW Budget Papers (as
adjusted above). However, in the balance
sheet, the amounts vary from the Budget
Papers, as the opening balances of the
budgeted amounts are based on carried
forward actual amounts, per the audited
financial statements (rather than carried
forward estimates).

(z) Comparative Information

Except when an Australian Accounting
Standard permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information is disclosed in
respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial
statements.
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Consolidated Authority

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Employee Related Expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 16,272 16,437 0 0

Superannuation - defined benefit plans 7 299 341 0 0

Superannuation  - defined contribution plans 1,204 1,182 0 0

Long service leave 7 491 229 0 0

Workers' compensation insurance 351 300 0 0

Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 1,207 1,309 0 0

19,824 19,798 0 0

(b)Personnel services
Contractors and temporary agency staff 565 1,134 565 1,086

Personnel services 0 0 19,190 19,126

565 1,134 19,755 20,212

(c) Other Operating Expenses
Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the financial reports 90 97 87 97

Insurance 955 1,015 953 1,013

Asset management 4,275 3,643 4,269 3,643

Operating lease rental expense - minimum lease payments 1,353 1,343 1,352 1,333

Administration 3,512 3,169 3,395 3,119

Advertising and promotion 2,589 2,947 2,453 2,874

Activity and entertainment 1,994 1,946 1,977 1,931

Maintenance 21,538 16,817 21,537 16,817

Site services 10,092 10,234 9,778 10,018

Utilities 2,900 2,910 2,900 2,910

Information technology 623 751 579 733

Other 3,093 1,358 3,087 1,349

53,014 46,230 52,367 45,837

Maintenance reconciliation:
Maintenance expenses, as above 21,538 16,817 21,537 16,817

Maintenance related personnel services included in Note 2(a) 1,224 1,261 0 0

22,762 18,078 21,537 16,817

(d)Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses

Depreciation

Land and buildings 9,919 7,319 9,919 7,319

Plant and equipment 4,561 3,065 4,561 3,065

Infrastructure systems 29,445 23,382 29,445 23,382

13 43,925 33,766 43,925 33,766

Amortisation
Amortisation - Prepayments 6,781 6,781 6,781 6,781

50,706 40,547 50,706 40,547
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Consolidated Authority

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

(e)Grants and Subsidies

Roads and Traffic Authority 0 3,000 0 3,000

State Sports Centre Trust 800 800 800 800

Parklands Foundation Limited 0 0 720 960

800 3,800 1,520 4,760

3. REVENUE
(a) Sale of Goods and Services

Estate levies 3,791 3,699 3,791 3,699

Car parking 13,201 10,280 13,201 10,280

Aquatic and Athletic Centres 7,874 6,978 7,874 6,978

Other 4,106 3,512 4,096 3,493

28,972 24,469 28,962 24,450

(b)Investment Revenue

Interest on bank 834 1,346 741 1,186

Interest on advances 2,382 2,156 2,382 2,156

Interest on TCorp Hour Glass cash facility 3,195 2,524 3,195 2,524

Rents and leases 6,762 5,476 6,762 5,476

13,173 11,502 13,080 11,342

(c) Retained Taxes, Fees and Fines

Parking infringements 467 453 467 453

467 453 467 453

(d)Grants and Contributions

Tennis NSW 8 532 8 532

Developer contributions 324 38 324 38

332 570 332 570

The Authority has entered into land development agreements on the condition that a component of proceeds will be attributed 
to the provision of public infrastructure.  The nature of this infrastructure is detailed in the Authority Infrastructure Funding Plan.
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Consolidated Authority

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

(e)Other Revenue

Resources free of charge 7 0 0 808 590

Sponsorships and Contributions 518 749 515 749

Other 1,300 1,490 1,300 1,490

1,818 2,239 2,623 2,829

4. GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL
Gain/(loss) on disposal of receivable on asset sold

Proceeds from disposal 0 19,008 0 19,008

Carrying value of assets disposed 0 (18,000) 0 (18,000)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of receivable on asset sold 0 1,008 0 1,008

Gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal 0 35 0 35

Written down value of assets disposed 13 (129) (50) (129) (50)

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment (129) (15) (129) (15)

Gain/(loss) on disposal (129) 993 (129) 993

The Authority has entered into contracts for the sale and long-term lease for 
residential and commercial sites. Sale is however conditional on certain 
pre-sales and pre-commitments being achieved.

5. OTHER GAIN/(LOSS)
Right to receive 15(b) 24,328 22,062 24,328 22,062

Impairment of receivables 10,12 (2,382) (2,156) (2,382) (2,156)

Share of net profit/(loss) of associate 14 0 (47) 0 (47)

21,946 19,859 21,946 19,859

6. APPROPRIATIONS
(a) Recurrent Appropriations

Total recurrent drawdowns from NSW Treasury

(per Summary of Compliance) 33,891 37,374 33,891 37,374

33,891 37,374 33,891 37,374

(b)Capital Appropriations

Total capital drawdowns from NSW Treasury

(per Summary of Compliance) 6,811 5,811 6,811 5,811

6,811 5,811 6,811 5,811
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Consolidated Authority

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

7. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The following liabilities and/or expenses 
have been assumed by the Crown Entity:

Superannuation - Defined benefit 2(a) 299 341 0 0

Long service leave 2(a) 491 229 0 0

Payroll tax on superannuation 18 20 0 0

3(e) 808 590 0 0

8. SERVICE GROUP/ACTIVITIES OF THE AUTHORITY

(a) Service Group - Precinct Management and 
Development Objective:
This service group contributes to the development of 
a high quality living and working environment and 
providing venues for sporting, leisure, artistic and 
cultural activities by working towards a range of 
intermediate results that include the following:

• increasing visits to Sydney Olympic Park
• achieving sustainable urban development 

outcomes
• accommodating new jobs closer to home
• maintaining Sydney Olympic Park as a major 

events precinct and
• improving the Government's return on 

investment in Sydney Olympic Park

Description:
This service group covers the promotion, 
development and management of the 
Sydney Olympic Park precinct.

(b) Service Group Statement – Expenses and Revenues
The Authority operates as one service group. The 
expenses and revenues of this group are as reflected 
in the operating statement.

Consolidated Authority

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

9. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand 11,819 13,976 9,759 11,188

TCorp Hour-Glass cash facility 24,962 25,955 24,962 25,955

24 36,781 39,931 34,721 37,143

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Balance Sheet 
are reconciled at the end of the financial year to the Cash Flow 
Statement as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (per Balance Sheet) 36,781 39,931 34,721 37,143

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Cash Flow Statement) 36,781 39,931 34,721 37,143
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Consolidated Authority

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

10. CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
Current Receivables

Trade debtors 4,299 1,134 4,293 1,130

Less: Allowance for impairment 0 0 0 0

Interest receivable 282 713 282 713

GST receivable 1,082 2,162 1,083 2,145

Prepayments 1,604 1,536 2,079 2,256

Accrued income 818 1,054 818 1,053

Other 398 598 398 598

8,483 7,197 8,953 7,895

Movement in the allowance for impairment

Balance at 1 July 0 187 0 187

Amounts written off during the year (49) (51) (49) (51)

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss 49 (136) 49 (136)

Balance at 30 June 0 0 0 0

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including 
financial assets that are either past due or impaired, are disclosed in Note 24.

11. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS - INVENTORIES
(a) Current Inventories - held for resale

Stock at cost 67 99 67 99

67 99 67 99

(b)Non Current Inventories  - held for resale

Land Inventory - Acquisition 637 637 637 637

- Development 1,619 1,619 1,619 1,619

- Other 0 0 0 0

Land inventory at cost 2,256 2,256 2,256 2,256

12. NON CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Advances receivable 12,000 12,000 12,000 12,000

Interest on advances 12,945 10,563 12,945 10,563

24 24,945 22,563 24,945 22,563

Less:  Allowance for impairment 24 (24,945) (22,563) (24,945) (22,563)

0 0 0 0

Movement in the allowance for impairment

Balance at 1 July 22,563 20,407 22,563 20,407

Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss 2,382 2,156 2,382 2,156

Balance at 30 June 24,945 22,563 24,945 22,563

Refer to Note 24 for further information regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.
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Land and Plant and Infrastructure
Notes Buildings Equipment Systems Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

13. NON CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT (AUTHORITY ONLY)
2009

At 1 July 2008 - fair value
Gross carrying amount 1,100,183 104,163 564,213 1,768,559
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (125,075) (44,787) (214,614) (384,476)

Net Carrying Amount 975,108 59,376 349,599 1,384,083

At 30 June 2009 - fair value
Gross carrying amount 1,110,336 104,752 679,420 1,894,508
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (134,994) (48,944) (277,111) (461,049)

Net Carrying Amount 975,342 55,808 402,309 1,433,459

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant 
and equipment at the beginning and the end of current reporting period 
is set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2009
Net carrying amount at start of year 975,108 59,376 349,599 1,384,083
Additions 10,153 1,122 2,809 14,084
Disposals 4 0 (129) 0 (129)
Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrements 20 0 0 79,346 79,346
Depreciation expense 2(d) (9,919) (4,561) (29,445) (43,925)
Reclassifications - asset class 0 0 0 0 0

Net carrying amount at end of year 975,342 55,808 402,309 1,433,459

2008

At 1 July 2007 - fair value
Gross carrying amount 888,491 83,099 537,506 1,509,096
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (98,361) (40,573) (183,455) (322,389)

Net Carrying Amount 790,130 42,526 354,051 1,186,707

At 30 June 2008 - fair value
Gross carrying amount 1,100,183 104,163 564,213 1,768,559
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (125,075) (44,787) (214,614) (384,476)

Net Carrying Amount 975,108 59,376 349,599 1,384,083

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant 
and equipment at the beginning and the end of the current reporting period 
is set out below.

Year ended 30 June 2008
Net carrying amount at start of year 790,130 42,526 354,051 1,186,707
Additions 3,443 357 14,700 18,500
Disposals 0 (50) 0 (50)
Net revaluation increment less revaluation decrements 20 191,873 20,819 0 212,692
Depreciation expense 2(d) (7,319) (3,065) (23,382) (33,766)
Reclassifications - asset class (3,019) (1,211) 4,230

Net carrying amount at end of year 975,108 59,376 349,599 1,384,083
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Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
Carrying amount as at 1 July 0 47 0 47

Share of net profits/(loss) for the year 0 (47) 0 (47)

Carrying amount as at 30 June 0 0 0 0

The Authority, the University of Sydney and the University of Technology, Sydney were the successful consortium
for the establishment of an International Centre of Excellence for Sports Science and Management (Sport 
Knowledge Australia).  The investment in Sport Knowledge Australia is an equal share to each of the three 
parties On 12 May 2008, the Authority's shares in Sport Knowledge Australia were transferred 
to the University of Sydney.

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

Retained Profit - Opening balance 0 47 0 47

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities 5 0 (47) 0 (47)

Retained Profit - Closing balance 0 0 0 0

15. PRIVATELY FINANCED PROJECTS
(a) Prepayments - ANZ Stadium and Acer Arena

Prepayments (current) 6,781 6,781 6,781 6,781

Prepayments (non current) 139,599 146,380 139,599 146,380

1(v) 146,380 153,161 146,380 153,161

(b) Right to receive - ANZ Stadium and Acer Arena

Carrying amount at 1 July 168,994 146,932 168,994 146,932

Gain/(loss) for the year 5 24,328 22,062 24,328 22,062

Carrying amount at 30 June 1(v) 193,322 168,994 193,322 168,994

16. RESTRICTED ASSETS
Major repairs fund – RAS 14,116 15,796 14,116 15,796

Major repairs fund – SOPAAC 112 2,775 112 2,775

Developer contributions and proceeds of development right 7,574 7,640 7,574 7,640

Parklands Foundation Limited 2,060 2,788 0 0

23,862 28,999 21,802 26,211

17. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES
Creditors and accrued expenses 5,294 7,890 5,286 7,864

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 18 857 294 0 0

Personnel services 18 0 0 848 291

6,151 8,184 6,134 8,155

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables, are disclosed in Note 24.
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Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

18. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Recreation leave 1,343 1,497 0 0

Other 431 340 0 0

1,774 1,837 0 0

Other Provisions

Rectification - Sydney Showground 5,853 3,768 5,853 3,768

Personnel services 0 0 1,739 1,770

5,853 3,768 7,592 5,538

Total Provisions 7,627 5,605 7,592 5,538

Aggregate Employee Benefits and related On-costs

Provisions - current 1,759 1,826 0 0

Provisions - non current 15 11 0 0

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 17 857 294 0 0

Personnel services - provisions - current 0 0 1,724 1,759

Personnel services - provisions - non current 0 0 15 11

Personnel services - accruals 17 0 0 848 291

2,631 2,131 2,587 2,061

The Authority has agreed to fund rectification works at the Sydney 
Showground expected to be paid in the following financial year.  
The movement in the provision is set out below:

Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year 3,768 4,413 3,768 4,413

Additional provisions recognised 2,774 0 2,774 0

Amounts used (689) (645) (689) (645)

Carrying amount at the end of financial year 5,853 3,768 5,853 3,768

19. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES - OTHER
(a) Current Liabilities - Other

Security deposits 24 279 488 279 488

Deferred long term lease income 521 389 521 389

Other 1,058 860 1,058 860

1,858 1,737 1,858 1,737

(b) Non Current Liabilities - Other

Deferred long term lease income 55,330 46,342 55,330 46,342

55,330 46,342 55,330 46,342
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Accumulated Funds Asset Revaluation Reserve

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

20. CHANGES IN EQUITY

(a) Consolidated

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,198,031 1,228,795 495,822 283,130 1,693,853 1,511,925

Changes in Equity - Other Than 
Transactions with Owners as Owners

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (23,416) (30,764) 0 0 (23,416) (30,764)

Increment/(decrement) on revaluation of:

Land and buildings 13 0 0 0 191,873 0 191,873

Infrastructure systems 13 0 0 79,346 0 79,346 0

Plant and equipment 13 0 0 0 20,819 0 20,819

Total (23,416) (30,764) 79,346 212,692 55,930 181,928

Balance at the end of the financial year 1,174,614 1,198,031 575,168 495,822 1,749,782 1,693,853

(b) Authority

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,196,037 1,226,827 495,822 283,130 1,691,859 1,509,957

Changes in Equity - Other Than 
Transactions with Owners as Owners

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (22,961) (30,790) 0 0 (22,961) (30,790)

Increment/(decrement) on revaluation of:

Land and buildings 13 0 0 0 191,873 0 191,873

Infrastructure 13 0 0 79,346 0 79,346 0

Plant and equipment 13 0 0 0 20,819 0 20,819

Total (22,961) (30,790) 79,346 212,692 56,385 181,902

Balance at the end of the financial year 1,173,076 1,196,037 575,168 495,822 1,748,244 1,691,859

Total Equity
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Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

21. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property development 
services contracted for at balance date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 15 1,132 15 1,132

Total (including GST) 15 1,132 15 1,132

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of other construction 
contracted for at balance date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 1,046 3,319 1,046 3,319

Total (including GST) 1,046 3,319 1,046 3,319

(b) Other Expenditure Commitments

Aggregate other expenditure contracted for 
at balance date and not provided for:

Not later than one year 4,252 1,778 4,252 1,778

Total (including GST) 4,252 1,778 4,252 1,778

(c) Operating Lease Commitments

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals not provided for and payable:

Not later than one year 1,237 1,474 1,237 1,474

Later than one year and not later than 5 years 904 2,038 904 2,038

Total (including GST) 2,141 3,512 2,141 3,512

The Authority's operating leases relate to property and motor vehicles.

The total expenditure commitments above include input tax credits of $658,000 ($886,000 in 2008) 
which are expected to be recovered from the Australian Taxation Office.
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22. BUDGET REVIEW
(a) Net Cost of Services

The actual net cost of services was $11.7 million 
higher than budget. The main variances were:
• higher other operating costs of $5.8 million 

mainly in additional maintenance expenditure 
funded mainly from additional revenue

• higher depreciation and amortisation costs of 
$9.8 million resulting from recent valuations to 
land and buildings and infrastructure.

• higher sale of goods and services of $2.8 million 
mainly from additional car parking revenue.

• additional investment revenue of $2.2 million 
mainly from interest revenue.

(b) Assets and Liabilities
Total assets were $58.9 million above budget. The 
material variances are:
• lower cash balances of $8.5 million mainly in 

restricted cash items
• higher infrastructure value of $66.3 million 

resulting mainly from the recent valuation of 
these assets.

Total liabilities were below budget by $7.5 million. 
The material variances were:
• lower payables of $1.9 million mainly in lower 

accruals
• higher current provision of $5.2 million is mainly 

for rectification works for the Sydney 
Showground

• lower other non-current liabilities of $10.6 
million relates to lower development proceeds 
received

(c) Cash Flows
Net cash flows from operating activities were $10.2 
million below budget. The material variances were:
• higher other payments of $2.7 million mainly in 

additional maintenance expenditure
• lower other receipts of $6.2 million relates mainly 

to lower development proceeds received
• the requirement for recurrent appropriation to 

meet the Authority's operating activities was $2.7 
million lower

• the payment to the Crown from development 
proceeds was lower by $1.4 million due to lower 
development proceeds received.
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Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'0000

23. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES

Net Cash Used on Operating Activities 12,875 (197) 13,603 94

Cash flows from Government/Appropriations 6 (40,702) (43,185) (40,702) (43,185)

Asset sale proceeds transferred to the Crown Entity 6,596 23,115 6,596 23,115

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee
benefits and other liabilities 7 (808) (590) 0 0

Depreciation and amortisation 2(d) (50,706) (40,547) (50,706) (40,547)

Impairment of receivables 5 2,382 2,156 2,382 2,156

Net gain/(loss) on disposal 4 (129) 993 (129) 993

Other gains/(losses) 5 21,946 19,859 21,946 19,859

Increase/(decrease) in receivables 1,253 (2,636) 1,025 (2,892)

Decrease/(increase) in payables 88 1,144 74 1,047

Decrease/(increase) in employee provisions (45) 0 (76) 36

Decrease/(increase) in other current liabilities (1,960) 1,790 (1,960) 1,790

Decrease/(increase) in prepaid long term lease (9,120) (13,326) (9,120) (13,326)

Net Cost of Services (58,330) (51,424) (57,067) (50,860)



Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2008–09  85

Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Authority

2009 2008 2009 2008
Category Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Authority's principal financial instruments are outlined
below.  These financial instruments arise directly from the
Authority’s operations or are required to finance the
Authority’s operations.  The Authority does not enter into or
trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes. 

The Authority’s main risks arising from financial
instruments are outlined below, together with the
Authority’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring

and managing risk.  Further quantitative and qualitative
disclosures are included throughout this financial report.

The Audit and Compliance Committee has overall
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk
management and reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks.  Risk management policies are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Authority, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor
risks.  Compliance with policies is reviewed by the Audit and
Compliance Committee on a continuous basis.  

(a) Financial Instrument Category

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents N/A 9 36,781 39,931 34,721 37,143

Receivables 1. Receivables (at amortised cost) 5,791 3,495 5,791 3,495

Advances receivable Advances (at amortised cost) 12 24,945 22,563 24,945 22,563

Less:  Allowance for impairment 12 (24,945) (22,563) (24,945) (22,563)

42,572 43,426 40,512 40,638

Financial Liabilities

Payables 2. Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost 6,032 8,016 6,032 8,016

Other Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost 19(a) 279 488 279 488

6,311 8,504 6,311 8,504

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the 
Authority’s debtors defaulting on their contractual 
obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Authority.  
The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally 
represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets
(net of any allowance for impairment).  

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Authority,
including cash, receivables and authority deposits.  No 
collateral is held by the Authority.  The Authority has not 
granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk associated with the Authority's assets, other 
than receivables, is managed through the selection of 
counterparties and establishment of minimum credit 
rating standards.  Authority deposits held with NSW TCorp
are guaranteed by the State.

Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within 
the Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily 
bank balances at the monthly average NSW TCorp 
11.00am unofficial cash rate adjusted for a management 
fee to Treasury. The TCorp Hour Glass cash facility is 
discussed in paragraph (d) below.



86 Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2008–09

Sydney Olympic Park Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Receivables - trade debtors

All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at
balance date. Collectibility of trade debtors is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Procedures established in the Treasurer’s
Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts,
including letters of demand.  Debts which are known to be
uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is
raised when there is objective evidence that the entity will
not be able to collect all amounts due.  This evidence
includes past experience, and current and expected changes
in economic conditions and debtor credit ratings.  No
interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made on COD
terms. 

The Authority is not materially exposed to concentrations of
credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors.  Based
on past experience, debtors that are less than 3 months past
due (2009: $4.2 million; 2008: $1.1 million) are not
considered impaired and together these represent 97% of
the total trade debtors.  There are no debtors which are
currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been
renegotiated.

The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are
‘trade debtors’ in the ‘receivables’ category of the balance
sheet.  

2009

< 3 months overdue 4,188 4,188 0

3 months - 6 months overdue 111 111 0

> 6 months overdue 0 0 0

2008

< 3 months overdue 1,130 1,130 0

3 months - 6 months overdue 4 4 0

> 6 months overdue 0 0 0

Notes
1. Each column in the table reports ‘gross receivables’.
2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and excludes receivables that 

are not past due and not impaired.  Therefore, the ‘total’ will not reconcile to the receivables total recognised in the balance sheet.

$’000 $’000 $’000
Past due 
but not Considered

Total 1.2 impaired 1,2 impaired 1,2

Authority Deposits
The Authority has placed funds on deposit with TCorp, which
has been rated 'AAA' by Standard and Poor’s. These deposits are
similar to money market or bank deposits and are placed 'at
call'. The deposits at balance date were earning an average
interest rate of 5.36% (2008–  6.81%), while over the year the
weighted average interest rate was 4.87% (2008 – 6.75%) on a
weighted average balance during the year of $33.4 million
(2008 – $34.3 million).  None of these assets are past due or
impaired.

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will be unable to
meet its payment obligations when they fall due.  The Authority
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash
flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of
high quality liquid assets.  The objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of overdrafts, loans and other advances.

During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or
breaches on any loans payable.  No assets have been pledged as
collateral.   The Authority’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed
insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current
assessment of risk.  

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the
future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced.
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled
in accordance with the policy set out in Treasurer’s Direction
219.01. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no
later than the end of the month following the month in which
an invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction
219.01 allows the Minister to award interest for late payment. 

The Authority's financial liabilities included in Note 24(a) will
mature in less than 1 year. 
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(d)  Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices.  The Authority’s exposures to market risk
are primarily through interest rate risk on the Authority's
borrowings and other price risks associated with the
movement in the unit price of the TCorp Hour Glass
Investment facilities.  The Authority has no exposure to
foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity
contracts. 

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible
change in risk variable is outlined in the information below,
for interest rate risk and other price risk.  A reasonably
possible change in risk variable has been determined after

taking into account the economic environment in which the
Authority operates and the time frame for the assessment
(ie until the end of the next annual reporting period).  The
sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at
the balance sheet date.  The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2009.  The analysis assumes that all other
variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk
A reasonably possible change of  +/- 1% is used, consistent 
with current trends in interest rates.  The basis will be
reviewed annually and amended where there is a structural
change in the level of interest rate volatility.  The Authority's
exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.   

$’000
-1% 1%

Carrying
amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2009

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 36,781 (368) (368) 368 368

Receivables 8,483 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities

Payables 6,151 0 0 0 0

2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 39,931 (399) (399) 399 399

Receivables 7,197 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities

Payables 8,184 0 0 0 0

Other price risk – TCorp Hour Glass facilities
Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities, which are held
for strategic rather than trading purposes.  The Authority has no direct equity investments.  The Authority holds units in the 
following Hour-Glass investment trusts:

Facility  Investment Sectors  Investment horizon 2009  2008
$’000 $’000

Cash facility Cash, money market instruments Up to 2 years 24,962 25,955 
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The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value
of net assets held by the facility divided by the total number
of units on issue for that facility.  Unit prices are calculated
and published daily.

NSW TCorp as trustee for the above facility is required to act
in the best interest of the unitholders and to administer the
trusts in accordance with the trust deeds.  As trustee, TCorp
has appointed external managers to manage the
performance and risks of the facility in accordance with a
mandate agreed by the parties.  However, TCorp, acts as
manager for part of the Cash Facility.  A significant portion of
the administration of the facilities is outsourced to an
external custodian.

Investment in the Hour Glass facilities limits the Authority's
exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of
funds, with different investment horizons and a mix of
investments.  

NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for the
facility, using historically based volatility information.  The
TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities are designated at fair
value through profit or loss and therefore any change in unit
price impacts directly on profit (rather than equity)

Impact on profit/loss 

Change in 2009 2008
unit price $’000 $’000

Hour Glass Investment – Cash facility +/- 1% 250 260

A reasonable possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price multiplied by the redemption price as at 30 June
each year for each facility (as advised by TCorp).

(e)  Fair Value
Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with
the exception of the TCorp Hour Glass facilities, which are
measured at fair value.  As discussed, the value of the Hour
Glass Investments is based on the Authority’s share of the
value of the underlying assets of the facility, based on the
market value.  All of the Hour Glass facilities are valued using
‘redemption’ pricing.  

Except where specified, the amortised cost of financial
instruments recognised in the balance sheet approximates
the fair value, because of the short term nature of many of
the financial instruments.  There is no financial instruments
where the fair value differs from the carrying amount as at
the reporting date.

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities.

26. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

There are no events after Balance Sheet date that would 
have a material impact on the financial report.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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OFFICE OF THE SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK AUTHORITY
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) and (1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, we declare that in our opinion:

1. The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the Office’s financial position as at 
30 June 2009 and transactions for the year then ended.

2. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005, the Treasurer’s Direction and the directives of the Financial 
Reporting Code.

Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

A Marsh N Hubble
Chief Executive Officer General Manager, 

Commercial and Corporate

30 September 2009 30 September 2009
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

EXPENSES
Employee related 2 13,351 13,683

Total Expenses 13,351 13,683

REVENUE
Personnel Services 12,575 13,077

Total Revenue 12,575 13,077

Net Cost of Services 8 776 606

GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 3 776 606

Total Government Contributions 776 606

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 7 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Statement of Recognised Income and 
Expense for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 7 0 0

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Receivables 4(a) 1,901 1,609

Total Current Assets 1,901 1,609

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 4(b) 15 11

Total Non-Current Assets 15 11

Total Assets 1,916 1,620

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 5 586 191

Provisions 6 1,315 1,418

Total Current Liabilities 1,901 1,609

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 6 15 11

Total Non- Current Liabilities 15 11

Total Liabilities 1,916 1,620

Net Assets 0 0

EQUITY
Accumulated funds 0 0

Total Equity 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee related (12,281) (13,693)

Total Payments (12,281) (13,693)

Receipts

Personnel services 12,281 13,693

Total Receipts 12,281 13,693

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8 0 0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 0 0

Opening cash and cash equivalents 0 0

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity

The Office of the Sydney Olympic Park
Authority (the Office) is a Division of the
Government Service,  established
pursuant to Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the
Public Sector Employment and
Management Act 2002.  It is a
not-for-profit entity as profit is not its
principal objective. It is consolidated as
part of the NSW Total State Sector
Accounts.  It is domiciled in Australia and
its principal office is at 7 Figtree Drive,
Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127.

The Office's objective is to provide
personnel services to the  Sydney Olympic
Park Authority.

The Office commenced operations in
2001 when it assumed responsibility for
the employees and employee-related
liabilities of the Olympic Co-Ordination
Authority. The assumed liabilities were
recognised in 2001 together with an
offsetting receivable representing the
related funding due from the former
employer.

The financial report was authorised for
issue by the Chief Executive Officer on 30
September 2009. 

(b) Basis of Preparation

This is a general purpose financial report
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations, the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1983, and specific
directions issued by the Treasurer.

As mandated by the Treasurer, the Office
has not early-adopted the following
new/revised Accounting
Standards/Interpretations:

• AASB 3 (Mar 2008), AASB 127 and
AASB 2008-3 regarding business
combinations

• AASB 8 & AASB 2007-3 regarding
operating segments

• AASB 101 (Sep 2007), AASB 2007-08
and AASB 2007-10 regarding
presentation of financial statements

• AASB 123 (June 2007) and AASB
2007-06 regarding borrowing costs

• AASB 1039 regarding concise
financial reports

• AASB 2008-1 regarding share based
payments

• AASB 2008-2 regarding puttable
financial instruments

• AASB 2008-5 and AASB 2008-6
regarding amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from
Annual Improvements Project

• AASB 2008-7 regarding costs of an
investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity, or an associate

• AASB 2008-8 regarding eligible
hedged items

• AASB 2008-9 regarding AASB 1049
amendments consistent with AASB
101

• AASB 2008-11 regarding business
combinations with not-for-profit
entities

• AASB 2009-1 regarding borrowing
costs of not for profit public sector
entities

• AASB 2009-2 regarding financial
instrument disclosures

• Interpretation 1 on changes in
existing decommisioning, restoration,
and similar liabilities

• Interpretation 12 on service
concession arrangements

• Interpretation 15 on construction of
real estate

• Interpretation 16 on hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation

• Interpretation 17 and AASB 2008-13
on distribution of non cash assets to
owners

• Interpretation 18 on transfers of
assets from customers

It is expected that the impact of the
application of the new Standards on the
Office's financial report in the period of
initial application will not be significant.

The accrual basis of accounting has been
adopted in the preparation of the
financial report, except for cash flow
information.

Management's judgements, key
assumptions and estimations are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial report.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest
one thousand dollars and are expressed
in Australian currency. 

(c) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements and notes
comply with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations.

(d) Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable
in accordance with AASB 118.  Revenue
from the rendering of personnel services
is recognised when the service is
provided and only to the extent that the
associated recoverable expenses are
recognised.

(e) Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an
active market. These financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face
value. Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less an allowance for
any impairment of receivables. Any
changes are accounted for in the
operating statement when impaired,
derecognised or through the
amortisation process.

Short-term receivables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. 

(f) Payables

Payables include accrued wages, salaries,
and related on-costs (such as payroll tax,
fringe benefits tax and workers’
compensation insurance) where there is
certainty as to the amount and timing of
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settlement.

A payable is recognised when a present
obligation arises under a contract or
otherwise. It is derecognised when the
obligation expires or is discharged,
cancelled or substituted. 

A short-term payable with no stated
interest rate is measured at historical
cost if the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

(g) Employee Benefit Provisions and 
Expenses

(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave, 
Sick Leave and On-Costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary benefits),
annual leave and paid sick leave that fall
due wholly within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on the
amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. 

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not
give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave taken
in the future will be greater than the

benefits accrued in the future.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax,
workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised.

(ii) Long Service Leave and 
Superannuation

The Office’s liabilities for long service
leave and defined benefit
superannuation are assumed by the
Crown Entity. The Office accounts for the
liability as having been extinguished
resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary
revenue item described as 'Acceptance by
the Crown Entity of Employee Benefits
and Other Liabilities'.

Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in
NSWTC 09/04) to employees with five or
more years of service, using current rates
of pay. These factors were determined
based on an actuarial review to
approximate present value.  New factors
are applied prospectively from 2008/09.

The change in factors is noted as change
in estimate, in accordance with AASB 108
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The superannuation expense for the
financial year is determined by using the
formula specified in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain
superannuation schemes (Basic Benefit
and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. For
other superannuation schemes (State
Superannuation Scheme and State
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the
expense is calculated as a multiple of the
employees’ superannuation
contributions.

(h) Comparative Information

Except when an Australian Accounting
Standard permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information is disclosed in
respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial
statements.

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

2. EXPENSES
Employee Related Expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 10,800 11,229

Superannuation  - defined benefit plans 3 299 341

Superannuation  - defined contribution plans 746 736

Long service leave 3 459 245

Workers' compensation insurance 251 199

Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 796 933

13,351 13,683
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

3. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:

Superannuation - defined benefit plans 2 299 341

Long service leave 2 459 245

Payroll tax on superannuation 18 20

8 776 606

4. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
(a) Current Receivables

Sydney Olympic Park Authority 1,901 1,609

1,901 1,609

(b)Non Current Receivables

Sydney Olympic Park Authority 15 11

15 11

The amounts receivable from the Sydney Olympic Park Authority are recognised 
at balance date. The carrying amount approximates to fair value.

5. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 6 586 191

586 191

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received, whether or not invoiced.  

6. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Annual leave 959 1,135

Other 371 294

Total Provisions 1,330 1,429

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions - current 1,315 1,418

Provisions - non current 15 11

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 5 586 191

1,916 1,620
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

7. CHANGES IN EQUITY
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 0 0

Changes in Equity

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0

Balance at the end of financial year 0 0

8. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES
Net Cash Used on Operating Activities 0 0

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 3 (776) (606)

Increase/(decrease) in receivables 296 (616)

Decrease/(increase) in payables (395) 657

Decrease/(increase) in employee provisions 99 (41)

Net Cost of Services (776) (606)
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2009 2008
Category Notes $'000 $'000

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Office does not have a separate bank or a bank
overdraft facility but uses the bank facility of Sydney
Olympic Park Authority.  

The Office's principal financial instruments are outlined
below.  These financial instruments arise directly from the
Office’s operations or are required to finance the Office’s
operations.  The Office does not enter into or trade financial
instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for
speculative purposes. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee has overall
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk
management and reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks.  Risk management policies are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Office, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risks.
Compliance with policies is reviewed by the Audit and
Compliance Committee on a continuous basis.  

(a) Financial Instrument Category

Financial Assets

Receivables 1. Receivables (at amortised cost) 4 1,916 1,620

1,916 1,620

Financial Liabilities

Payables 2. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 5 586 105

586 105

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7).

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Office’s
debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations,
resulting in a financial loss to the Office.

There are no financial assets that are past due or impaired
in the balance sheet.

Exposure to credit risk is considered minimal.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Office will be unable to
meet its payment obligations when they fall due. 

Liquidity risk is represented by the Office's payables owing
to other parties.  This is expected to be settled within
normal trading terms: that is 28 days.

The Office's exposure to liquidity risk is deemed
insignificant based on prior periods' data and current
assessment of risk.

(d)  Market risk

The Office is not subject to any interest rate, foreign
currency or other price risk.

(e)  Fair Value

The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in
the balance sheet approximates the fair value, because of
the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities.

11. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

As at the 27th of July 2009, the Office was abolished based
on the NSW Government Agency Amalgamation
Administrative Order. The Order provides for the legal
establishment of the new super Departments and the
transfer of staff and functions to these entities. The staff
previously employed by the Division will now be employed
by Communities NSW.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report together
with the financial report of Parklands
Foundation Limited and the consolidated
financial report of the consolidated entity
being the Parklands Foundation Limited for
the financial year ended 30 June 2009

Directors

The names and particulars of Parklands
Foundation Limited Directors during or
since the end of the financial year are:

Name Particulars

Lucio Di Chairman, appointed
Bartolomeo            17 April 2007

Non Executive.

Peter Duncan Previous Chairman, 
appointed 16 May 
2005
Non Executive
Resigned 31 
December 2008

Penelope Figgis Director, appointed
AO 16 May 2005

Non Executive.

Andrew Beatty Director, appointed 
27 June 2007
Non Executive.

Peter Mayers Director, appointed 
14 March 2008
Non Executive.

Alan Marsh Director, appointed 
2 June 2008
Non Executive.

Sarah Dinning Director, appointed 
13 March 2009
Non Executive.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of Parklands
Foundation Limited (‘the Foundation’) and
its controlled entities, during the year
consisted of:

(a) help protect and enhance the 
diversity of distinctly Australian and
natural settings forming the natural
environment of the 432 hectares of
pristine woodlands, rare saltmarshes
and mangroves, of Aboriginal
significance and of historic naval
importance forming the Parklands at
Sydney Olympic Park;

(b) help protect, maintain and improve the
Parklands and promote their

environmental, recreational, historical,
scientific, educational and cultural value;

(c) provide information and education, and
support research, about the Parklands
and their environmental, recreational,
historical, scientific, educational and
cultural values;

(d) establish and maintain a public fund to
be called the Parklands Fund for the
specific purpose of supporting the
environmental objects of the Foundation;

(e) encourage and promote charitable,
educational and cultural purposes and to
assist any public hospital and any
medical or scientific research;

(f) assist the under privileged and
disadvantaged; and

(g) assist any community service purpose.

Independence Declaration by Auditor

The Auditor’s independence declaration is
attached. 

Review of Result of Operations

The consolidated revenue for the financial
year was $586,000

Net Surplus

The consolidated net deficit was $696,000

Changes in State of Affairs

There was no change in the state of affairs
for the financial year

Meeting of Directors

The number of Directors Board Meetings
held during the year and the number of
meetings attended by each Director during
the year were:

Board Number Number
Meetings Eligible Attended

Lucio Di Bartolomeo 5 5
Peter Duncan 3 3
Penelope Figgis AO 5 4
Andrew Beatty 5 4
Peter Mayers 5 3
Alan Marsh 5 5
Sarah Dinning 1 1

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

There has been no matter or circumstance
other than that referred to below or in the
financial statements or notes thereto, that
has arisen since the end of the financial year,
that has significantly affected the
operations or the state of the entity in future
financial years.

Future Development

On 10 September 2009, the Sydney Olympic
Park Authority as the sole member of the
Foundation resolved to wind–up the
Foundation. The exact date for the winding
up is yet to be decided.

Indemnification of Office and Auditors

Parklands Foundation Limited pays a
premium in respect of a contract insuring
the Directors of the Foundation and
executive officers of the Foundation against
liabilities incurred as a Director or executive
officer to the extent permitted by the
Corporations Act 2001. The contract of
insurance prohibits disclosure of the liability
and the amount of the premium.

The Foundation has not otherwise, during or
since the financial year, indemnified or
agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of
the Foundation, or of any related body
corporate against a liability incurred as such
an officer or auditor.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of
the Directors made pursuant to Section
298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Lucio Di Bartolomeo   
Chairman    
Sydney, 20th October 2009     

Alan Marsh
Director
Sydney, 20th October 2009
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PARKLANDS FOUNDATION LIMITED

The Directors declare that:

(a) the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 
2009 performance for the period ended on that date of the Parklands foundation; and

(b) in the director’s opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005,
Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board and the Treasurer’s directions; and

(c) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to be believe that the Parklands Foundation will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

(d) as at the date of this Declaration, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars included
in the financial report misleading or inaccurate.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001

On behalf of the Directors

Lucio Di Bartolomeo Alan Marsh
Chairman Director

Sydney, 20th October 2009 Sydney, 20th October 2009
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
Operating expenses

Employee related 2(a) 634 720

Other operating expenses 2(b) 648 393

Total Expenses excluding losses 1,282 1,113

REVENUE
Sale of goods and services 3(a) 10 19

Investment revenue 3(b) 93 160

Grants and contributions 3(c) 480 720

Other revenue 3(d) 3 0

Total Revenue 586 899

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 8 (696) (214)

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Statement of Recognised Income and 
Expense for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 8 (696) (214)

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR (696) (214)

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,060 2,788

Receivables 5 11 25

Total Assets 2,071 2,813

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 6 18 34

Provisions 7 35 65

Total Liabilities 53 99

Net Assets 2,018 2,714

EQUITY
Accumulated funds 8 2,018 2,714

Total Equity 2,018 2,714

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee related (659) (701)

Other (724) (484)

Total Payments (1,383) (1,185)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services 9 14

Interest received 93 160

Grants and Contributions 553 720

Total Receipts 655 894

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 9 (728) (291)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH (728) (291)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 2,788 3,079

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4 2,060 2,788

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.



Sydney Olympic Park Authority Annual Report 2008–09  105

Parklands Foundation Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting Entity

Parklands Foundation Limited (the
Foundation), a public company limited by
guarantee, was incorporated in New
South Wales under the Corporations Act
2001 on 16 May 2005.  Sydney Olympic
Park Authority is the only member of the
Foundation.

The financial report has been authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 20
October 2009.  

(b) Parklands Fund

Parklands Fund (the Fund) was
established with the objective of
supporting the environmental objects of
the Foundation and to invite and receive
all gifts of money or property to the Fund
for the environmental objects of the
Foundation.  The Fund must be operated
on a not-for-profit basis.  There were no
transactions for the Fund for the year.

(c) Basis of Preparation

This is a general purpose financial report
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations, the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1983, and specific
directions issued by the Treasurer.

As mandated by the Treasurer, the
Foundation has not early-adopted the
following new/revised Accounting
Standards/Interpretations:

• AASB 3 (Mar 2008), AASB 127 and
AASB 2008-3 regarding business
combinations

• AASB 8 & AASB 2007-3 regarding
operating segments

• AASB 101 (Sep 2007), AASB 2007-08
and AASB 2007-10 regarding
presentation of financial statements

• AASB 123 (June 2007) and AASB
2007-06 regarding borrowing costs

• AASB 1039 regarding concise
financial reports

• AASB 2008-1 regarding share based
payments

• AASB 2008-2 regarding puttable
financial instruments

• AASB 2008-5 and AASB 2008-6
regarding amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from
Annual Improvements Project

• AASB 2008-7 regarding costs of an
investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity, or an associate

• AASB 2008-8 regarding eligible
hedged items

• AASB 2008-9 regarding AASB 1049
amendments consistent with AASB
101

• AASB 2008-11 regarding business
combinations with not-for-profit
entities

• AASB 2009-1 regarding borrowing
costs of not for profit public sector
entities

• AASB 2009-2 regarding financial
instrument disclosures

• Interpretation 1 on changes in
existing decommisioning, restoration,
and similar liabilities

• Interpretation 12 on service
concession arrangements

• Interpretation 15 on construction of
real estate

• Interpretation 16 on hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation

• Interpretation 17 and AASB 2008-13
on distribution of non cash assets to
owners

• Interpretation 18 on transfers of
assets from customers

It is expected that the impact of the
application of the new Standards on the
Foundation's financial report in the
period of initial application will not be
significant.

The accrual basis of accounting has been
adopted in the preparation of the
financial report, except for cash flow
information.

On the 10th September 2009, Sydney
Olympic Park Authority as the sole
member of Parklands Foundation Limited
resolved to wind up the Foundation, with
existing programs to be consolidated into
the Authority. The entity is no longer a
going concern and as such the financial

report has been prepared on a liquidation
basis. 

Management's judgements, key
assumptions and estimations are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial report.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest
one thousand dollars and are expressed
in Australian currency. 

(d) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements and notes
comply with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations.

(e) Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of
the consideration or contribution
received or receivable in accordance with
AASB 118 Revenue.

(i) Grants and Contributions

Grants and Contributions are generally
recognised as revenue when the
Foundation obtains control over the
assets comprising the contributions.
Control is normally obtained upon receipt
of cash.

(ii) Investment Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the
effective interest method set out in AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. 

(f) Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an
active market. These financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face
value. Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less an allowance for
any impairment of receivables. Any
changes are accounted for in the
operating statement when impaired,
derecognised or through the
amortisation process.
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Short-term receivables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. 

(g) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for
goods and services provided to the
Foundation and other amounts. Payables
are recognised initially at fair value,
usually based on the transaction cost or
face value. Subsequent measurement is
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Short-term payables
with no stated interest rate are measured
at the original invoice amount where the
effect of discounting is immaterial.

(h) Employee Benefits 

(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave,
Sick Leave and On-Costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary benefits),
annual leave and paid sick leave that fall
due wholly within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on the
amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. 

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not
give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave taken
in the future will be greater than the
benefits accrued in the future.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax,
workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised.

(ii) Long Service Leave

Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119
Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in
NSWTC 09/04) to employees with five or
more years of service, using current rates
of pay. These factors were determined
based on an actuarial review to
approximate present value.  New factors
are applied prospectively from 2008/09.
The change in factors is noted as change
in estimate, in accordance with AASB 108
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

(iii) Superannuation

The defined superannuation expense for
the financial year is the defined
contribution superannuation, calculated
as a multiple percentage of the
employees’ salaries.

(i) Accounting for the Goods and
Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are
recognised net of the amount of GST
except where:

• the amount of GST incurred by the
Foundation as a purchaser, that is not
recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Office, is recognised as part
of the cost of acquisition of an asset
or as part of an item of expense.

· receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow
statement on a gross basis.

( j) Comparative Information

Except when an Australian Accounting
Standard permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information is disclosed in
respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial
statements.
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

2. EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES
(a) Employee Related Expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 538 634

Superannuation  - defined contribution plans 44 48

Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 52 38

634 720

(b) Other Operating Expenses

Insurance 2 2

Asset management 6 0

Operating lease rental expense - minimum lease payments 1 10

Administration 434 258

Advertising and promotion 136 73

Activity and entertainment 19 15

Site services 0 7

Consultancies 0 1

Information technology 44 18

Other 6 9

648 393

3. REVENUE
(a) Sale of Goods and Services

Education tours 10 19

10 19

(b) Investment Revenue

Interest on bank 93 160

93 160

(c) Grants and Contributions

Sydney Olympic Park Authority 480 720

480 720

(d) Other Revenue

Other 3 0

3 0
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Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

4. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and on hand 2,060 2,788

2,060 2,788

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the Balance Sheet are reconciled 
at the end of the financial year to the Cash Flow Statement as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (per Balance Sheet) 2,060 2,788

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Cash Flow Statement) 2,060 2,788

5. CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
Current Receivables

Trade debtors 6 8

GST receivable 0 17

Prepayments 5 0

11 25

6. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES
Creditors and accrued expenses 9 31

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 7 9 3

18 34

7. CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Annual leave 33 60

Other 2 5

35 65

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions - current 35 65

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 6 9 3

44 68
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Parklands Foundation Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

8. CHANGES IN EQUITY
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2,714 2,928

Changes in Equity

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (696) (214)

Balance at the end of financial year 2,018 2,714

9. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES

Net Cash Used on Operating Activities (728) (291)

Increase/(decrease) in receivables (12) 16

Decrease/(increase) in payables 13 97

Decrease/(increase) in employee provisions 31 (36)

Decrease/(increase) in other current liabilities (0) 0

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year (696) (214)

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Foundation's principal financial instruments are
outlined below.  These financial instruments arise directly
from the Foundation’s operations or are required to finance
the Foundation’s operations.  The Foundation does not
enter into or trade financial instruments, including
derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of risk management and
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks.  Risk management policies are established to identify
and analyse the risks faced by the Foundation, to set risk
limits and controls and to monitor risks.  Compliance with
policies is reviewed by the Internal Auditors on a continuous
basis.  

Notes 2009 2008
Category $'000 $'000

(a) Financial Instrument Category

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents N/A 4 2,060 2,788

Receivables 1. Receivables (at amortised cost) 5 6 8

2,066 2,796

Financial Liabilities

Payables 2. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 6 18 28

18 28

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7).
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Parklands Foundation Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the
Foundation’s debtors defaulting on their contractual
obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Foundation.

There are no financial assets that are past due or impaired
in the balance sheet.

Exposure to credit risk is considered minimal.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Foundation will be unable
to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. 

Liquidity risk is represented by the Foundation's payables
owing to other parties.  This is expected to be settled within
normal trading terms: that is 28 days.

The Foundation's exposure to liquidity risk is deemed
insignificant based on prior periods' data and current
assessment of risk.

(d)  Market risk

The Foundation is not subject to any interest rate, foreign
currency or other price risk.

(e)  Fair Value

The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in
the balance sheet approximates the fair value, because of
the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

11. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities.

12. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

(a) Directors

The director named in the attached directors' report each
held office as a director of the Foundation during the year
ended 2009.

Remuneration

No remuneration was paid to the Directors.  

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

(b) Related Party Transactions

Grants received from Sydney Olympic Park Authority 3(c) 480 720

13. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
On 10 September 2009, the Sydney Olympic Park Authority as the sole member of the Foundation resolved to wind-up the Parklands
Foundation.  The exact date for the winding up of the Foundation is yet to be resolved with the Parklands Foundation Board.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Directors’ Declaration

SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK AUTHORITY 
SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK AQUATIC AND ATHLETIC CENTRES DIVISION

Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Pursuant to Section 41C(1B) and (1C) of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, we declare that in our opinion:

1. The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the Division’s financial position as at 
30 June 2009 and transactions for the year then ended.

2. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2005, the Treasurer’s Direction and the directives of the Financial 
Reporting Code.

Further, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

A Marsh N Hubble
Chief Executive Officer General Manager, 

Commercial and Corporate

30 September 2009 30 September 2009
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Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Operating Statement for Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

EXPENSES
Employee related 2 5,831 5,432

Total Expenses 5,831 5,432

REVENUE
Personnel Services 5,799 5,448

Total Revenue 5,799 5,448

Net Cost of Services 8 32 (16)

GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTIONS
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee

benefits and other liabilities 3 32 (16)

Total Government Contributions 32 (16)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 7 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Statement of Recognised Income and 
Expense for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 7 0 0

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED FOR THE YEAR 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.



Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Receivables 4 678 588

Total Current Assets 678 588

Total Assets 678 588

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 5 269 244

Provisions 6 409 344

Total Current Liabilities 678 588

Total Liabilities 678 588

Net Assets 0 0

EQUITY
Accumulated funds 0 0

Total Equity 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee related (5,667) (5,333)

Total Payments (5,667) (5,333)

Receipts

Personnel services 5,667 5,333

Total Receipts 5,667 5,333

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8 0 0

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 0 0

Opening cash and cash equivalents 0 0

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 0

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity

The Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Sydney Olympic Park Authority Aquatic
and Athletic Centres Division (the
Division) is a Division of the Government
Service,  established pursuant to Part 3 of
Schedule 1 to the Public Sector
Employment and Management Act 2002.
It is a not-for-profit entity as profit is not
its principal objective. It is consolidated
as part of the NSW Total State Sector
Accounts.  It is domiciled in Australia and
its principal office is at Olympic
Boulevard, Sydney Olympic Park NSW
2127.

The Division's objective is to provide
personnel services to the Sydney Olympic
Park Authority for the management of
the operations of the Sydney Olympic
Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres. 

The Division commenced operation on
and from 1 July 2006 when it assumed
responsibility for the employees and
employee-related liabilities of the Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic
Centres. 

The financial report was authorised for
issue by the Chief Executive Officer on 30
September 2009. 

(b) Basis of Preparation

This is a general purpose financial report
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations, the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1983, and specific
directions issued by the Treasurer.

As mandated by the Treasurer, the
Division has not early-adopted the
following new/revised Accounting
Standards/Interpretations:

· AASB 3 (Mar 2008), AASB 127 and
AASB 2008-3 regarding business
combinations

· AASB 8 & AASB 2007-3 regarding
operating segments

· AASB 101 (Sep 2007), AASB 2007-08
and AASB 2007-10 regarding
presentation of financial statements

· AASB 123 (June 2007) and AASB
2007-06 regarding borrowing costs

· AASB 1039 regarding concise
financial reports

· AASB 2008-1 regarding share based
payments

· AASB 2008-2 regarding puttable
financial instruments

· AASB 2008-5 and AASB 2008-6
regarding amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from
Annual Improvements Project

· AASB 2008-7 regarding costs of an
investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity, or an associate

· AASB 2008-8 regarding eligible
hedged items

· AASB 2008-9 regarding AASB 1049
amendments consistent with AASB
101

· AASB 2008-11 regarding business
combinations with not-for-profit
entities

· AASB 2009-1 regarding borrowing
costs of not for profit public sector
entities

· AASB 2009-2 regarding financial
instrument disclosures

• Interpretation 1 on changes in
existing decommisioning, restoration,
and similar liabilities

• Interpretation 12 on service
concession arrangements

· Interpretation 15 on construction of
real estate

· Interpretation 16 on hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation

· Interpretation 17 and AASB 2008-13
on distribution of non cash assets to
owners

· Interpretation 18 on transfers of
assets from customers

It is expected that the impact of the
application of the new Standards on the
Division's financial report in the period of
initial application will not be significant.

The accrual basis of accounting has been
adopted in the preparation of the
financial report, except for cash flow
information.

Management's judgements, key
assumptions and estimations are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the
financial report.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest
one thousand dollars and are expressed
in Australian currency. 

(c) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements and notes
comply with Australian Accounting
Standards, which include Australian
Accounting Interpretations.

(d) Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable
in accordance with AASB 118.  Revenue
from the rendering of personnel services
is recognised when the service is
provided and only to the extent that the
associated recoverable expenses are
recognised.

(e) Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an
active market. These financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face
value. Subsequent measurement is at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less an allowance for
any impairment of receivables. Any
changes are accounted for in the
operating statement when impaired,
derecognised or through the
amortisation process.

Short-term receivables with no stated
interest rate are measured at the original
invoice amount where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. 

(f) Payables

Payables include accrued wages, salaries,
and related on-costs (such as payroll tax,
fringe benefits tax and workers’

Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division
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Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

compensation insurance) where there is
certainty as to the amount and timing of
settlement.

A payable is recognised when a present
obligation arises under a contract or
otherwise. It is derecognised when the
obligation expires or is discharged,
cancelled or substituted. 

A short-term payable with no stated
interest rate is measured at historical
cost if the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

(g) Employee Benefit Provisions and 
Expenses

(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave,
Sick Leave and On-Costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages
(including non-monetary benefits),
annual leave and paid sick leave that fall
due wholly within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised and
measured in respect of employees’
services up to the reporting date at
undiscounted amounts based on the
amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. 

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not

give rise to a liability as it is not
considered probable that sick leave taken
in the future will be greater than the
benefits accrued in the future.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax,
workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to employment, are
recognised as liabilities and expenses
where the employee benefits to which
they relate have been recognised.

(ii) Long Service Leave and 
Superannuation

The Division’s liabilities for long service
leave and defined benefit
superannuation are assumed by the
Crown Entity. The Division  accounts for
the liability as having been extinguished
resulting in the amount assumed being
shown as part of the non-monetary
revenue item described as 'Acceptance by
the Crown Entity of Employee Benefits
and Other Liabilities.’

Long service leave is measured at present
value in accordance with AASB 119

Employee Benefits. This is based on the
application of certain factors (specified in
NSWTC 09/04) to employees with five or
more years of service, using current rates
of pay. These factors were determined
based on an actuarial review to
approximate present value.  New factors
are applied prospectively from 2008/09.
The change in factors is noted as change
in estimate, in accordance with AASB 108
Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The superannuation expense for the
financial year is determined by using the
formula specified in the Treasurer’s
Directions. The expense for certain
superannuation schemes (Basic Benefit
and First State Super) is calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. For
other superannuation schemes (State
Superannuation Scheme and State
Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the
expense is calculated as a multiple of the
employees’ superannuation
contributions.

(h) Comparative Information

Except when an Australian Accounting
Standard permits or requires otherwise,
comparative information is disclosed in
respect of the previous period for all
amounts reported in the financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

2. EXPENSES
Employee Related Expenses

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 4,933 4,623

Superannuation  - defined contribution plans 414 398

Long service leave 3 32 (16)

Workers' compensation insurance 96 99

Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 356 328

5,831 5,432

3. ACCEPTANCE BY THE CROWN ENTITY OF 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

The following liabilities and/or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity:

Long service leave 2 32 (16)

32 (16)

4. CURRENT/NON CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
Current Receivables

Sydney Olympic Park Authority 678 588

678 588

5. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 6 269 244

269 244

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future 
for goods and services received, whether or not invoiced.  

6. CURRENT/NON CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS

Employee Benefits and Related On-costs

Annual leave 351 300

Other 58 44

Total Provisions 409 344

Aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs

Provisions - current 409 344

Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs 5 269 244

678 588
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Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

Notes 2009 2008
$'000 $'000

7. CHANGES IN EQUITY
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 0 0

Total 0 0

Changes in Equity

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 0 0

Balance at the end of financial year 0 0

8. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET COST OF SERVICES

Net Cash Used on Operating Activities 0 0

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities 3 (32) 16

Increase/(decrease) in receivables 91 95

Decrease/(increase) in payables (25) (80)

Decrease/(increase) in employee provisions (66) (15)

Net Cost of Services (32) 16

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Division does not have a separate bank or a bank
overdraft facility but uses the bank facility of Sydney
Olympic Park Authority.  

The Division's principal financial instruments are outlined
below.  These financial instruments arise directly from the
Division’s operations or are required to finance the
Division’s operations.  The Division does not enter into or
trade financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee has overall
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk
management and reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks.  Risk management policies are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Division, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risks.
Compliance with policies is reviewed by the Audit and
Compliance Committee on a continuous basis.  

Notes 2009 2008
Category $'000 $'000

(a) Financial Instrument Category

Financial Assets

Receivables 1. Receivables (at amortised cost) 4 678 588

678 588

Financial Liabilities

Payables 2. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 5 269 244

269 244

Notes
1. Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (not within scope of AASB 7).
2. Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (not within scope of AASB 7).
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Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic And Athletic Centres Division

Notes to the Financial Statements for Year Ended 30 June 2009

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the
Division’s debtors defaulting on their contractual
obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Division.

There are no financial assets that are past due or impaired
in the balance sheet.

Exposure to credit risk is considered minimal.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Division will be unable to
meet its payment obligations when they fall due. 

Liquidity risk is represented by the Division's payables owing
to other parties.  This is expected to be settled within
normal trading terms: that is 28 days.

The Division's exposure to liquidity risk is deemed
insignificant based on prior periods' data and current
assessment of risk.

(d)  Market risk

The Division is not subject to any interest rate, foreign
currency or other price risk.

(e)  Fair Value

The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in
the balance sheet approximates the fair value, because of
the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities.

11. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

As at the 27th of July 2009, the Division was abolished
based on the NSW Government Agency Amalgamation
Administrative Order. The Order provides for the legal
establishment of the new super Departments and the
transfer of staff and functions to these entities. The staff
previously employed by the Division will now be employed
by Communities NSW.

End of Audited Financial Statements
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Appendices
Agreements with the Community Relations Commission
There were no agreements with the Community Relations
Commission during the 2008-09 year.

Annual report
The annual report is available online at
www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au. The total production cost was
$17,452 (excludes GST).

Code of conduct
Sydney Olympic Park Authority and its staff are bound by the
requirements of the Public Sector Employment and
Management Act 2002, Sydney Olympic Park Authority Code of
Conduct and other relevant legislation applying to public
employment.

Code of conduct training was completed for staff of the
Authority during the reporting period.

Committees
Access Advisory Committee
The committee advised Sydney Olympic Park Authority on the
assessment and management of access to Sydney Olympic Park
by people with a disability.
Jean Halcrow (Chair)
Ann Gibson
Glenn Redmayne
Christina Hinchliffe
Kath Brewster
David Middlemiss
Mark Relf
Fiona Wilson-Jones
Gavin Syme

Arts Development Advisory Committee
The committee advised the CEO on the development of arts and
cultural activities at Sydney Olympic Park. It was discontinued in
December 2008. Industry representatives will be engaged to
provide advice to the Authority as required.
Lex Marinos (Chair) OAM
Angelo Loukakis
Professor Julian Knowles 
Dr Dick Letts AM
Fergus Linehan
Dr Christine Burton
Tiffany Lee-Shoy
Kim Spinks
Professor Ross Gibson

Audit and Compliance Committee
The committee addressed financial, accounting, reporting and
internal controls and compliance issues.
John Coates (Chair)
Chris Christodoulou
Liz Ellis

Design Review Panel
The panel provided the CEO with independent advice on design
proposals and the design process and contributed to achieving
high quality development and a cohesive, safe and easily legible
public domain.
Peter Mould (Chair)
Darlene van der Breggen
Prof Catherin Bull
Bill Tsakalos
Prof Peter Webber

Millennium Parklands Advisory Committee
The committee made recommendations to the Board on
matters relating to the care, control and management of the
Millennium Parklands. 
Penelope Figgis (Chair)
Alan Marsh
Professor Catherine Bull
Sarah Dinning
Dr Tony Flemming (represented by Gary Dunnett)
Leigh Martin
Irene Simms
Christine Burton
Professor Tony Veal

Consultancy services 
No consultancy services were engaged by the Authority during
2008-09.

Contacting Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
7 Figtree Drive
Sydney Olympic Park NSW 2127
Telephone 02 9714 7300
Facsimile 02 9714 7818
Email enquiries@sopa.nsw.gov.au
Online www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au
Office hours 8.45am to 5.15pm, Monday to Friday

Credit card certification
Credit card use within the Authority has been in accordance
with the Premier’s Memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.

Disability Action Plan
Sydney Olympic Park Authority released a new Disability Action
Plan 2009-13 (DAP) in December 2008, meeting the requirements of
Section 9 of the NSW Disability Services Act 1993 and the NSW
Department of Ageing, Disability and Home Care.

The Authority seeks to ensure that all people can participate in
activities at Sydney Olympic Park with dignity and equity.
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The Authority’s new DAP identifies continually measurable actions
in a range of areas considered to have the greatest potential to
improve access in the provision of public services at the Park.

It recognises the need for an organisation-wide approach to
achieving an accessible environment for visitors, residents and
workers at Sydney Olympic Park.

The DAP, which is managed by the Operations and Sustainability
Division, coordinates its promotion, dissemination, monitoring,
measurement and evaluation. 

As well as coordinating the DAP, in 2008-09 the Authority:
• supported the Special Children’s Christmas Party and the

2009 Sydney International Wheelchair Tennis Open
• issued the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Access Guidelines

2008 – 2nd Edition and the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Access
Guidelines 2008: Temporary Overlay for Events – 1st Edition

• reviewed and recommended endorsement on major and
minor Sydney Olympic Park developments

• continued implementation of the Human Resources Policy
requiring the main-streaming of employment for people
with disabilities, and

• conducted an access audit of the public domain for review, to
ensure a safe and equitable environment can be provided to all.

Disclosure of controlled entities
Controlled entities held by the Authority during the reporting
period include the Parklands Foundation Limited, the Office of
the Sydney Olympic Park Authority and the Office of the Sydney
Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres Division.

Economic or other factors affecting achievement of
operational objectives
The local commercial office market remains flat, which has
delayed commencement of commercial office development
for master plan sites 4b and 13. Construction commenced on
site 8 (Watpac commercial office) during the year with the
majority of office space available being committed prior to the
estimated completion date of January 2010.

Residential development will proceed on site 3 in the 2009-10
financial year, with encouraging signs of demand for the first
ever residential product of Sydney Olympic Park. 

Despite the global recession, the Authority has not seen a
reduction in key revenue sources with property rental, Aquatic
Centre and parking related income exceeding previous financial
years and budget. 

Lower interest rates have resulted in lower interest revenue for the
Authority, though not material in achieving operational objectives.  

Electronic Service Delivery
The Authority continues to focus on increasing the information
and services available electronically.

The Authority’s websites include:
www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au – the main portal for Sydney
Olympic Park
www.aquaticcentre.com.au – the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic
Centre website
www.athleticcentre.com.au – the Sydney Olympic Park Athletic
Centre website
www.archerycentre.com.au – the Sydney Olympic Park Archery
Centre website
www.monsterpark.com.au – the Sydney Olympic Park Monster
Skatepark website.

During the reporting period, the Authority updated the
Developing and Commercial section of the
www.sydneyolympicpark.com.auwebsite to include detailed
information on planning and building at Sydney Olympic Park
and the range of available commercial opportunities. A series of
information sheets were also created to be available online and
a number of corporate documents were transferred to electronic
rather than print publication.

The Authority also refreshed the www.monsterpark.com.au
website. 

Freedom of information
The Authority carried two requests over from the previous year
and received two new requests under the Freedom of
Information Act 1989 (FOI Act). These were:

Applications begun in 2007-08, completed in 2008-09
4 June 2008
The applicant requested all documents created since 1 January
1999 relating to a specific person. A revision of the scope of the
application was agreed. Third party consultation was required.
An advanced deposit was received. Documents were provided on
18 August 2008.

13 June 2008
The applicant requested a copy of CCTV footage of a motor
vehicle accident on 4 April 2008 at the intersection of Sarah
Durack Avenue and Olympic Boulevard. The application was
completed on 9 July 2008. A copy of the footage was not
provided under Schedule 1 (6)1 of the FOI Act.

Applications begun and completed in 2008-09
11 July 2008
The applicant requested a copy of CCTV footage of a motor
vehicle accident on 2 July 2008 on the corner of Edwin Flack
Avenue and Dawn Fraser Avenue. A copy of the footage was
provided to the applicant on 11 August 2008. No additional fees
were requested.
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27 May 2009
The applicant requested a copy of CCTV footage of a motor
vehicle accident on 10 February 2009 at the intersection of
Australia Avenue and Bennelong Road. A copy of the footage was
provided to the applicant on 9 June 2009. No additional fees
were requested.

There was one request for an Internal Review in the period 1 July
2008 to 30 June 2009. This request related to the release of CCTV
footage of a motor vehicle accident which was refused under
Schedule 1 (6)1. The internal review was completed on 1 August
2008.  A copy of the footage was provided and the fee for
Internal Review was returned to the applicant.

The impact of FOI applications on the Authority’s activities was
minimal during the reporting period. In the preceding financial
year (2007-08), the Authority received five applications under
the FOI Act and one request for an Internal Review.

Applications made under the FOI Act must be in writing and
accompanied by an application fee of $30.

Enquiries and applications should be referred to:
FOI Coordinator
Sydney Olympic Park Authority
7 Figtree Drive
SYDNEY OLYMPIC PARK NSW 2127

Funds granted to non-government community
organisations

During the 2008-09 financial year, funds were granted to the:
Lions Club of Bondi $681.82 
Rotary Club of Ryde $909.10 

Guarantee of service
The Authority aims for consistent excellence in the provision of
information and customer services based on integrity,
professionalism, timeliness, respect and openness.

Human resources
Staff working within the Authority are employed by the Office of
the Sydney Olympic Park Authority. Staff working within the
Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic and Athletic Centres (SOPAC) are
employed by the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Aquatic and
Athletic Centres Division (Note ‘Archery” is not included in the
official title of the SOPAC Division in the legislation).

The Authority
The number of positions within the Authority (excluding casual
employees) reduced from 113 to 109 during the year. The
reduction reflected a further consolidation of the Authorities
functions and activities, after larger reductions in earlier years, as
the organisation evolved. 

The organisation restructured from three divisions to two
divisions with a corresponding reduction in the number of
executive positions from four to three.

The operation of the Authority’s performance management
system continued to identify and focus employee efforts on
organisational priorities.

In response to the H1N1 Influenza outbreak, the Authority
developed policy and procedures relating to working
arrangements and employee communication arrangements to
apply during a declared health emergency.

The Authority also reviewed and updated its Gifts and Benefits
Policy, which provides guidance to staff who may be placed in a
situation where they receive or are offered a gift or benefit.

As a result of changes to public sector sick leave arrangements, the
Authority reviewed and updated its Sick Leave Management Policy.

A two-week Christmas / New Year closedown was implemented
to provide staff with the opportunity to spend time with family
and friends during the holiday season and as a means of
reducing the organisation’s leave liability costs.

A bimonthly Human Resource Management Bulletin was
produced and circulated to staff throughout the organisation as
a means of raising awareness of contemporary Human Resource
management issues and practices.

An employee driven quarterly Staff Recognition and Reward
Scheme operated during the year.

The Authority provided Human Resource management services
to the Parklands Foundation Limited – a subsidiary company of
the Authority, on a fee-for-service basis.

Aquatic, Athletics and Archery Centres 
SOPAC created 10 new positions during the year. One new
position was created in finance, one in property and services and
eight positions in the newly established catering department.

SOPAC has assumed direct control over catering operations at
the centres from 1 May 2009.

Industrial relations
The Authority
There were no industrial disputes during the year.

Negotiations were undertaken with the Public Service
Association (PSA) in relation to award reforms to achieve savings
to fund salary increases under the public sector salaries award.

For the period of the Easter Show each year, normal working
arrangements for a small number of people are suspended and
replaced by a seven day cycle of rostered shifts. Industrial
arrangements agreed with the PSA provided the Authority with
the required flexibility to meet the extra-ordinary demands of
the Show period and ensured that staff were appropriately
compensated for these changed arrangements.
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Assistance was provided to the Sydney Olympic Park Aquatic,
Athletics and Archery Centres for the making of a new Industrial
Award, and for a subsequent variation to that Award to broaden
the range of work undertaken within the Centres.

Applications were made and granted to vary both the Sydney
Olympic Park Visitors’ Services and Paid Parking (State) Awards to
incorporate the Industrial Relations Commission’s State Wage
Case decision.

Salary Award increases for the Authority in the year were in line
with the Crown Employees (Public Sector – Salaries 2008) Award.

Aquatic, Athletics and Archery Centres 
The current two year SOPAC award will expire in June 2010. This
was renewed in 2008 and amended to include the Archery
Centre and again in 2009 to include catering staff.

A very positive relationship exists between SOPAC and the
Australian Workers Union. There were no major issues of an
industrial relations nature during the financial year.

Land disposal
There was no land disposal during the 2008-09 year.

Legislative change
There were no changes to the Sydney Olympic Park Authority Act
2001 (NSW) (SOPA Act) or the Sydney Olympic Park Authority
Regulations 2007 during the 2008-09 year.

However, Parliamentary Counsel has been requested to prepare
amendments to the SOPA Act and regulations and the
Protection of the Environment Operations (General) Regulation
2009 following a review required under s89 of the SOPA Act, and
the amendments will be effected during the 2009-10 year.

Major capital works
During 2008-09, key capital works projects were undertaken
throughout the Park. These delivered an important program of
asset creation and replacement, and resulted in significant
improvements to the amenity of the parklands and key areas of
infrastructure in the town centre.

Project Cost $
Asset replacements $2.520m
Minor works $2.882m
Major repairs – Aquatic & Athletic Centres $5.216m
Total capital funding by Treasury $10.618m
Town centre car park $0.748m
Developer funded works
Site 13
Herb Elliott / Australia Avenues intersection
Sites 6 & 7
Site 4A Pullman Hotel
Site RAS works
Jacaranda Square $2.761m
Total $14.127m

NSW Action Plan for Women
The following actions have been taken in relation to the
objectives in the Action Plan for Women.

The Authority
The Authority facilitated a three day Women’s Sports Festival within
the Park to showcase up-and-coming and elite sportswomen.

The Festival encourages girls and women to participate in sport
as part of a healthy and active lifestyle, and provided the
opportunity to try out a range of sports.

The Authority was successful in securing the 5th International
Working Group World Conference on Women and Sport for Sydney
Olympic Park in 2010. The Conference is recognised as a landmark
event which raises the profile of women and sports issues.

A number of flexible working arrangements were approved to
assist women balance family and work responsibilities.

A female employee was selected for the Earthwatch Fellowship
Program which provides an opportunity for field research in a
conservation project.

Women received more than 50 per cent of the financial
assistance provided to staff for tertiary study.

Continued representation of women on major committees and
working groups.

Provision of work experience opportunities across a range of
areas for female tertiary and school students.

Aquatic, Athletics and Archery Centres 
SOPAC staff have the opportunity to be involved in the Authority
initiatives noted above.

Occupational health and safety
The Authority
No significant injuries were recorded during the year, and no
formal return to work programs were required to be developed.

An Employee Health Fair was conducted in conjunction with a
leading health provider to raise awareness of critical health
issues and to encourage staff to make appropriate changes to
lifestyle, diet and screening practices.

An Employee Assistance Program is in place to provide staff and
members of their immediate family with access to a no-cost
confidential counselling service on a 24 hour / seven day basis.

The Authority arranged for on-site influenza vaccinations for all
staff expressing an interest in receiving the vaccination. The
vaccination program was viewed as a preventive strategy to
protect employee health, and minimise disruptions to the
workplace through absenteeism.
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Tetanus and Hepatitis B immunisation are also provided for
those employees in higher risk occupational categories.

The Authority’s Occupational Health and Safety Committee and
Occupational Health and Safety Management Coordination
Committee met regularly during the year and addressed a range
of matters.

The Authority’s Staff Wellbeing Committee (comprising staff
representatives from each area of the organisation) met regularly
during the year. The Committee is a vehicle for seeking employees’
views and facilitating feedback between staff and management
on staff welfare, amenity and general wellbeing issues.

Aquatic, Athletics and Archery Centres 
Following Deloittes OH&S Audit conducted in February 2007, a
number of recommendations were made to SOPAC to improve /
support the current SOPAC Integrated Management System and
bring it into line with the NSW Department of Premier &
Cabinet’s Taking Safety Seriously, Working Together Public Sector
OHS & Injury Management Strategy 2005-08.

SOPAC scored a rating of three in the initial audit in 2007 and
through concentrated effort by all staff achieved a rating of four
in the February 2009 audit. This rating indicates that SOPAC
meets all essential and some key best practise criteria.

SOPAC continues to conduct bimonthly workplace inspections
through the OH&S Committee and ongoing OH&S induction
training is made available to all staff. 

An external training provider conducted OH&S awareness
training on 13 August 2008, with feedback from 15 attending
staff attended being ‘good or excellent’.

A four-day external training session was completed in OH&S
Consultation for five SOPAC OH&S Committee members in
April 2009.

Hazard reporting is completed on a regular basis and staff are
encouraged to report safety concerns immediately for action.
Copies of all SOPAC Risk Assessments are kept on a centrally
shared computer file for staff access and reference. 

Official overseas visits undertaken by Sydney Olympic
Park Authority employees 
There were no overseas visits by Sydney Olympic Park Authority
employees during the reporting period.

Parklands Foundation
The Parklands Foundation was established in 2005 as a
registered not-for-profit subsidiary corporation of Sydney
Olympic Park Authority under section 58 (2) of the Sydney
Olympic Park Authority Act 2001.
Parklands Foundation Board is comprised of:
Lucio Di Bartolomeo
Penelope Figgis AO
Andrew Beatty
Peter Duncan (to December 2008)
Peter Mayers 
Sarah Dinning (from March 2009) 
Alan Marsh

Payment performance indicators
Trade creditors aged analysis at the end of each quarter

Quarter ended Current Less than 30 Between 31 & 60 Between 61 & 90 More than
(within due date) days overdue days overdue days overdue 90 days overdue

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
At 30 September 2008 519 46 1 (1) (15)
At 31 December 2008 457 1,080 7 12  6
At 31 March 2009 764 16 4 0  (5)
At 30 June 2009 20 2 0 0  12

Trade creditors accounts paid on time within each quarter

Quarter ended Accounts paid on time Accounts paid on time Amount paid on time Total Amount Paid
target % actual % $’000 $’000

At 30 September 2008 95 93% 25,805  27,518
At 31 December 2008 95 93% 21,063  23,426
At 31 March 2009 95 91% 24,912  26,937
At 30 June 2009 95 96% 40,044  40,851

No suppliers requested or were reasonably entitled to penalty interest for the year.
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Performance of executive officers
CES / SES officers level 5 and above

Name Mr Alan Marsh
Position and level Chief Executive Officer Level 7
Period in position From 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009
Remuneration as at 
30 June 2009 $307,500, plus recruitment allowance

of $30,000 per annum

Mr Marsh met the requirements of his performance agreement
with the Minister for Planning in accordance with his role as
chief executive of Sydney Olympic Park Authority.

The initiatives, actions and strategies of the Authority
undertaken and progressed during the year under Mr Marsh are
set out in this report.

They are in keeping with the Authority’s role of promoting,
managing and developing the Park as a major urban centre, with
the focus on sustainable urban development and parklands
enhancement.

Significant outcomes/achievements during the year included:

• Public Exhibition of the Sydney Olympic Park Master Plan
2030 and responses to public submissions. The Master Plan
sets out a long term and detailed vision for the continued
sustainable development of Sydney Olympic Park. The Plan
builds on the existing Park, introduces a range of new uses to
further activate the precinct and consolidates its position as
an example of best practice in sustainable development.

• Effective management of $1.8 Billion of assets and the
Authority’s reduced operating budget ($800,000 reduction),
within budget. A targeted increase in revenue as a
percentage of operating expenditure was also achieved, and
SOPA did not require its full funding allocation for the year,
forecasting a $1 million reduction in funding required.

• Practical completion of the final stage of the
Commonwealth Bank office relocation was achieved in
January 2009, with 3700 bank staff now working in the Park.

• The addition of 350 rooms for short stay accommodation,
with the opening of the first five star hotel in Sydney since
the Olympics and the first in Western Sydney, and the two
star Formule 1 Hotel, bring the total number of hotel rooms
in the Park to around 800.

• Construction commenced on a new 7000 square metre
commercial office development, incorporating ground floor
retail space and basement parking.

• Progression to development consent stage of a $51 million
private sports and specialist hospital. The hospital will
provide 94 beds and will have 20 specialist consultation
rooms, together with conference facilities.

• Creation of a Sydney Olympic Park Sustainability Advantage
cluster incorporating other major businesses to improve
business sustainability across a number of key areas – resource
efficiency, environmental responsibility, and supply change.

• The operational subsidy for the Aquatic, Athletic and Archery
Centres continued to decline under the Authority’s
management, and new initiatives such as the Aquatic Centre
Adventure Playground and the Athletics competition arena
Mondo track were completed during the year.

• The Authority facilitated a three day Women’s Sports Festival
within the Park to showcase up-and-coming and elite
sportswomen. The Festival encouraged girls and women to
participate in sport as part of a healthy and active lifestyle,
and provided the opportunity to try out a range of sports.

• Relocation of the Sydney Olympic Park Visitors’ Centre from
leased premises to Authority owned premises within the
heritage precinct resulting in significant annual rental savings.

• Growth in the Sydney Olympic Park Lifestyle Program
membership base from 1,987 to 4,484 in 54 organisations.
The key to this growth is the number of employers
recognising the benefits of a healthy work life balance, and
as a vehicle for attracting and retaining staff.

• The opening of Jacaranda Square and café in the town
centre as a high quality public domain area for the Sydney
Olympic Park community.

• Development of self-guided tours to enhance the visitor
experience and increase awareness of existing attractions 
in the Park

• Delivery of the Arts and Culture program including the
hosting of artists in residence, and the successful hosting of
events and exhibitions such as Art Express, ‘Dust Poems’, 
and The Flats‘.

• A program of Signature Events was developed and delivered.
These included Kids in the Park;  Movies in the Overflow;
Music by Moonlight; and Australia Day celebrations. 

• The capital works program was completed successfully
within program and budget encompassing projects such as
the award winning Armory Wharf Cafe in the Parklands,
Hockey Pitches and Plaza Pylons refurbishment, and Olympic
Cities Commemoration along Olympic Boulevard.

• Visitation levels to Sydney Olympic Park increased to more
than 9.0 million in the year including 2.1 million visitors to
the Parklands.
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• In excess of 26,000 school students participated in the
Authority’s Schools’ Education Program during the year. The
excursion based program is Board of Studies syllabus based
and centred around the Parklands.

• Fourteen per cent increase in the number of Business Events
held within the Park to 2,266 events.

• Consolidation and strengthening of  business and working
relationships with Park stakeholders including venue
operators, the Sydney Olympic Park Business Association,
local, state and federal governments, sporting bodies,
environmental organisations, and education providers.

• Managing the government’s lease interest in ANZ Stadium
and Acer Arena.

Protected disclosures
The Protected Disclosures Act 1994 (NSW) offers protection to
public officials who make disclosures that concern corrupt
conduct, maladministration and serious or substantial waste of
public money.

Within Sydney Olympic Park Authority disclosures can be made
to the Chief Executive Officer, General Manager Commercial &
Corporate or the officer’s supervisor.

No disclosures were reported during the reporting period.

Privacy management
In accordance with the Privacy and Personal Information
Protection Act 1998 (PIPPA Act), the Authority has developed a
Privacy Management Plan. The Plan was lodged with the Privacy
Commissioner in May 2002.

The Plan sets out the core business and functions of the
Authority and refers to information protection principles and
procedures for internal review.  The Plan includes a table
documenting the Authority’s processes for the handling of
personal information.

No applications for review were received in the financial year
2008-09.

Publications
Sydney Olympic Park Authority produced and distributed a range
of publications including statutory reports, newsletters and
corporate brochures and flyers. Key publications are available on
the Sydney Olympic Park Authority website
www.sydneyolympicpark.com.au

Recruitment and training
The Authority
The Authority experienced lower turnover during the year compared
to previous years with 12 positions advertised in the year.

Two internships were provided to overseas students from
Germany and Austria as part of their international study course
requirements. In addition a number of work experience
placements were made to assist students with their course and
vocational needs.

The Authority provided assistance and input to the Department
of Premier & Cabinet in the development of a new sector wide
e-Recruitment system.

IT Security Training was provided to all staff within the Authority.
IT applications’ training in Microsoft Word and Excel was also
made available to staff. Recruitment selection panel training was
provided for staff who are likely to be called upon to sit on
recruitment selection panels.

A transition to retirement workshop focusing on all aspects of
retirement planning was organised for interested staff.

Staff attended a variety of other training courses, seminars and
conferences during the year, reflecting the occupational and
functional diversity within the organisation. 

Authority staff also participated in the NSW Government’s
Executive Development Program, and other assistance was
provided to staff undertaking tertiary study.

An employee was selected to participate in the Earthwatch
Fellowship Program which provided an opportunity to
undertake a field research project involving whale sharks off
Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia. Earthwatch is a global
environmental, not for profit, organisation that supports
sustainable conservation research.

Aquatic, Athletics and Archery Centres 
SOPAC recruited 93 casuals, 17 fulltime, one maternity leave and
one part-time staff during the year (total 112). The staff turnover
is high due to the nature of the industry and workforce. 
All permanent staff attended the Authority’s Code of Conduct
training. Staff also attended a variety of training courses,
seminars and conferences during the year, with particular
emphasis given to OH&S issues and courses that enhance
public safety in the centres.

SOPAC participated in an exchange program with Greenwich
Leisure Ltd (GLL) of London, England. Two of the GLL staff were
sent to SOPAC to learn more about our operations and structure.
At the time of printing, SOPAC had two staff members on a
reciprocal visit to London for a period of six weeks.

Risk management and insurance activities
Policy and procedures
The Authority has appropriate risk management policies and
procedures in place.

Incidents and claims 
Hazards, public complaints, maintenance requests and safety
incidents are recorded in the Authority’s ‘Place Manager’
incident logging system for investigation and remedial action (if
necessary) by the Authority. 
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During 2008-09, the Authority received 27 liability incident
claims and incident reports with claim potential (17 in 2007-8)
and 17 incidents (all minor) of damage to Authority property
were reported (15 in 2007-8). The majority of these incidents
were minor, with some incidents of note below.

Two claims were received for mesothelioma contracted during
the claimants’ employment at the old Homebush Abattoir
Corporation for which the Authority is responsible. One claim
was finalised due to lack of proof of employment and the other
was resolved in favour of the Authority and against the
manufacturer / supplier of asbestos materials but subject to the
Authority contributing towards the plaintiff’s costs.

The Authority recovered $610,000 from the Treasury Managed
Fund towards reinstating the Armory Wharf Cafe which was
destroyed by fire in January 2008. The balance of the
reconstruction costs (some $700,000) was funded by the Authority.

Risk management issues
Despite the significant numbers of visitors to the Park, the
Authority continues to experience relatively few incidents that
require action.  

During a review of service delivery processes, the Authority
initially identified 20 risks with the potential to affect service

delivery. These risks have been rated and controls identified and
are under periodical review. 

As cycle traffic continues to increase, the Authority continuously
reviews and monitors cycling incidents and implements control
measures as required.

Steps at the Homebush Bay Wharf were stencilled to indicate
that they can become slippery with algae.

A review of risks associated with the operation of the
Millennium Parklands Railway is currently underway.

The Risk Manager continues to advise operating divisions on risk
issues and to assist in the conduct of Risk Assessments and Risk
Management. 

Treasury Managed Fund charges
The 2009-10 deposit premiums charged by the Treasury
Managed Fund totalled $1,353,350 (a 14 per cent increase over
the previous year). This was largely due to an increase in the
three year ‘rolling’ claims experience. 

Treasury funded this cost to $1,256,004 and the balance of
$97,346 was funded out of the Authority’s recurrent budget.

SES staffing profile

SES Level Males as at 30/06/09 Females as at 30/06/09 Vacant as at 30/06/09
Level 7 1 - -
Level 4 2 - -
Total 3 - -

Staff numbers by employment basis

Employment Basis Total Staff Label Respondents Men Women Aboriginal People People People People 
People & from Racial, Whose with a with a

Torres Ethnic, Language Disability Disability
Strait Ethno- First Spoken Requiring

Islanders Religious as a Child Work-related
Minority was not Adjustment
Groups English

Permanent Full-time 87 Permanent Full-time 64 48 39 0 13 12 0 0
Permanent Part-time 11 Permanent Part-time 5 2 9 0 0 0 0 0
Temporary Full-time 15 Temporary Full-time 13 8 7 0 0 2 1 0
Temporary Part-time 1 Temporary Part-time 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0
Contract - SES 3 Contract - SES 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0
Contract - Non SES Contract - Non SES 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Training Positions Training Positions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Retained Staff Retained Staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Casual 25 Casual 4 7 18 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 142 88 68 74 13 14 1

SUBTOTALS
Permanent 98 69 50 48 13 12
Temporary 16 14 8 8 2 1
Contract 3 1 3
Full-Time 102 77 56 46 13 14 1
Part-Time 12 6 2 10
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Trends in the representation of equal employment opportunity (EEO) groups

% of total staff
EEO Group Benchmark or Target 2006 2007 2008 2009
Women 50 46  47  47  48
Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders 2 0.8 0.9  1.1  0
People whose first language was not English 20 12  14  16  17
People with a disability 12 4  2  1  1
People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment 7 1.6  0  0  0

Trends in the distribution of EEO groups

Distribution index
EEO Group Benchmark or Target 2006 2007 2008 2009
Women 100 84  78 83  83
Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders 100 Nc Nc Nc Nc
People whose first language was not English 100 Nc Nc Nc Nc
People with a disability 100 Nc Nc Nc Nc
People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment 100 Nc Nc Nc Nc

Notes:
1. Staff numbers are as at 30 June.

2. Excludes casual staff

3. A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the centre of the
distribution of the EEO group across salary levels is
equivalent to that of other staff. Values less than 100 mean
that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at lower
salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more
pronounced this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In
some cases the index may be more than 100, indicating that
the EEO group is less concentrated at lower salary levels. The
Distribution Index is automatically calculated by the
software provided by ODEOPE.

4. Nc = not calculated. The Distribution Index is not calculated
where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

Waste reduction and purchasing policy
Sydney Olympic Park Authority’s Waste Reduction and
Purchasing Plan (WRAPP) sets out how the Authority will reduce
waste in four key areas – paper products, office equipment and
components, vegetation material, and construction and
demolition material - as identified in the NSW Government
Sustainability Policy. For further information, see the State of
Environment Report.
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